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Chairman’s Statement
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”), | am pleased to present
the annual report of Zhengye International Holdings Company Limited (the
“Company” or “Zhengye International”, together with its subsidiaries,
“our Group” or the "Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2023 (the
"Period” or the "Period under Review").

Review

In 2023, the international situation was complex and volatile, with increased
uncertainties, the impacts of the epidemic and geopolitical conflicts
on supply chain restructuring persisted. Currently, global industrial and
supply chains are gradually recovering, while a new round of technological
revolution and industrial transformation is further developing, presenting
a new landscape for China’s economic development. In the first half of
2023, due to insufficient demand and oversupply in some industries,
China’s national income growth slowed, asset prices fell, and residents’
expectations weakened, leading to a lack of consumer willingness. The
government timely implemented proactive fiscal policies and prudent
monetary policies, strengthened policy innovation and coordination. From
the third quarter onwards, the national economy generally improved,
with stable employment and prices, social stability maintained, and
the dominant role of domestic circulation notably enhanced, achieving
moderate growth overall.

In 2023, the Group experienced the most difficult and challenging year
since listing. Particularly in the first half of the year, slow recovery of
domestic demand and exports, coupled with insufficient demand and
severe supply-demand imbalance, greatly impacted the paper and paper
packaging industries. Additionally, the excessive cost of natural gas as an
energy source, the Group's paper production segment recorded operating
loss. In the second half of the year, the Group implemented various cost
reduction measures, controlling cash flow, and maintained a stable capital
structure. As the domestic economy gradually recovered, the Group's
overall revenue increased and the increase in steam supply of biomass
boiler helped to reduce energy costs, resulting in significant improvement
in economic performance compared to the first half of the year. Despite
recorded operating loss for the year, we were able to maintain operating
cash flow. We believe the toughest period has passed, and the Company
will continue to move forward steadily.

BEBHBIR -

ANEHRZEZS((EET))  RERIEXERE
BARDR([RATF K EXBER]) - ERENBERRLS
Bl&EEDBEEZ-E-_=F+-"A=+—HI+=EA
(IR ekl B D FEEE -

(=] &

—Eo=F BERRBEMESE  THRERREZ KB
FE  WEBAERSIENHERBATENAETE - B
Al 2IRERE - HERESIRERE  F—WEES
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“ECCF T EFBEAR  ANTTEERERTE
T FEERBRAEERE  BEERTHK  EREHE
55 BBEERTR - BUTER BREENE BB MG
MEBEER - RBR TREMNBRLS - BF=FE
FiA KEGRBOTAL - MEMBEATR  HE
ABRFBRE  BAXERISIERRRIER  BRLR
ERATMER -

TR =F AEEKE LT ARSREE R KA —
F o BRIRLEFF - ABMEARERE - EFLTRE -
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For the 12 months ended 31 December 2023, the Group recorded
a total turnover of approximately RMB2,390,517,000, representing
a decrease of 20.69% year-on-year (12 months ended 31 December
2022:RMB3,013,957,000). The Group's gross profit was RMB269,996,000
and gross profit margin was approximately 11.29%. Loss for the period
attributable to owners of the Company amounted to RMB17,553,000, the
Group recorded its first annual operating loss.

Facing the market challenges of weak demand and severe supply-demand
imbalance in the first half of 2023, the Company intensified its product
research and development and technological innovation efforts, the paper
production segment achieved a basic balance between production and
sales during the year. Additionally, the Company increased its focus on
developing packaging businesses for home appliances and fast-moving
consumer goods. Despite the temporary reduction in export orders from
downstream customers, the packaging business was able to maintain
order volumes from major customers. Through strengthened supply chain
management, the gross profit margin of the packaging business increased
by 1.07% compared to the corresponding period last year, reaching 22.57%.
The cash dividend per share for the Group for the year is HKD0.01. Since its
listing in 2011, the Group has maintained a consistent cash dividend policy
based on business performance and shareholder returns. The Company'’s
operations are currently facing challenges due to the factors such as the
pandemic and changes in the macroeconomic environment. However, the
Company'’s annual operating cash flow is ample, and implementing cash
dividends does not affect normal operations and long-term development
of the Company.

Prospects

In 2024, as China’s economy transitions from high-speed growth to high-
quality development, macroeconomic policies will be adjusted towards
the direction of “Promoting stability with progressing; Construction
before destruction” ([ LA#EfEFZe 5L 78 |). This adjustment aims to boost
residents’ confidence in consumption and investment, while accelerating
the cultivation of new quality-based productivity and enhancing overall
factor productivity, providing new momentum for longer-term economic
growth in the future. China’s economy is expected to continue improving
demonstrating its resilience and vitality in economic development.

In 2024, competition in the paper production and packaging market
will continue to intensify, but we believe that crises and opportunities
coexist. We will continue to invest in research and development as well
as industry upgrades, and focus on customer-oriented approaches to
provide personalized and high-quality products for our customers. The
Group's packaging segment will continue to intensify efforts in developing
packaging businesses for fast-moving consumer goods and household
appliances, continuously explore new business directions, and promote
greater development in the Group's packaging business. This will establish
Zhengye International as a competitive leader in integrated paper
production and packaging in the Greater Bay Area.

He—Z2-=F+-_A=+—HUI+=_{@A ' KEBERE
LR AREE2 390,517,0007C © [FEL TE#20.69%( =&
ZZFFZA=+—HIETZEA : AR¥3,013,957,000
T0) o AEBMEF A ARKE269,996,0007T @ EFRL
11.29% - RNAR)EA AELHIAEE A AR 17,553,000
TC o AREEE RS FEEE -

M T - =F FEFERFH - BRBEEXEOT SIS
S ARG T EMME - RITHE  FERERESR
EARABEHREHTE  RARNAERELEES - REMR
BEEHNRE  ETHEPLOGERRERDFE
T BEEHDERFBEAREFHGIES - BiBINEMH
[EHER  BEEBENEREFRELRI07% @ #EE
2257% - SEARFRIRSREFRIS - B2011F LT
R EERBEEEEBNARBRLORFE - (RIFEE
—EMRSRBER @ SREBERABLEERESVVELR
=P RAEAESEIkE - BERRFELERSR
TR B SRETHENRESLCEMRIPERE -

]

TECNF  BERBRECENSRERASESRES
A RESEBRGEE DUEREE « £ EW N FRE
THE  BRUNHEBNRENED  REINREEHE
EEN  REBEBEELER  ARRERPNEEERIR
HEE ] - PEKEFLE[FEMT | ZESEERENF
EFNE ST ©

—ECME - ERNBETISRFBEE NS - ERFIE
EREMEEYT  RMASEERENHEUARERT
Fo WARFRER  REPRHEECMSEENE
m o EEBEDEBEBMANERERERBER -
REBREH - TEHARMOEBETH - HEBEREBES

BREEARRE  BILEERERANEREREE B
BEEBFNBEEFDE -

Zhengye International Holdings Company Limited
EXEBFIERABR AR

Annual Report 2023
I



\¥ 5

Chairman’s Statement

R e

Lastly, on behalf of the Board of Directors of the Group, | would like to
express sincere gratitude to all employees who have contributed their
efforts and dedication to the Group. At the same time, we extend our
heartfelt thanks to the Group's customers, suppliers, business partners, and
shareholders for their continuous support.

Hu Zheng
Chairman

Hong Kong, China
27 March 2024

B AABREAERERS  BAlANEENEHER
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Business Review

In 2023, under the backdrop of the prolonged impact of the COVID-19
pandemic, escalating geopolitical conflicts, and complex changes in the
international situation, China’s macroeconomic situation entered a period
of recovery after the pandemic. In the first half of the year, the Company
faced triple pressures of shrinking demand, supply shocks, and weakening
expectations. To address the new circumstances and challenges, China
made significant adjustments to its macroeconomic policies. With the
effective drive of proactive fiscal policies and prudent monetary policies,
economic sentiment rebounded after the third quarter, achieving moderate
growth for the year as a whole.

The paper and paper packaging products industry has always been
regarded as a barometer of consumption. In the first half of the year, due
to the weakening of China’s domestic consumption demand and severe
imbalances in supply and demand, the Group’s business suffered significant
impacts, particularly in the paper manufacturing business. In the first half
of the year, the unit price of products continued to decline, coupled with
the excessive energy costs incurred by the predominant use of natural gas,
leading to an annual loss in the Group's paper manufacturing business. In
the second half of the year, with the recovery of domestic consumption,
the paper industry was further revitalized. From the fourth quarter onwards,
paper prices stabilized and rebounded, sales of paper production
increased, and the overall business of the Group expanded. Furthermore,
the Company increased the steam supply of biomass boilers to reduce
energy costs, significantly improving the Group’s profitability.

The Group's paper production products mainly include corrugated medium
paper and craft paper.

The Group produces 42 g/cm?-140 g/cm? high-strength corrugated
medium paper and 70g/cm?-140g/cm? craft paper. While some of these
are used as raw materials for our paper-based packaging products,
they are mostly sold to cardboard manufacturers and carton packaging
manufacturers in the Pearl River Delta region of Guangdong. Customers of
the Group's paper-making business segment spread across Guangdong,
Jiangxi, Fujian, Chaoshan, and other regions; the total number of which is
currently nearly 400.

In the Year 2023, the Group's paper production business achieved
operating revenue of RMB1,728,660,000 a significant decrease of 24.22%
compared to RMB2,281,249,000 for the corresponding period last year.
During the period, the gross profit margin of the paper production
business decreased to 6.98% from 8.08% for the corresponding period
last year. The gross profit amount significantly decreased as compared to
the last year for RMB63,642,000. The Group's paper production business
recorded an annual loss for the first time.

£ 6

—EC=F ENEREREAYENT  EEUAE RN
Bl BRREEMBCORRET - RERELIENZ
BREIRIEE - E¥F - EmERFH RS - Hede - 8
B8R REHKENTLEHE  RERBKEE
BERIEHERGRE - RGN BRI R AR R T BER
MBERHEE T @ —FEREESRELN - BRTE2FL
BHYAFIER -

MEBHRBRITEBENRWRAZHENBREK - £
FEZETREAEEFIE - HRBAREREREGNT
2 HWEEXKENRAHE  LEERERER - £¥
FERBERETHK  MLEARARERERERK
ARD  EEEREBHRCSFERBE - THF  BEEER
HEER  E-THBERTENEDE  FOFEE - &
EBEACLBEMEN  ERHESE LT SEEBEREE
o mEEI T A E REIUESRERA AL - £H
BRMRREGRIRIESZE -

REBERE M 2R GAMERA -

N EE £ E 42 g/em?-140 g/em? 5 58 & B A5 8 4
70 g/cm®-140 g/cm?4-RAL - BREBD R E A EREE
HEREAFRMEIN - £ EMBERE= AR AR A ERK
R URAHPEBREE  SEERTFPOHRER -
I8 R LSRR - REREARIRREHE P&
HET400% ©

ZE=FE  AEBEAEBEREANTREZRAA
R #1,728,660,0007T + &% F 7] 8§ A R % 2,281,249,000
TORNE T F§24.22% o BAREREBSERN T A B EF R H
8.08% % = A HRRI6.98% - EFIFEER A F AR AR
63,642,0007C © AEEEREBERFSFREIE -
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In the first half of 2023, facing a severe imbalance in supply and demand
of the overall market, the Group's paper manufacturing sector persisted
in product research and development, continuously optimized production
costs and expenses, and enhanced product market competitiveness,
enabling the Group's paper products to achieve a balance between
production and sales. In the second half of 2023, as the consumer market
experienced a turnaround, the Group's paper manufacturing sector
business witnessed stable and substantial growth. With the increased
of biomass boilers steam supply, energy costs were effectively reduced,
leading to a significant improvement in the profitability of the Group's
paper manufacturing.

The Group's paper packaging products include craft cartons, color printing
cartons, honeycomb paper-based products and exquisite color box
packaging.

The Group's paper packaging products mainly serve large home appliance
companies, major fast-moving consumer goods companies in the food
sector, high-tech electronics products, daily chemical products and
cosmetics, as well as the wine industry and other high-end manufacturing
enterprises. The Group continues to ensure high-quality product supply
and excellent after-sales service, aiming to enhance customer trust, gain
the favor of multiple brand customers, and maintain long-term stable
cooperation.

During the Period under Review, the Group’s paper packaging business
recorded a revenue of RMB661,857,000, a decrease of 9.67% as compared
to RMB732,708,000 for the corresponding period last year. Among them,
revenue from craft cartons, color printing cartons, honeycomb paper-based
products and exquisite color box packaging reached RMB461,448,000,
RMB105,303,000, RMB44,419,000, and RMB30,687,000 respectively (In
2022: RMB572,383,000, RMB91,559,000, RMB66,257,000, and RMB2,509,000
respectively). Due to the significant 21.5% decrease in the price of raw
paper during the Period under Review, the gross profit margin of the paper
packaging business for the period was 22.57%, representing an increase of
1.07% as compared to the corresponding period last year.

REBSEMRRERE S =F P FEEMBEME
KBREREREBERT  RABRFEMRAE - FERLE
BEERAER  BAERDEHT N EREERER
BEMERENFE —T_=FTIFHEEZEEMSM
% SEEERAEBISESE  EENEMERERT
BEERAE ZBUERRE - REERRRBNIKEE
BEAE -

REBENBHERERBRET RS - REAHE  BBHR
Hm - BEFREE -

AEERRBEERTIZRENVALRERLE - ALRM
REREE  SRREFER - Btk  EEEHE
ERAE  ARERERARRSREERHEREENE
®IRTE - REEFERREE  BSZRmEFPEWIAR
FREMRBEAEF -

REESAA  AEERANEEBRESEERAARE
661,857,000t + & % & [F] H§ A R # 732,708,000 ¢ T~ P&
9.67% + HA R - MMM  BEAYBREE
TapREEERSEWRAAREL61,448,0007C « AR
105,303,0007C * A R#64,419,0007T & A R #30,687,000
T(ZZEZ—F 55l A AR¥S572,383,0000T + AR
91,559,000 7T + A R # 66,257,000 7T & A & # 2,509,000
TL) o SR B EEIRNRARE R KR TE21.5% - B4
BB ERE2257%  BREAFRE LF1.07% °
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2023 2022
—EC=FE T oF
Percentage Gross Percentage Gross
of total profit of total profit
Turnover revenue margin Turnover revenue margin
1R 1HHER
EER Bk ERE EEH B ESES
RMB’000 % % RMB’000 % %
ARBT R % % ARBTT % %
Packaging paper (2E 3
AA grade AAZR 1,383,350 57.87 1,787,161 59.30
C grade C#& 32 0.00 126 0.00
Craft paper FRAK 345,278 14.44 493,962 16.39
Subtotal NEF 1,728,660 72.31 6.98% 2,281,249 75.69 8.08
Paper-based packaging HEBEER
products
Craft cartons FRAEE 461,448 19.30 572,383 18.99
Honeycomb paper-based BEAH D
products 64,419 2.70 66,257 2.20
Color printing box F VARG 105,303 4.41 91,559 3.04
Color box packaging FEAK 30,687 1.28 2,509 0.08
Subtotal NEE 661,857 27.69 22.57% 732,708 24.31 21.50
TOTAL et 2,390,517 100.00 11.29% 3,013,957 100.00 11.34

Zhengye International Holdings Company Limited

EXRBFERARAT
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2023 2022

—Eo=fF B4
Percentage Percentage
of total of total
Turnover revenue Turnover revenue
1H48% G458
BEH AZL ] Anth
RMB’000 % RMB'000 %
ARBFT % ARETT %
Home appliance packaging REBE 501,784 75.82 537,242 73.32
FMCG Packaging POHmB 127,173 19.21 131,273 17.92
Other Efth 32,900 4.97 64,193 8.76
TOTAL #Et 661,857 100.00 732,708 100.00

The Group provides one-stop service solution to its customers covering KEREPRERHE—IARBAIRAEALY - RRAR

from recycling of waste paper, manufacturing of packaging paper, &  fEEBRKEMNEE H UEBEK

—BIRT - O

production of paper-based packaging products to packaging services, 1EREBEERBAEXEHENNE

making full use of our vertically integrated industrial chain.

Annual Report 2023 Zhengye International Holdings Company Limited
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The main production base of packaging paper is located in Zhongshan city
and Jiangxi province. For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
had 8 packaging paper production lines with a total designed annual
capacity of 900,000 tons, making the Group one of the leading packaging
paper producers in Guangdong region. The Group always attached
emphasis on improvement of production efficiency and optimization of
plant management. During the Year, the Group adopted the performance
indicator approach to manage the packaging paper production lines,
continuously improving production volume and capacity utilisation rate.

BEANIZEEEMUNTILUTRIAE  BE_Z
“=FTZA=TRUEFE  AEERREE\GREEAL
EEAR - #RERETEFEERZIE900,000MF - R R MR B LEMNE
RELERZ— - EE-BERRALERXLBLHBE
EBNTIE  WER - SEEBRR TRERUERERER
BEAEER RS TEEBUANERERXE -

2023 2022
—EBCZ=HF —F-—F
Planned Actual Effective Planned Actual Effective
operation operation rate  operation  operation rate
SEIEST  BRET BRE  FHEETT BERED BRx
(hours) (hours) (%) (hours) (hours) (%)
(/NBF) (/NBF) (%) (/B (/1NEF) (%)
Zhongshan Yong Fa AL ok EE
No. 1 paper machine 1 SRS AR 8,760 7,999 91.31 8,760 7,978 91.07
No. 2 paper machine 2 SRS 8,760 7,343 83.83 8,760 7,718 88.11
No. 3 paper machine 3 SRS 8,760 7,591 86.65 8,760 7,677 87.64
No. 5 paper machine 5 SR iE AR 8,760 8,051 91.91 8,760 7,454 85.09
Hung Hing & B
No. 1 paper machine 1 SRS AR 8,282 7,443 89.87 8,081 7,687 95.12
No. 2 paper machine 2 SRiE AR 6,837 5,992 87.64 8,430 7,838 92.98
No. 3 paper machine 3 SRiE AR 8,210 7,265 88.48 7,840 7,407 94.48
Zhengyi FE
No. 1 paper machine 1 SR IEARHE 8,376 7,700 91.93 8,565 7,557 88.23

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group had a total of 5
production lines (including 3 corrugated cartons production lines
and 2 honeycomb paper-based products production lines) which are
mainly located in three cities including Zhongshan, Zhuhai and Wuhan.
The Group's planned annual capacity for corrugated cartons reached
191,617,000 square meters; whereas that yearly planned capacity for
honeycomb paper-based products was 11,008,000 square meters. The
Group's comprehensive production deployment enables it to generate
synergies in terms of production costs, industrial chain integration, and
customer service, which in turn enhanced the overall operational efficiency.

BE-_Z-_=F+_A=+—HLLFE KTEHEEHES
BAEEL(BIEMGEEBREEAERNM2KEE RIS E
ER) SEEZMFBHHNP L RERREE =

W o ANEBE RS EMAB T EIERLE 191,617,000 77
Ko EEREMFFTEIERE1,008,000F 5K o £EEE
EMEEMR  FEETELEERE  EXHES  UEE
PR L& AE S HRIBUE - RIS IE N L RIBE
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2023 202
- S} “E-CF
Yearly Capacity Yearly Capacity
Numbers of Design Planned Actual  utilization Design Planned Actual utlization
equipment Capacity Capacity Capacity rate Capacity Capacity Capacity rate
B RER  FIEEH BREN  EREREZ HitEy  FEE EREw  EiRRE
‘000sqm.  ‘000sqm. ‘000 sq.m. (%) 000 sq.m. 000 sq.m. 000 sq.m. (%)
TR TR SRV (%) TRk TRk TIAK (%)
1. Paper plate process - #RIF
Zhongshan il
No. 1 corrugated cartons production fine 13RS ELR 1 38,880 14,601 1,490 10.20 3,880 14,601 7971 5463
New No. 2 corrugated cartons production H25ELIFERBLER
line 1 184,140 78,174 71,850 91.91 184,140 78,174 61,353 7848
Zhuhai it
No. 11 corrugated cartons production line 115 LA £ E 1 150,660 98,842 72871 73.73 150660 98,842 80,69 8185
2. Printing process Z ORIR
Watermark printers TKENED
Zhongshan Il 11 NATER 60,878 54,807 9003  NATER 60,878 49829 81.85
Zhuhai it 10 NATER 101,964 68,677 6735  NATER 101,964 n539 70.16
Colormark printers FEDENRI
Zhongshan Gl 4 NARER 29,7123 16,715 5624 NATER 2123 14,093 428
Color box printers FalilE
Zhongshan Gl 2 NIANER 32,091 4514 1407 NANER 2 672 209
3. Production of honeycomb packaging = - 4 EBEEEER
products
Zhongshan il
No. 7 honeycomb paper-based product 7 EB#ALER
production line 1 4312 4312 2,255 52.30 4312 4312 1,730 4012
Wuhan HE
No. 14 honeycomb paper-based product 145 AEARFAER
production line 1 6,696 6,696 3,808 56.87 6,69 6,6% 339 50.72
TOTAL cartons packaging products 7t #EEEER
cormugated cartons production ESREER
lines 3 373,680 191,617 146,211 76.30 373,680 191,617 150,229 7840
water mark printers TKENENIB 2 NIATEER 162,842 123,484 7583 NARER 162,842 121,368 74.53
color mark printers FEDEfI 4 NATER 29,723 16,715 56,24 NATER 0123 14,053 47.28
color box printers il 2 NIATEE 32,091 4514 1407 NATER RW1 672 209
honeycomb paper-based product BEHET
honeycomb paper-based product BEST
production lines TER 2 11,008 11,008 6,063 55.08 11,008 11,008 5126 4657

No. 1 production line is under optimization.
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Prospects

Looking ahead to 2024, with the steady recovery of the Chinese economy
and continuous policy support, the effects of growth-stabilizing policies will
continue to manifest. Domestic demand is expected to sustain recovery,
and the Chinese economy will gradually return to its potential growth rate,
further consolidating its foundation of stable and positive development.

In 2024, in the paper manufacturing sector, the Group will continue to
invest in the research and development of low-grammage high-strength
corrugated paper products, strengthen technological innovation, and
improve supply chain management. Through technological transformation,
we will further enhance the operational efficiency of paper machines,
strengthen product competitiveness, and continue to increase the market
share of our company’s low-grammage high-strength corrugated paper
products in the Greater Bay Area. The Company is committed to becoming
an influential producer of high-strength low-grammage corrugated paper
in South China. In the packaging sector, the Company will continue to
expand its customer base in industries such as home appliances and
fast-moving consumer goods, and steadily promote the expansion of
new packaging capacity in the Greater Bay Area. We will also increase
investment in digitized and intelligent production facilities, accelerate
industrial upgrading, and aim for steady growth in the sales of our paper
packaging products while the industry rebounds. Our goal is to continue
moving towards becoming a leading paper packaging enterprise in the
Greater Bay Area.

Financial Review

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the revenue of the Group was
approximately RMB2,390,517,000 (2022: RMB3,013,957,000), representing
a decrease of approximately 20.69% as compared to the corresponding
period last year. Mainly due to the sales revenue from paper production
segment significantly decreased by 24.22%, sales volume in the paper
production product decreased by approximately 14.7% as compared to last
year, sales unit price decreased by approximately 11.17%.

The Group's gross profit margin in 2023 was 11.29% (2022 the
corresponding period: approximately 11.34%), basically staying level as
compared to the corresponding period last year. Due to the impact of
the Group's paper production business’s gross profit amount significantly
decreased by RMB63,642,000 as compared to the last year, the Group
recorded operation loss for the first time.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the loss attributable to owners of
the Company during the Year is RMB17,553,000.

R

RE-T_NF  BEPELERINE  RERBRESE
X BERNBERARSEERR - BB REERE
18 - REREER BTG RKFERE - NEERERTR
TP ENEHE o

TN R ZIKEWH%Z@Z%&L)\%T{&E%%

?ﬁEE%/M&EmEE%& M Maz - cEHERE

BB ECEE — */F%mﬂiﬂ%iﬁxﬁ}i SR EE AR
?ﬁ“‘ EEEDEERETESRERS CRERENE

BEHNTISEAE  RARBIRAERWRAGZENING
BRERFERFCREEDRSE - BERE - NEBBES

AREE - RESSHTROBEATE - SRR
EOFMERRELGHR - WENAHBTI R LR
TREBA - IRELFR - ABETEEEHR - A
ABGORERHRRL AR | AN
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A BANRE239051700T(ZFE==F : AR
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RERBEHEREFTREYI14T%  HEEEBTRY
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The Group's cost of sales decreased from RMB2,672,227,000 in 2022 to
RMB2,120,521,000 in 2023, representing a decrease of 20.65%.

Packaging paper
The cost of sales of packaging paper in 2023 were RMB1,608,071,000 (2022:
RMB2,097,018,000), representing a decrease of 23.32%.

Paper-based packaging products

The cost of sales of paper-based packaging products in 2023 were
RMB512,450,000 (2022: RMB575,209,000), representing a decrease of
10.91%.

For the Year 2023, the gross profit recorded RMB269,996,000, representing
a decrease of 20.99% as compared with RMB341,730,000 in the same
period of Year 2022. The average gross profit margin decreased from
11.34% in Year 2022 to 11.29% for the Year, primarily due to the decreased
market demand for paper-based packaging product as a result of sluggish
consumption under the influence of the COVID-19 pandemic and other
factors, leading to the decrease in sales price of packaging paper under
the imbalance between supply and demand. Meanwhile, affected by the
Russo-Ukrainian war, energy costs rose significantly. The marginal efficiency
of the paper manufacturing sector of the Group dropped significantly
compared with previous years.

Packaging paper

For the Year 2023, the gross profit from packaging paper was
RMB120,589,000 (2022: RMB184,231,000), representing a decrease of
34.54%. The overall gross profit margin for 2023 was 6.98% (2022: 8.08%),
decreased by 1.1 percentage points.

Paper-based packaging products

For the Year 2023, the gross profit from paper-based packaging products
was RMB149,407,000 (2022: RMB157,499,000), representing a decrease of
5.14%. The overall gross profit margin for 2023 was 22.57% (2022: 21.50%),
increased by 1.07 percentage points.

Other income, other gains and losses mainly included income from
interest of RMB4,318,000 (2022: RMB3,731,000), government subsidies of
RMB76,214,000 (2022: RMB125,881,000) and net amount of exchange losses
of RMB904,000 (2022: net amount of exchange loss RMB3,526,000).

AEBREERAR T - —FE ARME?2,672,227,000
T INRBRE-_ZT-=FE AR¥2,120,521,0007C * &
20.65% ©

K
BEE-Z - =FEHERANBARE1,608,071,0007C
(ZB-—%F : ARH2,097,018,0007T) * i#i23.32% °

HEERER
MEBPRER_ZT_-ZFEHERLAABARE
512,450,000t (ZE = =4 : AR¥575,209,0007T) * T
F£10.91% °
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:%::i@%mmﬂ&émirmﬂ 29% > TBR
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EI.07TEDE -

HMRA - B EREBEERENBRAARE
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The distribution and selling expenses of the Group decreased by
approximately 6.26% from RMB92,103,000 for the Year 2022 to
RMBB86,334,000 for the Year 2023. During the Year, the distribution and
selling expenses mainly included salaries of salesmen, transportation costs
and business promotion expenses. The decrease in distribution and selling
expenses was attributable to the substantial decrease in the Group's sales
during the Year.

Administrative expenses of the Group increased by approximately 5.57%
from RMB131,637,000 for the Year 2022 to RMB138,972,000 for the Year
2023. The administrative expenses mainly included salaries of management,
staff welfare, rent and depreciation.

Finance costs of the Group decreased by approximately 12.02% from
RMB59,600,000 for the Year 2022 to RMB52,434,000 for the Year 2023. It
was mainly due to the decrease in the Group's bank loan amount and the
decrease in the Group's interest rate on bank loans during the Year.

Research and development expenses of the Group decreased from
RMB116,388,000 (approximately 3.86% of sales revenue) in the Year 2022 to
RMB®0,235,000 (approximately 3.77% of sales revenue) for the Year 2023.

During the Year, the total loss attributable to equity holders of the Group
was RMB16,842,000. The annual loss attributable to owners of the Company
was RMB17,553,000, a decrease of 137.21% from the profit attributable to
owners of the Company in 2022 to RMB47,167,000.

Dividend Policy

The declaration, form, frequency and amount of any dividend payout of the
Company must be in accordance with relevant laws, rules and regulations
and subject to the Bye-laws of the Company. Subject to compliance with
applicable laws, rules, regulations and the Bye-laws, in deciding whether
to propose any dividend payout, the Board will take into account, among
other things, the financial results, the revenue and distributable reserves,
the operations and liquidity requirements, the debt ratio and possible
impact of credit facilities, and the current and future development plans of
the Company.

FEEHDHERHEERA _Z__FENARK
92,103,000 "R 2= —F =~ = F [F 1 A R # 86,334,000
TT - BRIRAIIR6.26% c WAFEN - DIHRIHEERTIE
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EEATREERHRAEEFAHE ARG TR
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Dividends

The Board has recommended, subject to the approval of the Shareholders
at the Annual General Meeting (the "AGM"), the payment of a final
dividend of RMB1.00 cent (equivalent to HKD1.10 cents) per Share for the
year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: a final dividend of RMB1.42 cents
per Share) to those Shareholders whose names appear on the register of
members of the Company on Tuesday, 2 July 2024. The recommended
final dividend, if approved at the AGM on Friday, 21 June 2024, will be paid
in Hong Kong dollars. The RMB to Hong Kong dollar exchange rate for
the final dividend calculated using the opening indicative counter buying
telegraphic transfer rate for off-shore RMB of The Hong Kong Association
of Banks announced on 27 March 2024. The final dividend is expected to
be paid on or around Friday, 12 July 2024.

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Capital Structure
In 2023, the Group's main sources of funding were cash generated from
operating activities and bank loans.

8=\

EFEgREnR S oHFEAZHZEPD)RIER
Hx%%ﬂ%tﬁﬁﬂﬁ%)ﬁﬁéti_y__¢+ R=+— EHJ:
FENRPREERARE1.00 - HERERE1.10
(=== REIREESRARE1.427) - AR
RRZZB-NERAZ+—R(EPR) BT EERRE
FRE(RRBERE]) LHE - FAMEE - ERRE
FRE LEIE  BEZARPREBIAEE AT - REIPK
BHARK BEEBREREBRTAGN T _MNF=
AZ+tERAMmzATm2ERENEFARKEEBAE
S RERBESR -Z-WFLA+—R(EHH)HA
RIABRRIKE -

RBES - MRERRERGER
R-BE_=FEAKENESRREZAELERHEL
R E MIRITER

2023 2022

—EBEC-=F —EF—
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBTT
Net assets BEFHE 1,370,638 1,402,556
Bank balances and cash IRITEHBR RIS 253,915 279,840
Total borrowings B R4a%E 1,022,062 1,054,185
Equity attributable to the owners of the Company KR EEE AELER 1,089,036 1,113,689
Current ratios MBI = 1.04 1.08
Net gearing ratio* FEEAMLE 61.96% 63.78%

* The net gearing ratio is calculated as net borrowings divided by equity attributable

to the owners of the Company, in which the net borrowings are calculated as total

bank and other borrowings less pledge deposits and bank balances and cash.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the operational activity net
cash outflow amounted to RMB120,773,000 (2022 net cash inflow:
RMB148,762,000).

For the Year 2023, the net cash outflow used for investment activity
amounted to RMB150,039,000, mainly including capital expenditures paid
for the acquisition and construction of long-term assets of the enterprise.

For the Year 2023, the net cash inflow from finance activity amounted to
RMB244,887,000, mainly including the income from borrowing obtained
in the course of business activities of the enterprise and expenditures for
repayment of borrowings.

* FEEBMBULEDREFTFEGRUARR ARG ABERRGT
& HERFRIRRTT R EME RARRE B B RTER
RRITEBR RS -
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As at 31 December 2023, the net cash outflow of the Group amounted to
RMB25,925,000 (For the same period in 2022, the net cash inflow of the
Group: RMB50,259,000).

The IFRS Interpretation Committee (IFRIC) meeting in December 2020
has made an agenda decision on the impact of the application of financial
reporting standard in cash flows. It clarified how to present the liabilities
for the payment of goods or services received and the settlement-related
cash flow generated by the financing arrangement of the supplier under
the consolidated statement of financial position and the consolidated
statement of cash flows. The direct settlement of trade-related payables
by the relevant financier constitutes a non-cash transaction. Subsequent
settlement between the entity and the financier shall be regarded as
repayment of borrowings and reported under the financing activities item
in the consolidated statement of cash flows. The agenda decision also
includes content that in the context of supplier financing arrangements,
the accounting policies related to the presentation of the consolidated
statement of cash flows have been reassessed. When the bills discount
arrangement does not meet the conditions for de-recognition of
receivables, it will be presented in cash inflow from financing activities in
the consolidated statement of cash flows.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the net cash from operating
activities would have been increased by approximately RMB418,571,000
(2022: RMB324,627,000) and the net cash from financing activities would
have been decreased by RMB418,571,000 (2022: RMB324,627,000), if the
Group has not applied the accounting policies.

N-E-=F+-_A=+—8 AEERLFEREAR
#25,925,000 0 ( T - —FRIHAEER S FTER
AR#50,259,0007T) ©
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EHRB T MAESHFMBRRRME HRERERTT
B MREBINEDIRBN B EARPEERELHES
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The following table is prepared by the Management showing what the

consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 December E‘Z

2023 and 2022 would have been if the Group has not applied the ??

accounting policies.

Mﬁafﬁ?{l—ﬁ BREARBEYEEAZSFEHR

=ER-EBCCHE+_A=1+—HIFE

i//w%?ﬁm |EJ//EF'J

2023 2022
—E-=E —E-F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBT T
OPERATING ACTIVITIES R E S
(Loss) profit before tax B SR (BB )= A (17,678) 76,867
Adjustments for: AT SIEEH AR
Finance costs LA AR 52,434 59,600
Interest income FEUTA (4,318) (3,731
Impairment losses reversed on trade and other B 5 N E MW R E R R F 5
receivables, net (419) (2,146)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment M - BERREBINE 108,243 109,278
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEITE 10,958 15,370
Amortisation of intangible assets ER G 3,106 2,313
Loss on disposals of property, plant and HEME - WERRIEEEBFHE
equipment, net 1,381 817
Exchange gain on borrowings fﬁ K HE B H e - (1,928)
Government grants amortised from SARFE A B8 B P IS 460 B
deferred income (3,400) (12,110)
Operating cash flows before movements in working &EEAREBFILLRSRE
capital 150,307 244,330
Decrease (increase) in inventories FERAGEM) 20,433 (12,441)
Increase in trade and other receivables B 5 K E AR GRIEE N (270,285) (55,772)
Increase in borrowings relating to discounted bills BRAD AR EWERE 2 BRI
receivables 310,254 291,020
(Increase) decrease in contract assets BHREEGEM) D (1,447) 6,173
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 L EL AR RRIE S AN 77,264 18,808
Increase (decrease) in contract liabilities EBHEEEMCRD) 2,975 (867)
Increase (decrease) in amounts due to directors N ESEZIEEMORD) 2,782 (197)
Cash generated from operations CEEESIRE 292,284 491,054
Income tax refunded (paid) RO (BA)FTSH 5,515 (17,665)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES REERMBESTE 297,798 473,389
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2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R ARETTT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REXEHK
Interest received BUFE 4,318 3,731
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and HEWE - RFE RBESHIE
equipment 404 18,758
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BEME - WE &R (102,073) (152,328)
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, plant and  BEEWE¥ - BEREEHEE
equipment (26,655) (31,037)
Purchases of intangible assets BEETEE (1,241) (1,604)
Net cash outflow on acquisition of a subsidiary B A RIR &L 558 - (94,448)
Consideration paid for acquisition of a subsidiary U BE R B A RIFT (B (5,930) (5,940)
Placement of pledged bank deposits TFABEIBRITER (228,913) (149,609)
Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits B B AR R TR 199,589 177,961
Receipt of government grant relating to non-current  UKEUE BAZE 7 B) & B 2 BRI i AL
assets 10,462 794
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES REXBFAREEH (150,039) (233,722)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BMEXHK
Interest paid BT (52,313) (59,350)
Dividend paid BEATIRE (7,100) (45,000)
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests BT IR AR R AR 2 (12,383) (3,000)
Repayment of bank and other borrowings BBIRIT R EAMER (708,868) (813,018)
Repayments of lease liabilities BEEEaE (5,891) (10,543)
New bank and other borrowings raised FriERIT M A AE R 608,464 741,503
Capital contribution from non-controlling interests ~ FEIERR AR Rigam 1 & 4,407 -
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEEBRFMARSFHE (173,684) (189,408)
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND HEeERBSEEYORD)EMFEE
CASH EQUIVALENTS (25,925) 50,259
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ReERREZEY
AT 1 JANUARY R—A—H 279,840 229,581
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RERREEEY
AT 31 DECEMBER R+=—A=+—~H
represented by bank balances and cash BRITHERRRS 253,915 279,840
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As at 31 December 2023, the inventories of the Group decreased by
10.09% to RMB205,308,000 as compared to the inventories balance of
RMB228,353,000 as at 31 December 2022. During the Year, the inventory
turnover day was approximately 37 days (2022: 30 days), remaining at a
normal level.

As at 31 December 2023, the trade receivables not backed by bills
amounted to RMB304,545,000 (as at 31 December 2022: RMB423,150,000).
The trade receivables turnover days was approximately 55 days (2022:
61 days). It is in line with the credit period granted by the Group to its
customers.

As at 31 December 2023, the trade receivables backed by bills amounted
to RMB476,490,000 (31 December 2022: RMB324,100,000).

As at 31 December 2023, the trade payables amounted to RMB234,277,000
(as at 31 December 2022: RMB173,872,000). The trade payables turnover
days was approximately 35 days (2022: 19 days).

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's bank and other borrowings
balance amounted to RMB1,022,062,000 (as at 31 December 2022:
RMB1,054,185,000).

As at 31 December 2023, the gross gearing ratio was approximately 34.15%
(as at 31 December 2022: 35.33%), which was calculated on the basis of the
total amount of bank and other borrowings as a percentage of the total
assets. The net gearing ratio was 61.96%, which was calculated on the basis
of the amount of bank and other borrowings less pledged bank deposits
and cash and bank balances as a percentage of the shareholders’ equity (as
at 31 December 2022: 63.78%).

As at 31 December 2023, the Group pledged certain assets with carrying
value of RMB895,429,000 as collateral for the Group's borrowings (as at 31
December 2022: RMB1,155,148,000).

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's capital commitments (including the
engaged and authorized capital commitments) were RMB12,611,000 (as
at 31 December 2022: RMB36,367,000). All the capital commitments were
related to acquisition of property, plant and equipment.
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As at 31 December 2023, the Group had no significant contingent liabilities
or litigation or arbitration of material importance.

The Group collects most of its revenue and incurs most of the expenditures
in RMB. Although the Group undertakes certain transactions denominated
in foreign currencies, mainly the currency of United States and the currency
of Hong Kong, the exposures to exchange rate fluctuations is minimal.
The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. The
Board, however, will monitor foreign exchange rate closely and consider
entering into foreign currency hedging arrangement should the need arise.

Human Resource Management

The Group had 2,615 employees as at 31 December 2023 (as at 31
December 2022: 2,484 employees), in which approximately 495 were
engineers and technical staff or employees with higher education
backgrounds. The staff costs amounted to RMB287,052,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2023 (for the year ended 31 December 2022:
RMB281,497,000). The table below shows the number of employees of the

WZBZ=F+-RA=+—H AEEAEERLBFEE
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Group by function as at 31 December 2023: =t —BREERBEESNESHE
Percentage
of total
Number of number of
employees employees
HEESEH
Function Rige EE#E WAL
Management and Administration BB RITH 397 15.18%
Sales and Marketing SHE K& iH 138 5.28%

Research and Development in Technology T EE Ry & TiR

and Engineering 495 18.93%
Production and Quality Control HERESES 1,585 60.61%
Total &at 2,615 100.00%
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The Group offers remuneration packages determined by reference to the
employees’ experience, qualification and overall market situation, while
the bonus is related to the financial performance of the Group and the
individual performance. The Group also undertakes to provide proper
trainings and sustainable professional development opportunities for the
employees if needed.

The Company has adopted a share award scheme (the “Share Award
Scheme”) with a primary purpose of motivating our employees and
other eligible persons entitled under the Share Award Scheme to further
contribute to the Group and to reward them for their contribution to the
Group.

Major Risks and Uncertainties

In order to achieve stable business operations, the management of the
Company pays close attention to the risk factors that the Company may
face. Based on the key risk indicators, after evaluation and analysis, the risks
faced by the Company mainly include:

Due to macroeconomic policy adjustments, certain impacts on the
upstream and downstream customers of the Group will indirectly
affect the sales and profits of packaging and papermaking
enterprises (including the Group). Due to the tightening of the
China’s environmental protection policy, the cost of the paper
packaging industry will increase and there will be certain operational
risks.

Since the costs of raw material account for a relatively high
proportion of production costs, fluctuations in raw material prices
have a certain impact on profits.

The Group's packaging business has a low concentration. The
enterprises with certain scale and strength in the industry are mainly
expanding their production capacity and increasing their market
share. The market competition is fierce. The papermaking business
of the Group faces leading enterprises in the industry to compete in
the same region and the competition is fierce.

Due to the inability to meet the product quality standards in the
industry, the mass quality problems caused by customers’ demand
cannot be met, which resulting in losses from batch waste or
inventories.
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Corporate Governance Structure
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The directors of the Company (the "Directors”) are pleased to present the

corporate governance report in the annual report of the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2023 (the “Year”).

The Company has consistently adopted the Corporate Governance
Code (the "Code") promulgated by The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) as guidelines to reinforce our corporate
governance principles. This report describes how the Company has applied
the principles during the year.

The Company has complied with the code provisions set out in the Code
as stated in Appendix C1 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) in force throughout the year
ended 31 December 2023.
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Board of Directors

The board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company has a balance of
skill and experience and a balanced composition of Executive and Non-
executive Directors, the overall management of the Company’s business
was vested in the Board. The Board has delegated the day-to-day
management of the Company’s business to the executive management
team, and focuses its attention on matters affecting the Company’s overall
strategic policies, finances and shareholders. As at 31 December 2023,
the Board comprised nine members, consisting of five Executive Directors
namely, Mr. Hu Zheng (Chairman), Mr. Hu Hancheng (Co-Chairman), Mr.
Hu Hanchao, Mr. Hu Jianpeng and Ms. Chen Wei, one Non-Executive
Director namely, Ms. Hu Jianwen and three Independent Non-executive
Directors namely, Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John, Mr. Liew Fui Kiang and Mr.
Shin Yick Fabian. The Directors are well-versed in respective areas such
as knowledge and technical know-how of paper-making and packaging
industries, accounting and finance and business management. The Board
as a whole has achieved an appropriate balance of skills and experience.
The profiles of all directors and the relationship among members of the
Board (including financial, business, family or other material or relevant
relationships, if any) are set out on pages 43 to 46.

Each Independent Non-executive Director who is subject to retirement by
rotation will be appointed by a separate resolution in the Company’s annual
general meeting. The Company has received from each Independent Non-
executive Director an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to the
independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

As Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John has served on the Board for more than nine
years, the Board is of the view that a director’s independence should
not be defined by his/her tenure on the Board. The Board assesses a
director’s independence on a case-by-case basis with reference to the
director’s business acumen, experience in related industries, professional
qualification, international business exposure and the nature of the
businesses of the Company in addition to tenure. A director who has
over time gained in-depth insight into the Company’s operations and its
markets are well-positioned to offer his/her perspective and advice for
discussion at the Board and that he/she can bring valuable contribution
to the Company with comprehensive understanding of the operations of
the Company. The Board is satisfied that Mr. Chung is a person of integrity
and stature, independent in character and judgment. He is independent
of management and free from any business or other relationships or
circumstances which could materially interfere with the exercise of his
independent judgment.

Ms. Chen Wei, who has been appointed as the Executive Director during
the financial year ended 31 December 2023, has obtained the legal advice
referred to in Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules on 25 August 2023, and she
has confirmed she understood her obligations as a director of a listed issuer.

EE®
AAREFE((EE])KEHRE2E ERELER - A
WITESRIFRTESZHANBHEEAE - ARE¥ER
NEEEEREELAE BFCORKTHEEEREA
EEEARRATIBEEY  (EMEPEIBARARHREEE
B M EREEE - RCE-_=Ft+-A=+—H8 =&
FeMNBKEEAK  BIEAR/PITESANELE(E
ER) EREE(BFEESRER)  HEBHLE - SRS
TERMBLRLT  —ZIFERTESHES LR =28
SEMITERNERREE  RIEEEERES KL B
EHERRBETENAR R - S5 Ey s RESE
BERBBHEARABEZ R EFTBRBFAESH
EZEE AL  TEEENEEARESEXERN
BER(BEETR - %7 - HENEMEKSEABEER
B))REAIEA6EELIE -

RARRZRFBEFRE L SUARKERIIBIIEH
TEEHNEDRERZE - ARRER EMRAZEI3
ATE B R SRR B P TE SN F R B R

=

AARBIUFFATEFTERRALCREESHINE - &
EERA - BERBUMTEZEMEHMRS c EFEHR
BERIEEBER - FREEEHSN - TREEBFRKRE
RHEBETEZESR  EXERLERRY  ARARRE
BUE - AAHEEEE L - EFERAURBEEARRA]
BERMSRARR B AREBGHRHBRHLZ
BAMNESRE L% - BEREFHAR R L ERIE
E RARRRHELBEERR - EFQERERLEZTE
mf& o ANEIES 2 MR R A o REBINEIERE - 7F
BEPEIMERRAES LMBEERIENAI G EANT AR
AL A ISR o

REE-T-=F+ A=+ HUMRTEEEZT AL
TEENRBELTER - E-_=FE \A-+ABEBE T/
FMAIE30DIEFIRMAERER - WHERHBEBEES
BT AZEENES -

Annual Report 2023
I

Zhengye International Holdings Company Limited
EXERBFEEARAT



\ v 4

Corporate Governance Report
e SRR o

The Board has expressed the view in its circular for 2024 annual general
meeting that each Independent Non-executive Director who is eligible
for re-election has met the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules and is independent in accordance with the terms of
the guidelines. In accordance with the CG Code, the Company has to
include its own recommendation in the circular to explain why a particular
candidate should be re-elected. As their relevant credentials have been
included in the circular for the shareholders’ information, the Company
opines that it is more important for the shareholders themselves to make
their own independent decision on whether to approve a particular
re-election or not.

Four board meetings were held during the financial year. All the Directors
actively participated in each meeting in person, via telephone or
videoconferencing. They received reports on the activities of the operating
divisions and which required the Board approval. Board approval also be
obtained through voting at the Board meetings.

Regular Board meetings in a particular year are usually scheduled
towards the end of the immediately preceding year to give all Directors
adequate time to plan their schedules to attend the meetings. The dates
of the 2023 regular Board meetings, of which 14 days notice was given,
were determined according to the requirement of the Bye-laws and any
amendments to this schedule were notified to all the Directors at least 14
days before the meeting. The Board papers including supporting analysis
and related background information are normally sent to the Directors
at least three days before Board meetings. Suitable arrangements were
in place to allow the Directors to include items in the agenda for regular
Board meetings.

If a Director had a conflict of interest in a transaction or proposal to be
considered by the Board and which the Board has considered to be
material, the individual Director would declare his interest and was required
to abstain from voting. The matter would then be considered at a Board
meeting attended by independent Directors who had no material interest
in the transaction.

The Company has put in place a mechanism to ensure that directors obtain
independent views. The Board endeavours to ensure the appointment
of at least three independent non-executive Directors and at least one-
third of whose members are independent non-executive Directors (or the
higher minimum number as may be prescribed by the Board of Directors
of the Company from time to time under the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing
Rules”).
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In addition to complying with the requirements of the Listing Rules on the
composition of certain Board committees, the Company also appoints
independent non-executive Directors to other Board committees to ensure
independent views as far as possible.

The Nomination Committee is empowered to assess the independence of
all Independent Non-executive Directors on an annual basis in accordance
with the independence criteria set out in the Listing Rules to ensure that
they continue to exercise independent judgement.

Independent non-executive Directors (like other Directors) have the right
to seek further information and documents from management on matters
to be discussed at Board meetings. They may also seek assistance from the
Company’s Company Secretary and, if necessary, independent professional
advice at the Company's expense.

The Board reviews the implementation and effectiveness of the
aforementioned mechanisms on an annual basis.

The Chairman promotes a culture of openness and actively encourages
Directors with different views to voice their opinion and be fully engaged
in the Board's affairs so as to contribute to the Board's functions. The
chairman also debates facilitating the effective contribution of non-
executive directors in particular and ensuring constructive relations
between executive and non-executive directors.

A healthy corporate culture across the Group is vital for the Group to
achieve its vision and mission towards sustainable growth. It is the Board's
role to foster a corporate culture with integrity to guide the behaviours of
its employees, and ensure that the Company’s vision, values and business
strategies are aligned to it.

1. Integrity, simple
The Group strives to maintain high standards of business ethics and
corporate governance across all our activities and operations. The
Directors, management and staff are all required to act lawfully,
ethically and responsibly.

2.  Treasure talents, invest talents
Talent is the core competitiveness. The Group continues to invest in
human capital, improve the value of human capital, activate the value
creation of human resource management, and eliminate competition.
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Details of the attendance of Directors at these Board meetings and
at the meetings of the five Board committees (the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee, the Risk
Management Committee and the Budget Management Committee) and
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the annual general meeting (the "AGM") for the Reporting Period are set

out in the following table:

TREAKEHHEFHFES
(BEZLZBE  FHEZEg REZBg RAREEZSR
ELEHEREZESG) MERBFAE ([RREFAE])
EZEFE

Meetings Attended/Meetings Held

SERMNAEEEEES

HEES/ BTEERY
Risk Budget
Board Audit  Remuneration Nomination ~ Management ~ Management

Name of directors Meeting Committee Committee Committee Committee Committee AGM

# #l B4 EMER  BNER BR
£33 Ezg Z58¢& Z88 %88 Z58% Z58¢% BEXRE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Hu Zheng kS 4/4 N/ATER 2/2 2/2 22 [ 1/1
Mr. Hu Hancheng HEREE 4/4 N/ATER N/ATEE N/ATEF N/ATEF 171 1/1
Mr. Hu Hanchao s 44 NATER  NATER N/ATER N/ATE R n ld
Mr. Hu Jianpeng e e 4/4 N/ATER N/ATEE N/ATEF 171 N/ATEF /1
Ms. Chen Wei Reiat n NANER  NATER N/ATER n n N/ATEFR

(appointed on 25 August 2023) (R=Zz=F
NAZTHRE
Zft)

Non-Executive Director FUTES
Ms. Hu Jianwen i3 e 44 NATER  NATER N/ATER N/ATE R N/ATE R 1l
Independent Non-Executive Directors B FHTESE
Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John BEREE 4/4 2/2 2/2 2/2 22 N/ATER 1/1
Mr. Liew Fui Kiang Ests 4/4 2/2 2/2 2/2 22 N/AER 1/1
Mr. Shin Yick Fabian rAEE 4/4 2/2 2/2 2/2 22 N/ATER 1/1

With the support of the Executive Directors and the Company Secretary,
the Chairman seeks to ensure that all Directors are properly briefed
on issues arising at Board meetings and receive adequate and reliable

information on a timely basis.
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In addition to regular Board meetings, the Chairman met with the

BREFETEHERN

TREBIIFNTEEN_F

AF |11

Independent Non-executive Directors without the presence of other F+ = AEWETMEMESHBE R TRITEE - B
Directors in December 2023. Attendance record in 2023 is as follows: TEFeHZHRRINT

Attendance

HERE

Chairman *E
Mr. Hu Zheng [N 1/1
Independent Non-executive Directors BYEHTES
Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John BRI e A4 1/1
Mr. Liew Fui Kiang BT R E 1/
Mr. Shin Yick Fabian S kA 1/1
All Directors had access to the services of the company secretary who REIWETHEFNEETSNEANRESTE  2REEY

regularly updated the Board on governance and regulatory matters. Any
Director, if consider necessary in discharging their responsibility, might take
independent professional advice (through the Chairman) at the Company'’s
expense. The availability of professional advice extended to the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee, the
Risk Management Committee and the Budget Management Committee.

Minutes of Board meetings and meetings of Board committees, together
with any supporting documents, were available to all Directors. Draft and
final versions of the minutes were sent to all Directors for their comment
and record respectively.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Policy”) which
sets out the approach to achieve and maintain diversity on the Board in
order to enhance the effectiveness of the Board.
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In setting up the composition of the Board, the Company considers the
diversity of the Board at different levels, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service, and any other factors
that the Board considers relevant and applicable from time to time.
The Company attaches great importance to ensuring a balanced mix of
skills and experience among the Board members to provide different
perspectives and perspectives, insights and questions to enable the Board
to effectively discharge its duties, formulate good practices on the core
business and strategies of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”),
and align with the succession planning and development of the Board.
In order for the Board to be effective, the Company may set additional
measurable targets/specific diversity targets and review them from time to
time to ensure that such targets are appropriate and feasible.

In terms of gender diversity, the Board currently comprises 2 female
Directors, representing 22.2% of the Board.

In hiring and selecting candidates for appointment to the Board, the
appointment will be based on the Company’s nomination policy and
from a diverse perspective, including but not limited to consideration of
gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.

After considering the Company’s corporate strategy and business
operations, the final decision will be based on the merits and other
objective criteria of the candidate, and the contribution he or she will bring
to the Board.

The Board recognised the benefits of diversity in the Board in enhancing
the Board effectiveness and corporate governance. The Nomination
Committee will give consideration to a number of factors as set out in
the Policy when identifying suitable qualified candidates to become
members of the Board, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, industry
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The Board will consider
well balanced and of a diverse mix which is appropriate for the business
operation and development of the Company. The Company will also take
into account its own business model and specific needs from time to time
to determine the optimal composition of the Board. The Company will
review the Policy on a regular basis to ensure its continuous effectiveness.
The Board and the Nomination Committee review from time to time the
Board Diversity Policy, monitor its implementation to ensure its continued
effectiveness including conducting a review of the composition of the
Board at least once a year, taking into account the benefits of all relevant
diversity dimensions, and compliance with regulatory requirements and
good corporate governance practices and the Nomination Committee
makes recommendation on any revision as may be required to the Board
for approval.

AARERTEFENEASE SR TREEZREF
gREZTE  ERBETRNUL - F&  (ERHE
BR Bk BELR - WG ABEREEH  ARE
FETERREBMERNEMEMEAR - ARFIHFEE
LZEWREFINENREREREAE DM - LARHK
TREHEAE - REMER  RESSUUERHET
HEB - piARR RENB AR ([ REE ) 0ER R
REHERK  WREAERSNAETHEINER - BiE
BEEQREHME - ARRASHETRINOAEER
REZTUCRIR  LARSETTIRE ARR G R B RE A
T

MUBZUEBENS  EFERE_ZLEEE 2
BEETME22% -

EEBELEBEERSREANTER - SREARFRR
ARRENRZTEHE L BEETRREELR - F
B XERBEES Bk - EELR - %Ki FHENMR
THIEHR

REBARNRZEERBREBEE  REORAER SR
BREANERLRAMEERGRE  REBETREFTEN
s

E=gWRR  EREZUEAURAEESNARER
MEEERZY G - BEREENREAXNSEZTEN
8 REZEEZEABRKRETHER  SRETEME
A Fik - XEMBBEER Bk EELR  1TEL
B B MEMRBES EEEREEBHARRER
LENBERMEAEMNTFELTNES - ARFHETE
RZRIEBSNBERANARER  UBRTEFSR
FHAE - ARBHERRBABER - BREFEGUE
F-EEGRREZEETHRNEETIHNEZ TILK
R BEABROITIER  SESFETEL KRB
EEgNBENES  BEPEEMAREBSTLEEMNE
g ARERHESEREZEFENABK - YEREE
TEIEUARERZIBRRIT 2B ANAEERERR D
EERER  URREZESRERTEFERIEH 2R
RZEEGR D ERAST KA -

Zhengye International Holdings Company Limited
EXEBFIERABR AR

Annual Report 2023
ST CFFH



\¥ 5

Corporate Governance Report
e SRR o

As at the date of this report, the Nomination Committee considered that
the Board had achieved gender diversity and possessed skill and expertise
and a diverse mix appropriate for the business of the Company and will
review the composition and diversity of the Board on a regular basis to
ensure its continued effectiveness.

Employee Diversity

Employees are our most important asset. Our future depends on our
team'’s dedication and ability to provide quality products and services to
our customers. As an equal opportunity employer, we strive to ensure the
concepts of diversity and inclusion are incorporated into our recruitment
and talent development processes. We recruit talents regardless of race,
colour, nationality, religion, gender, sexual orientation, age, marital
status, pregnancy, disability, medical condition, political affiliation, family
responsibilities or any other characteristics protected by law.

As at 31 December 2023, in terms of gender diversity, female represent
18.01% of the senior management. At workforce levels, female present
20.92%. For details of gender diversity at workforce levels, please refer to
the 2023 Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) Report. The Board
is satisfied that the Company has achieved gender diversity in its workforce
and possessed skill and expertise and a diverse mix appropriate for the
business of the Company and will review the composition and diversity of
the employees on a regular basis to ensure its continued effectiveness.

Board Committees

The Board has established five committees, namely the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee, the Risk
Management Committee and the Budget Management Committee,
throughout the year ended 31 December 2023. During the year, these
committees adhered to their principles, procedures and arrangements set
out below. The respective committee secretary or designated person took
full minutes of the meetings of these committees and the work of these
committees was reported to the Board regularly.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer ("CEO")

Under the Code provision C.2.1 in force, the roles of chairman and CEO
should be separate and should not be performed by the same individual.
The division of responsibilities between the Chairman and CEO should be
clearly established and set out in writing.

Upon the appointment of Mr. Hu Zheng as the CEO becoming effective on
23 August 2023, Mr. Hu will perform both of the roles as the Chairman and
the CEO of the Company. This deviates from code provision C.2.1 of the
Code on Corporate Governance Practices contained in Appendix 14 of the
Listing Rules.
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For the Company’s development, the Board is of the opinion that it is
appropriate and in the best interest of the Company at the present stage
for vesting the roles of the Chairman and the CEO of the Company in
the same person. It does not affect the balance of power and authority
between the board of directors and the management. The Board will
nevertheless review this structure from time to time and will consider the
segregation of the two roles at the appropriate time.

Responsibilities of and Delegation by the Board
The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Group, overseas
the Group's strategic decisions and monitors business and performance.

The management, consisting of Executive Directors along with the senior
executives, is delegated with responsibilities for implementing the strategy
and direction as adopted by the Board from time to time, and conducting
the day-to-day operations of the Group. Executive Directors and the senior
executives meet regularly to review the performance of the businesses of
the Group as a whole, co-ordinate overall resources and make financial
and operational decisions. The Board also gives clear directions as to
their powers of management including circumstances where management
should report back, and will review the delegation arrangements on a
periodic basis to ensure that they remain appropriate to the needs of the
Group.

All Directors shall ensure that they carry out duties in good faith, in
compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and in the interests of the
Company and its Shareholders at all times.

Non-executive Directors

Each of Independent Non-executive Directors and Non-executive Director
was appointed with specific terms. Each of Independent Non-executive
Directors had signed a letter of appointment with the Company for a
term of 1 year commencing from 1 January 2024, and the Non-executive
Director had signed a letter of appointment with the Company for a term
of 3 years commencing from 22 July 2023. They are all subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election at the annual general meetings of the Company
in accordance with the bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye-laws”).

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) contained in Appendix 10 to
the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding directors’ securities
transactions. Having made specific enquiries of all Directors, the Company
confirms that all Directors have complied with the required standards set
out in the Model Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2023.
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Directors and Officers Liability Insurance

Liability insurance for Directors and senior management of the Company
was arranged by the Company with appropriate coverage for certain legal
liabilities which may arise in the course of performing their duties.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board has adopted the terms of reference on corporate governance
functions on 23 March 2012. The terms of reference of the Board in respect
of corporate governance function are summarized as follows:

(@) to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance;

to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

() to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices to
ensure compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance
manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors; and

(e)  to review the Company’s compliance with the code provisions set
out in the Code and Corporate Governance Report contained in
Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules and its disclosure requirements in
the Corporate Governance Report.

The work performed by the Board on corporate governance functions
during the year ended 31 December 2023 included developing and
reviewing the Company’s policies on corporate governance and making
relevant recommendations.

Continuous Professional Development

Under C.1.4 of the Code in relation to Directors’ training, the Directors
have provided their records of continuous professional development
during the year 2023.

The Directors’ knowledge and skills are continuously developed and
refreshed by, inter alia, the following means during the year 2023:

o Reading news/journal/magazine/other reading materials as regards
legal and regulatory changes and matters of relevance to the
Directors in the discharge of their duties.

Remuneration Committee

The Company has established a Remuneration Committee for the purposes
of making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s remuneration
policy and structure for directors and senior management.
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The Remuneration Committee presently comprises one Executive Director,
namely Mr. Hu Zheng and three Independent Non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John, Mr. Liew Fui Kiang and Mr. Shin Yick
Fabian. The chairman of the Committee is Mr. Shin Yick Fabian. The
Remuneration Committee held two meetings during the year and details
of attendance are shown in the table on page 28 of this annual report. The
work performed by the Remuneration Committee during the year ended 31
December 2023 included the following matters:

o make recommendations to the Board of the remuneration of
Non-executive and Executive Directors for the years ended 31
December 2023. The Remuneration Committee has considered
factors such as salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities of the directors, employment
conditions elsewhere in the Group and desirability of performance-
based remuneration;

o review and approve remuneration and performance-based
remuneration scheme of Executive Directors from time to time by
reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved by the Board
from time to time;

. ensure that no Director or any of respective associates is involved in
deciding their respective remuneration; and

o Discuss the remuneration of the newly appointed Executive Director.

The Remuneration Committee has adopted the model that it will review
the proposals made by the management on the remuneration of executive
Directors and senior management, and make recommendations to the
Board. The Board will have final authority to approve the recommendations
made by the Remuneration Committee.

The Company'’s share option scheme (the “Option Scheme”) has lapsed. As
at 31 December 2023, the Company did not adopt any new share option
scheme.

The Company has also adopted a share award scheme (the “Award
Scheme”) whereby the Board may at its discretion grant shares to such
eligible participants to award the shares of the Company. The principal
terms of the Award Scheme are set out in the announcement of the
Company dated 23 April 2019. The purposes of the Option Scheme and
Award Scheme are to enable the Company to grant options or award
shares to selected eligible participants as incentives or rewards for their
contribution to the Group.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee (both English and
Chinese versions) are posted on the websites of the Company and Hong
Kong Exchange and Clearing Limited (HKEx).
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Nomination Committee

According to the Bye-laws, the Directors shall have power from time to
time and at any time to appoint any person as a director either to fill a
casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board. A director appointed by
the Board is subject to re-election by shareholders at the next following
general meeting of the Company. The nomination of a director should be
taken into consideration of the candidate’s skills and experience which are
appropriate for the needs of the Company'’s business.

The Company has established a Nomination Committee for the purpose of
making recommendations to the Board on the appointment of Directors.

The Nomination Committee presently comprises four Directors, including
Mr. Hu Zheng, an Executive Director, and three Independent Non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John, Mr. Liew Fui Kiang
and Mr. Shin Yick Fabian. The Committee is chaired by Mr. Hu Zheng.

The Board delegates the responsibility of appointing and re-electing
Directors to the Nomination Committee and they are responsible for
considering the suitability of a candidate, and approving and terminating
the appointment of a Director. Reviews of the plans for orderly succession
for appointment to the Board and its structure, size and composition are
done on a regular basis by the Nomination Committee. They are provided
with sufficient resources to discharge its duties and external consultants
may be engaged, if necessary, to access a wider range of potential
candidate(s). The Nomination Committee reviews the Director Nomination
Policy and the Board Diversity Policy of the Company periodically and
make recommendation on any proposed revisions to the Board.

In evaluating whether an appointee is suitable to act as a director of
the Company, the committee will review the professional knowledge,
industrial experience and personal skills of the appointee, personal ethics
and integrity of the appointee as well as how the individual contributes to
diversity of the Board.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee (both English and
Chinese versions) are posted on the websites of the Company and HKEXx.

According the Bye-laws, at each AGM of the Company, one-third of the
Directors shall retire from office by rotation and every Director shall be
subject to retirement at least once every three years. Director(s) newly
appointed by the Board shall hold office until the next following general
meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election at the
meeting.

The Board considers that it is the responsibility of the existing Directors to
give an induction on the information of the Group to the newly appointed
Director and present a manual on the duties and responsibilities as a
director of a listed company to enable the newly appointed Director to
have a proper understanding of the business.
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Five Executive Directors, namely, Mr. Hu Zheng, Mr. Hu Hancheng, Mr.
Hu Hanchao, Mr. Hu Jianpeng and Ms. Chen Wei had entered into a
service contract with the Company for a period of three years, Mr. Hu
Zheng, Mr. Hu Hancheng, Mr. Hu Hanchao's service contracts commence
from 1 January 2024, Mr. Hu Jianpeng's service contract commences
from 8 February 2022, Ms. Chen Wei's service contract commences from
25 August 2023, unless terminated in accordance with the terms of the
service contract. Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors had
signed a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of one year
commencing from 1 January 2024 and is renewable upon its expiration
and may be terminated in accordance with the terms of the letter of
appointment. The non-executive Director, Ms. Hu Jianwen had signed
a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of three years
commencing 22 July 2023 and is renewable upon its expiration and may
be terminated in accordance with the terms of the letter of appointment.
During the financial year ended 31 December 2023, there was two meetings
held by the Nomination Committee. Details of attendance are shown in the
table on page 28.

The work of the Nomination Committee during the year ended 31
December 2023 included the following matters:

o to make recommendation to the Board on renewal of services
contracts of Non-executive Director and Independent non-executive
Directors;

. to review the structure, size, diversity profile and skills matrix of the
Board and the needs of the Board, and make recommendations on
any proposed changes, where applicable;

o to assess the independence of the Independent Non-executive
Directors;
° to make recommendation to the Board on the re-election of

Directors at the 2023 annual general meeting; and

o Discussed and recommended to the Board the appointment of
Executive Director.

Auditors’ Remuneration

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the fees charged by the Company's
auditors in respect of audit amounted to approximately RMB1,689,000.
There is no remuneration paid to the Auditor in respect of non-audit
services.

Audit Committee

The Company has established an Audit Committee for the purposes of
reviewing and providing supervision over the Company'’s financial reporting
process and internal controls.
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The Audit Committee presently comprises three Independent Non-
executive Directors of the Company, namely Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John,
Mr. Liew Fui Kiang and Mr. Shin Yick Fabian and is chaired by Mr. Chung
Kwok Mo John.

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year and details of
attendance are shown in the table on page 28. The work of the Audit
Committee during the year ended 31 December 2023 included of the
following matters:

o provide recommendation to the Board on the reappointment
of external auditors, and approve the audit fee and terms of
engagement of the external auditors;

J review and monitor external auditors’ independence and objectivity
and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with
applicable standard, and discuss with external auditors before
audit commences, the nature and scope of the audit and reporting

obligations;

J monitor integrity of financial statements, interim report and annual
report, and review significant financial reporting judgments contained
in them;

. review financial controls, internal controls and risk management
systems;

o discuss with management regarding the system of internal controls

and ensure that management has discharged its duty to have an
effective internal control system including adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of accounting and financial
reporting function, and their training programmes and budget;

. ensure co-ordination between internal and external auditors, and to
ensure that internal audit function is adequately resourced and has
appropriate standing within the Company, and to review and monitor
the effectiveness of internal audit function;

o review financial and accounting policies and practices; and
o review external auditors’ management letter, any material queries
raised by auditors to management in respect of accounting records,

financial accounts or systems of control and management's response.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee (both English and Chinese
versions) are posted on the websites of the Company and HKEx.
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Directors’ and Auditors’ Responsibilities for Accounts
The Directors acknowledge the responsibilities for preparing the accounts
of the Company. The external auditors’ statement about their reporting
responsibilities is set out on pages 62 to 63.

Going Concern

The Directors, having made appropriate enquiries, consider that the
Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future and that, for this reason, it is appropriate to adopt the
going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

Internal Controls

The Board has kept the Company's system of internal controls under review
to ensure its effectiveness and convened meetings regularly to discuss
financial, operational and risk management control.

Risk Management Committee

The Risk Management Committee was set up on 18 December 2015 and
currently comprises five members, including two executive Directors,
namely Mr. Hu Zheng and Ms. Chen Wei, three Independent Non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John, Mr. Liew Fui Kiang
and Mr. Shin Yick Fabian. The chairman of the Committee is Mr. Hu Zheng.

The Risk Management Committee is established to, without limitation, assist
the Board to evaluate and determine the nature and extent of the risks the
Board is willing to take in achieving the Group's strategic objectives, ensure
that the Group establishes and maintains appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems, and assist the Board to oversee
the design, implementation and monitoring of the risk management system
carried out by the management on an ongoing basis.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Risk Management Committee
held two meeting and discussed and reviewed areas including but not
limited to the key risks faced by the Group, risk management policy and
practice annually.

The Board is responsible for evaluating and determining the nature and
extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the strategic objectives
of the Group and ensuring that the Group establishes and maintains
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control systems.

The Board is ultimately responsible for the Group's risk management and
internal controls system and for reviewing its effectiveness.
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The Group’s methodology for its risk assessment comprises three core
stages including Risk Identification, Risk Assessment, and Risk Management
that are shown below:

FEEERERERNERR - FEREEYELH
EBEBRZRE T

Risk Identification & Bl &l k&

Department/Functional Heads/Corporate Legal Entities identify risks in the operations they are responsible for as well as
risks they believe are relevant to the Group as a whole. The Group has adopted a set of internal control measures to address
various potential operational, financial and legal risk identified in relation to the operation, including but not limited to
procurement management, inventory management, information disclosure control, IT management and other various
financial control and monitor procedures. All the identified risks are consolidated into a risk inventory.

P BEEEE SEARRIBAEEEB AEEEHBEELE  MBREERR - BEATEREEEE  F8%
B2 ARREESE ITER  QERR  RREARE  HEENREGCTRMBEZERERRZF o SRR RIEGIRE
Pl 2 P MBS A B RE ENAARS

Risks in the Risk Inventory are evaluated by a range of senior individuals. The group analyzes its possibility, severity and

countermeasures to prioritize risk events, and confirm and identify whether the risk is a major risk.

T ZERIFF AR -

DITEAREM - REREAREEEG - StHRREGLHEEIET - T

Risk Management &2 &

Department/Functional Heads/Corporate Legal Entities keep ongoing communication, monitoring and review.

EEELER  SHPIABEASEHEMER  HEBE  BERW®

The Group's risk management framework sets out the process of
identification, evaluation and management of the principal risks affecting
the business. The Group has adopted a set of internal control measures
to address various potential operational, financial and legal risk identified
in relation to the operation, including but not limited to procurement
management, inventory management, information disclosure control, IT
management and other various financial control and monitor procedures.

The Board is responsible for reviewing the effectiveness of the Group's
risk management and internal control systems through regular meetings
with the management. In addition, the Audit Committee with professional
advices and opinions from the external internal control consultant of the
Company is responsible for ensuring the sufficiency and effectiveness
of the Group's risk management and internal control systems through
regular inspection and monitoring. The compliance officer is responsible
for reviewing the compliance policies and procedures of the Group
annually. The compliance officer will also be responsible for updating the
compliance policies and procedures of the Group to ensure that they are
up to date in accordance with the applicable regulatory requirements. The
Group's risk management and internal control systems will be reviewed
annually for the past financial year.
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The Group has in place an anti-bribery and anti-corruption policy to
safeguard against any corruption within the Group. The policy explains
potential bribery and corruption conduct and the Group's anti-bribery
and anti-corruption measures. The Group makes its internal reporting
channel open and available for its employees to report any bribery and
corruption acts, and its employees can also make anonymous reports to
the compliance officer. The Group's compliance officer is reporting for
investigating the reported incidents and taking appropriate measures in
response to the relevant incidents, if any. To strengthen internal control
of the Group in relation to anti-bribery and anti-corruption, the Group has
also started to provide trainings of anti-bribery and anti-corruption to all its
employees every year.

The risk management framework, coupled with the internal controls,
ensures that the risk associated with different divisions of the Group are
effectively controlled and in line with the Group's appetite. However,
the Group's risk management and internal control systems are designed
to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objective, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the internal
control system for the year ended 31 December 2023 and considered the
internal control system effective and adequate and no significant areas of
concern which might affect shareholders were identified.

Handling and Dissemination of Inside Information

With respect to the handling and dissemination of inside information,
the Group has adopted various procedures and measures on disclosure
of inside information with an aim to ensure that the insiders abide by
the confidentiality requirements and that inside information is to be
disseminated to the public in equal and timely manner in accordance with
the applicable laws and regulations. Such procedures include, among
others, notification of regular blackout period and securities dealing
restrictions to the Directors and employees, dissemination of information
to specified persons on a need to-know basis and use of identify projects.

Budget Management Committee

The Budget Management Committee was set up on 1 September 2018 and
presently comprises four executive Directors of the Company, namely Mr.
Hu Hanchao, Mr. Hu Zheng, Mr. Hu Hancheng and Ms. Chen Wei and is
chaired by Mr. Hu Zheng.

The responsibilities of the Budget Management Committee is established
to, without limitation, assist the Board to monitor and review the
effectiveness of the Group's annual business plan and financial, to review the
implementation of the Group's budget in existing or potential investment
projects and make recommendations, and also give the recommendations
to the Board on the capital expenditures.
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Whistleblowing Policy
The Board adopted a whistleblowing policy (the "Whistleblowing Policy”)
in March 2022.

The purpose of the Whistleblowing Policy is to (i) foster a culture of
compliance, ethical behaviour and good corporate governance across
the Group; and (ii) promote the importance of ethical behaviour and
encourages the reporting of misconduct, unlawful and unethical behavior.

The nature, status and the results of the complaints received under
the Whistleblowing Policy are reported to the chairman of the Audit
Committee or the human resource director of the Group. No incident
of fraud or misconduct that have material effect on the Group'’s financial
statements or overall operations for the year ended 31 December 2023 has
been discovered.

The Whistleblowing Policy is reviewed annually by the Audit Committee to
ensure its effectiveness.

Anti-corruption Policy

The Board adopted an anti-corruption policy (the “Anti-corruption
Policy”) in March 2022. The Group is committed to achieving the highest
standards of integrity and ethical behaviour in conducting business. The
Anti-corruption Policy forms an integral part of the Group's corporate
governance framework.

The Anti-corruption Policy sets out the specific behavioural guidelines
that the Group's personnel and business partners must follow to combat
corruption. It demonstrates the Group’s commitment to the practice of
ethical business conduct and the compliance of the anti-corruption laws
and regulations that apply to its local and foreign operations. In line with
this commitment and to ensure transparency in the Group's practices,
the Anti-corruption Policy has been prepared as a guide to all Group
employees and third parties dealing with the Group.

The Anti-corruption Policy is reviewed and updated periodically to align
with the applicable laws and regulations as well as the industry best
practice.

Company Secretary

Ms. Jiang Ying has been appointed by the Company as the company
secretary since 31 March 2023, her biographical details are set out in the
section headed "Profiles of Directors and Senior Management” in this
annual report. Ms. Jiang has complied with the relevant professional
training requirement under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules during the year.
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Communication with Shareholders

The Company endeavors to maintain an on-going dialogue with its
shareholders, and in particular through annual general meetings or
other general meetings to communicate with the shareholders and
encourage their participation. The board has established a shareholders’
communication policy. The policy is subject to review on a regular basis
to ensure its effectiveness. The Chairman of the Board will make himself
available at the forthcoming annual general meeting to be held on Friday,
21 June 2024 to answer any questions from shareholders.

Shareholders can measure the application of corporate governance
principles against the quantifiable objectives of the Company’s diversity
policy and the Company’s corporate governance report.

The Group's official website http://www.zhengye-cn.com contains an
‘Investor Relations’ section which offers timely access to the Company'’s
press releases, financial reports and announcements.

The Company will continue to maintain an open and effective investor
communication policy and to update investors with relevant information of
the Group in a timely manner.

During the Reporting Period, the Board has considered and reviewed the
communication policy and considers it to be effective.

Shareholders’ Rights

Pursuant to the Bye-laws of the Company and Bermuda Companies Act,
in addition to regular Board meetings, the Directors of the Company,
on the requisition of shareholders of the Company holding not less than
one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company, can convene a special
general meeting to address specific issues of the Company within 21 days
from the date of deposit of written notice to the principal place of business
of the Company in Hong Kong. The same requirement and procedure
also applies to any proposal to be tabled at shareholders’ meetings for
adoption.

Shareholders’ enquiries can be directed to the principal place of business
of the Company in Hong Kong. The address is set out in the “CORPORATE
INFORMATION" section of this annual report for the attention of the
Company Secretary.

Change in Constitutional Documents

The amended and restated Memorandum and Articles of Association have
been adopted on 4 March 2011 and became effective from the Listing
Date. During the Reporting Period, the second amended and restated
memorandum and articles of association of the Company was adopted by
a special resolution passed on 23 June 2023.

HERRBE

ARBBNRERRRFRHEOZR - LEBBRRBSF
REFHMPRAG BEETER - TRBBRERS
B BRFOHFTRRBARE - ZBESEBELRE
PARBREAK - EERBHFER T -_MFEA=-+—H
(EHR)BTNEERRBFARE - UREBIRORER -

RERARRA R B 2 LT LR 2 Al 5t B B R R AR RH
TCEEAREHECEERRAINER -

REEE J5 485 (http://www.zhengye-cn.com) i B [ £ &
EFREINEE - RHBBAARARETEEMN - HBRER

NENRIAE

AR BEERER ARRBRREEBBYCE - WM
AIEERESEHNARERBAE

EREHAN  EXSZRAES 7BBEREK  IRA/EE
2 o

IR R R

REBARRNARAAMMEBREARE  BKEZFEME
S ERETPRARBHRBRAI0%NBRERT - K
RAIEENARRREIARGREADRNFEEHE @ 2
ELAR-_T-ANAARRNEEEMFERELER
BA o AR INE A MEM AR R & LR H AR
HYIRFRZR

BRERMBEAEEXEEERERNFRAREN—EPIEA
RAEBZ TELEME - WHRREARRRWE -

ERABEREM
RIEFTRBERTMABERZ AL ARIENRIEN —F——
FZAMBRTHRRAG FAEEARRRBEYE -
M EHRAER - RI|EHA - ARBE _MHEERT RER]
WAEBERAFNMAIN —E - =F XA -+ =B
RIRFRZRIRA

Zhengye International Holdings Company Limited
IEREBFIE AR AR

Annual Report 2023
I



\¥ 5

Biographical Detgils of Directors and Senior Management

w9 N E AR L e R

[Lm

Directors

Mr. Hu Zheng ( #8 IE ), aged 61, he is the Chairman, executive Director,
one of the founders and has been appointed as Chief Executive Officer
since 25 August 2023. Furthermore, Mr. Hu Zheng is the chairman of the
nomination committee and members of the remuneration committee, and
has been appointed the chairman of risk management committee and
budget management committee since 25 August 2023. Mr. Hu Zheng is
responsible for overseeing the overall corporate management, operation
and development planning and had over 30 years of experience in the
paper-making and packaging industries. Prior to founding our Group, Mr.
Hu Zheng worked as a technician and as an assistant engineer at a then
state-owned paper factory since 1983 then he was a director of a PRC
paper and packaging products manufacturing factory, responsible for
the management of daily operation and strategic planning from 1990 to
2003. In October 1981, Mr. Hu Zheng graduated from Guangdong Foshan
Vocational College (BRI BZ K112 87) (formerly known as Guangdong
Foshan Region Agricultural Mechanical College (&5 & b 1L Hh[& 2 FE A
{LEE1R)) and completed a Master of Business Administration at the Macau
University of Science and Technology in August 2001. Mr. Hu Zheng is
the brother of Mr. Hu Hancheng (an executive Director and a substantial
shareholder of the Company (the “Shareholder”) through his interests in
Golden Century Assets Limited) and Mr. Hu Hanchao (an executive Director
and a substantial Shareholder of the Company through his interests in
Leading Innovation Worldwide Corporation).

Mr. Hu Hancheng (#/%£7%8), aged 64, has been appointed an executive Director
since 4 March 2011. He is also the Co-Chairman of the Company, and also
a member of budget management committee. He is responsible for the
comprehensive operation management of the Group. He joined the Group
in 2003 and has been the legal representative of Zheng Ye Packaging
(Zhongshan) Company Limited, an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, between December 2007 and January 2017. Mr. Hu Hancheng
is in charge of the management and operation of the packaging business
division of the Group. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Hu Hancheng was
the general manager of a PRC packaging products manufacturing factory
from 1997 to 2003 responsible for the overall operational management
of the business. Mr. Hu Hancheng is currently the vice president of
Zhongshan Association of Packaging Industry. In January 1995, Mr.
Hu Hancheng completed an economic management program at the
Guangdong Polytechnic College (R & Ti2M % F T 20x) formerly known
as Guangdong Province Adult Technology University (& 5 & 5% A BHE K
2. Mr. Hu Hancheng is the brother of Mr. Hanchao (an executive Director
and a substantial Shareholder of the Company) and Mr. Hu Zheng (an
executive Director and a controlling Shareholder of the Company through
his interests in Gorgeous Rich Development Limited).
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Mr. Hu Hanchao (88/£%f), aged 66, an executive Director of the Company,
he has resigned as the Chairman of budget management committee
on 25 August 2023, but he is still the committee member. He joined our
Group in 2003 and he was appointed as a Director in September 2010 then
was designated as an executive Director in March 2011 and appointed
as Vice Chairman in November 2012. Mr. Hu Hanchao is responsible for
the daily operations management of the Group and supervised the daily
comprehensive operation management in corrugated medium paper
division. He has been involved in corporate management for more than 28
years. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Hu Hanchao was the deputy general
manager at Zhongshan City Zhong Fa Equipment Rental Company Limited
from 2000 to 2003 responsible for the overall operational management
of the business and before that he was the assistant manager of Xinhua
Bookshop from 1985 to 1994. In August 1985, Mr. Hu Hanchao graduated
from Zhongshan Municipal Communist Party Cadre School (47 1 /1 g & £
). Mr. Hu Hanchao is the brother of Mr. Hu Zheng (an executive Director
and a controlling Shareholder of the Company) and Mr. Hu Hancheng (an
executive Director and a substantial Shareholder of the Company).

Mr. Hu Jianpeng (#3#M5), aged 37, joined the Group in 2014. He is an
executive Director of the Company and President of Paper Division. He
held the post of the Group's general manager in procurement between
2014 and 2017, was responsible for the supply chain management and
procurement strategy formulation in the Group. In 2018, Mr. Hu Jianpeng
served as the chief operating officer of the Group and responsible for the
overall operation and management in sales, raw materials and procurement
of the Group. Mr. Hu Jianpeng obtained double Master degrees in finance
and marketing awarded by the University of Sydney in 2013. Mr. Hu
Jianpeng is a son of Mr. Hu Zheng (an executive Director and a controlling
Shareholder of the Company). Also, Mr. Hu Jianpeng is a nephew of Mr.
Hu Hanchao (an Executive Director and a substantial Shareholder of the
Company) and Mr. Hu Hancheng (an Executive Director and a substantial
Shareholder of the Company).

Ms. Chen Wei ( R & ), aged 48, joined our Group in 2007. Ms. Chen has
been appointed an executive Director and been the member of risk
management committee and budget management committee since
25 August 2023. She is also the Chief Financial Officer of the Group,
in charge of the management of the Group's financial center, human
resources center, process information center. Ms. Chen has over 15 years
of experience in financial management and tax services. She served
as financial supervisor in several papermaking enterprises and group
companies during the period from 1995 to 2001 and was in charge of
accounting and financial management matters. Prior to joining our Group,
Ms. Chen served as account manager and tax consultant in Zhongshan
large-scale tax agent from 2005 to 2007. Ms. Chen completed the
accounting course of Jinan University in December 2005 and obtained
an undergraduate diploma. Thereafter, she was awarded the Master of
Business Administration degree from the University of Wales in April
2011, and obtained the title of senior accountant awarded by Human
Resources Bureau of Guangdong Province (B & A E &) in December
2008. In September 2009, Ms. Chen obtained professional qualification as
a senior international finance manager awarded by International Financial
Management Association. She is the member of International Financial
Management Association.
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Ms. Hu Jianwen (88#252), aged 42, joined our Group on 22 July 2022, from 2003
to 2008, she worked as an accountant at the Finance Office of Guangdong
Light Industry Technician College (& %R & # T % % Al 2 f% ). From 2008 to
till date, Ms. Hu acted as a full-time teacher of accounting at the Service
Department of Guangdong Light Industry Technician College. Ms. Hu
obtained an undergraduate degree from Zhengzhou University in 2003 and
possesses the Accounting Practitioner Qualification Certificate and an Assistant
Accountant Qualification Certificate. Ms. Hu is the niece of Mr. Hu Zheng, an
executive Director and the controlling shareholder of the Company, and the
niece of Mr. Hu Hanchao, an executive Director and a substantial shareholder
of the Company, and Mr. Hu Hancheng, an executive Director and a substantial
shareholder of the Company.

Mr. Chung Kwok Mo John ( & B & ), aged 55, joined the Company on 4
March 2011 as an independent non-executive Director. He is also the
Chairman of audit committee and members of remuneration committee,
nomination committee and risk management committee of the Company.
Mr. Chung graduated from Macquarie University, Australia in 1992 with a
Bachelor of Economics degree, then became a member of CPA Australia
in 1995 and that of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
in 1996. Mr. Chung has over 20 years of experience in auditing, financial
management and corporate finance. Mr. Chung was an auditor in an
international accounting firm from 1992 to 1999. From 2000, Mr. Chung had
held several senior management positions, including chief financial officer,
executive director and independent non-executive director, in a number
of listed companies in Hong Kong. Mr. Chung is an independent non-
executive Director of BYD Electronic (International) Company Limited (a
listed company on the Stock Exchange; stock code: 285), YTO International
Express and Supply Chain Technology Limited (a listed company on the
Stock Exchange; stock code: 6123), B & S International Holdings Ltd. (a
listed company on the Stock Exchange; stock code: 1705) and Tokyo Chuo
Auction Holdings Limited (a listed company on the Stock Exchange; stock
code: 1939) since June 2013, December 2017, February and September
2018 respectively.
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Mr. Liew Fui Kiang (8]1£$%), aged 57, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company since May 2019. He has resigned
as the Chairman of risk management committee on 25 August 2023, but
he is still the committee member. He is a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute
of Directors, a solicitor of England and Wales, and a solicitor of Hong
Kong. Mr. Liew obtained a Bachelor of Laws (Tetley & Lupton scholar) from
the University of Leeds in the United Kingdom and a Master of Business
Administration from the Hull University Business School in the United
Kingdom. Mr. Liew is currently an independent non-executive Director of
Shandong Gold Mining Co., Ltd. (stock code: 1787 and Shanghai Stock
Exchange stock code: 600547), China Apex Group Limited (stock code:
2011), Zhongchang International Holdings Group Limited (stock code:
859) and Zhaoke Ophthalmology Limited (stock code: 6622) respectively.
Mr. Liew currently serves as an independent member of the board of
supervisors for Ping An Insurance (Group) Company of China, Limited
(stock code: 2318 and Shanghai Stock Exchange stock code: 601318), a
Fortune Global 500 corporation. Mr. Liew was the chairman of the board
of directors and executive director of Balk 1798 Group Limited (formerly
known as PacRay International Holdings Limited) (stock code: 1010) from
2017 to 2019. He was a non-executive director of Amber Hill Financial
Holdings Limited (stock code: 33) in December 2019. Mr. Liew previously
served as an independent director of Baoshan Iron & Steel Company
Limited* (B Ll #i 8} i% {» 4 PR 2 &), Shanghai Stock Exchange stock code:
600019), a Fortune Global 500 corporation.

Mr. Shin Yick Fabian (%), aged 55, joined the Company on 31 May 2019
as an independent non-executive Director. Mr. Shin graduated from the
University of Birmingham in England with a bachelor’s degree in commerce.
After graduation, he worked in the audit department of Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu. He had also worked in a listed company in Hong Kong as group
financial controller and company secretary. He is a fellow member of Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants, The Chartered Governance Institute and the Hong
Kong Institute of Company Secretaries. Mr. Shin is also an independent
non-executive Directors of Lisi Group Holdings Limited (a listed company
on the Stock Exchange; stock code: 526), Newton Resources Ltd (a listed
company on the Stock Exchange; stock code: 1231) since January 2013,
August 2015 respectively. He was an independent non-executive Director
of China Tianrui Automotive Interiors Co., Ltd (a listed company on the
Stock Exchange; stock code: 6162) from December 2018 to September
2020. Mr. Shin is a non-executive Director of Pak Tak International Limited
(a listed company on the Stock Exchange; stock code: 2668) since February
2017 and resigned on 3 February 2023.

*  For identification purpose only
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
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Senior Management

Mr. Hu Jianjun (#8%#£%&), aged 39, joined the Group in 2010. Mr. Hu Jianjun
is the President of Overseas Packaging Division of the Group. He is also
the alternative Director of the Company to Mr. Hu Hancheng. Mr. Hu
Jianjun obtained the undergraduate programme in design awarded by
the Wuchang Shouyi University (formerly known as Huazhong University
of Science and Technology (Wuchang campus)) in 2008. Mr. Hu Jianjun
is a son of Mr. Hu Hancheng (an executive Director and a substantial
Shareholder of the Company). Also, Mr. Hu Jianjun is a nephew of Mr.
Hu Hanchao (an executive Director and a substantial Shareholder of the
Company) and Mr. Hu Zheng (an executive Director and a controlling
Shareholder of the Company).

Mr. Tan Xijian (3% #5 ), aged 39, joined the Group in 2014. Mr. Tan is the
Executive Vice President of Paper Division of the Group. He is also the
alternative Director of the Company to Mr. Hu Hanchao. Mr. Tan was the
general manager in raw materials from 2014 to 2017 and was responsible
for the formulation of raw materials management and procurement
strategies of the Group. Prior to joining the Group, he had five years of
project planning. Mr. Tan obtained a degree in Business Administration
from Guangdong University of Technology in 2016. Mr. Tan Xijian is a
son-in-law of Mr. Hu Hanchao (an executive Director and a substantial
Shareholder of the Company). Also, Mr. Tan is a niece-in-law of Mr. Hu
Hancheng (an executive Director and a substantial Shareholder of the
Company) and Mr. Hu Zheng (an executive Director and a controlling
Shareholder of the Company).

Mr. Zeng Chunlai (& %& 7K), aged 49, joined the Group in 1999. Mr. Zeng
currently serves as the President of Packaging Division of the Group. Mr.
Zeng's previous positions in the Group include director of quality control,
director of business, director of sales, deputy general manager of sales,
and deputy general manager of operations, during which he led the
establishment of the Company’s quality control system and enhanced
the Company’s sales management system, sales costing and customer
management system. He has been involved in the development of a
customer base with various industry brands and has over 20 years of solid
marketing management experience. In 2017, Mr. Zeng was awarded
the Group's "Excellent Manager”. Mr. Zeng graduated from the School
of Mechanical and Electrical Engineering of Hunan University in 1996,
majoring in applied electronics.

Company Secretary

Ms. Jiang Ying ( /T # ), was appointed as the Company Secretary and
Authorized Representative of the Company on 31 March 2023. Ms. Jiang is
the Company Secretary and Finance Manager of the Company. Ms. Jiang
has around 10 years of experience in the corporate secretarial field. Ms.
Jiang is a Chartered Secretary, a Chartered Governance Professional and
an associate of both the Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and
the Chartered Governance Institute. Ms. Jiang holds a master’s degree of
Professional Accounting and Corporate Governance from City University
of Hong Kong and a master’s degree of New Media from The Chinese
University of Hong Kong.
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The Directors are pleased to present to the shareholders their report
together with audited consolidated financial statements of the Company
and its subsidiaries (together the "Group”) for the year ended 31
December 2023.

Principal Activities

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities
of the Group are manufacturing and sale of paper, paperboard and paper-
based packaging products. The principal activities of the subsidiaries are
set out in note 43 to the consolidated financial statements.

Results and Appropriations

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 and the
state of the Company’s and the Group's affairs as at that date are set out
in the consolidated financial statements on pages 64 to 173 of this annual
report.

The Directors now recommend the payment of a final dividend of RMB1.00
cents (equivalent to HKD1.10 cents) per share to the shareholders on
the register of members on 2 July 2024, amounting to approximately
RMB5,000,000. The dividend will be payable in HKD. The exchange rate
will be based on the opening indicative counter exchange rate (Buying TT
for RMB) as on 27 March 2024 (the date of audited annual results’ board
meeting of the Company) disclosed by The Hong Kong Association of
Banks.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
for the financial year under review are set out in note 17 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Share Capital
Details of movements in the share capital of the Company are set out in
note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

Distributable Reserves

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 December 2023, calculated
in accordance with the provision of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981,
amounted to RMB9,903,000.

Five-year Financial Summary
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the latest five financial years is set out on page 174 of this annual report.

Reserves
Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the year are set
out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity respectively.
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Purchase, Redemption or Sale of Listed Securities of
the Company

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities shares during the year
ended 31 December 2023.

Pre-emptive Rights

There are no pre-emptive under the Company Bye-laws, or the laws in
Bermuda which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-
rata basis to existing shareholders.

Tax Relief and Exemption
The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to the
Shareholders by reason of their holding the Company’s securities.

Management Contracts

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into
or existed during the Reporting Period.

Directors
The Directors of the Company during the year ended and up to the date of
this report were:

Mr. HU Zheng (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. HU Hancheng (Co-Chairman) (Mr. HU Jianjun as his alternate)
Mr. HU Hanchao (Mr. TAN Xijian as his alternate)

Mr. HU Jianpeng

Ms. Chen Wei (appointed on 25 August 2023)

Ms. HU Jianwen

Mr. CHUNG Kwok Mo John
Mr. LIEW Fui Kiang
Mr. SHIN Yick Fabian

The Company confirms that it has received from each of its independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of their independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the
“Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”), and it still considers that the independent non-executive
Directors are independent.
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Pursuant to Bye-Law 108 and Bye-Law 112 of the Company's Bye-Laws, Mr.
Hu Jianpeng (“Mr. Hu"), Ms. Chen Wei (“Ms. Chen"), Mr. Liew Fui Kiang
(“Mr. Liew") and Mr. Shin Yick Fabian (“Mr. Shin") shall retire from office
by rotation at the forthcoming AGM and, being eligible, offer themselves
was for re-election as Directors at the AGM.

Directors and Senior Management
The biographical details of Directors and Senior Management are set and
on pages 43 to 47 of this annual report.

Directors’ Service Contracts

The executive Directors namely, Mr. Hu Zheng, Mr. Hu Hancheng, Mr.
Hu Hanchao have renewed their service contracts with the Company for
a term of three years commencing from 1 January 2024. Mr. Hu Jianpeng
has entered into service contract with company for a term of three years
commencing from 8 February 2022. Ms. Chen Wei has entered into service
contract with Company for a term of three years commencing from 25
August 2023. Both are subject to termination by either party giving not less
than three months’ written notice to the other.

The non-executive Director, Ms. Hu Jianwen have been appointed for
a term of three years commencing 22 July 2023. Both are subject to
termination by either party giving not less than one month’s written notice
to the other.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors namely, Mr. Chung
Kwok Mo John, Mr. Liew Fui Kiang and Mr. Shin Yick Fabian have been
appointed for a term of one year commencing from 1 January 2023. Both
are subject to termination by either party giving not less than three months’
written notice to the other.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has a service
contract which is not determinable by the Group within one year without
payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

Permitted Indemnity Provision
As at the date of this report, all Directors of the Company were covered
under the liability insurance purchased by the Company for its Directors.

Emolument Policy

The emolument policies of the Directors and other employees are
formulated based on individual experience, qualification and over market
situation and are reviewed regularly, while the bonus is related to the
financial performance of the Group and the individual performance. The
Directors’ remunerations are subject to shareholders’ approval at general
meetings.
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The remuneration of the members of the senior management (excluding
Directors) by band for the year ended 31 December 2023 was set out
below:

WBE-Z-_=F+_A=1+—HILFERHFNEE D
BREEAB(TREES)FMEIIMT

Number of

individual

Remuneration band (RMB) HMAER (AR T) AE
0-500,000 0-500,000 1
500,001-1,000,000 500,001-1,000,000 18
1,000,001 1,000,001 1

Details of the Directors’ emolument and emoluments of the five highest
paid individuals in the Group are set at the notes 13 and 14 to consolidated
financial statements.

Director’s Interest in Contracts of Significance

Save as disclosed in the section headed “"Continuing Connected
Transactions” in this report and note 41 to the consolidated financial
statements, no Director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly,
in any contract of significance to the business of the Group to which
the Company, its holding companies, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party during the year under review.

Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares or Debentures

Save as disclosed under the sections headed “Directors’ and Chief
Executive’s Interests in the Securities of the Company or its Associated
Corporations” and “Share Award Scheme”, at no time during the year
were rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares or
debentures of the Company granted to any Director or their respective
spouses or minor children, or were any such rights exercised by them; or
was the Company, its holding companies, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire
such rights in any other body corporate.

EENFHEAEB R SSHATHFIFEERAGE
B mARMIZE13 %14 ©

EEREXSHNER
BAREHEMER S | — B REA B BREM T
BEES  EEHMERAMENARF - AIERARK
LA 8 23 ) 25 F) 2R B 6 2 154 ) R FE PO AT ST
AEBMEBBEANEG KT HEEA RS -

ESREROIEFEBHNEF

BTN EERERITRABRAR RS EEEEE R
B E i | N A BN 8] | D ERPT IR ER SN - (B E
ERREFR BNERBIARKFF AR FAGREER AR
BIBBAR QRN BT FEFIER] - ITRETTEER
ZEHEN - MARRE] - B AR EAEMHE A RHR
M E A RBER AR LS E R A NI EE
BESHERERN -

Annual Report 2023
—EC=FFR

Zhengye International Holdings Company Limited
EXEFRERBR AR



\ v 4

Directors’ Report
£ RoE e

Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests in the

Securities of the Company or Its Associated

Corporations

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of the directors

and chief executive(s) of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and

debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO"))
as recorded in the register kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of

the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange

pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of

Listed issuers contained in the Listing Rules were as follows:

Name of Directors

Name of Group member/

and Chief Executive associated corporation

Capacity/

Nature of interest

EERFETRAERARQAREEEEZE
MRS PR

RIBZ=F+ZRA=+—RH FARAREEFREBITHA
BN R B EEMEESEE (EE RGEF B
(IBHERBEMRG ) EXVED) W - RGO REHE
A ke s SOR R 7R RIE 38 77 M E 160 3 35216 Rt 8%
RARBFFFEECMA - ARE EWRAPTERN EH
BOTABFETEFRZNFEETARENEAR R RE
BBMARZPAERAR (B ELT

Approximate
percentage
of shareholding

Number and class of
securities (Note 1)

BEEKk
TETHAEHE AKEREQNF HEEIEEE B EmE BEHE RER (M) REMOBILE
Mr. Hu Zheng The Company Interest of controlled 191,250,000 ordinary shares of 38.25%
corporation (Note 2) HKDO0.10 each
EAIESTAE Z/NC] Rzt AEERE (MEE2) 191,250,000 G EE
0.10 Ty AR
Gorgeous Rich Development Beneficial owner 1 ordinary share of USD1.00 100%
Limited (“Gorgeous Rich") BmBEAA 1 BRTEI{E1.003E 7T 8 & i Ax
Mr. Hu Hancheng The Company Interest of controlled 93,750,000 ordinary shares of 18.75%
corporation (Note 3) HKDO.10 each
HERRSE A /NG| SEhEE R (FTRE3)  93,750,0000% & ik &
01078 TTHY & iR
Golden Century Assets Limited Beneficial owner 1 ordinary share of USD1.00 100%
("Golden Century”) EREEA 1 BEEE1.00FE T T B
Mr. Hu Hanchao The Company Interest of controlled 75,000,000 ordinary shares of 15%
corporation (Note 4) HKDO0.10 each
ERERASEE ZNNS R{rHAEES (HiEE4) 75,000,000 R EE
0.107% 7T Hy & ik
Leading Innovation Worldwide Beneficial owner 1 ordinary share of USD1.00 100%
Corporation (“Leading E=BEAA 1 AR EIE1.003E T HY) & AR
Innovation”)
Ms. Hu Jianwen The Company Beneficial owner (Note 5) 15,000,000 ordinary shares of 3%
HKDO0.10 each
Fil e EANG) i NI 15,000,000 fi% &A% (&
01078 T A B B AL
Fortune View Services Limited Interest of spouse 1 ordinary share of USD1.00 100%
(“Fortune View") FoiBiEs 1 BXE{E .00 ) B
Ms. Chen Wei The Company Beneficial owner 1,838,000 ordinary shares of 0.37%
HKDO0.10 each
BREZ L Z/NS] BEalEA 1,838,000 i & AXEI{EO.10/& 7T
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Notes:

1. All the interests stated above represent long positions. The percentage shown was
the number of shares the relevant directors or chief executive was interested in

expressed as a percentage of the number of issued shares as at 31 December 2023.

2. These shares were held by Gorgeous Rich, which was wholly owned by Mr. Hu
Zheng. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Hu Zheng was deemed to be interested in the
shares held by Gorgeous Rich.

3. These shares were held by Golden Century, which was wholly owned by Mr. Hu
Hancheng. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Hu Hancheng was deemed to be interested in
the shares held by Golden Century.

4. These shares were held by Leading Innovation, which was wholly owned by Mr. Hu
Hanchao. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Hu Hanchao was deemed to be interested in the

shares held by Leading Innovation.

5. These shares were held by Fortune View, which was wholly owned by Ms. Hu
Jianwen. By virtue of the SFO, Ms. Hu Jianwen was deemed to be interested in the
shares held by Fortune View.

Save as disclosed above, no other interest or short position in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 352 of the SFO.

Substantial Shareholders’ Interests in the Securities of
the Company

As at 31 December 2023, so far as are known to any directors or chief
executive(s) of the Company, the following parties (other than directors
or chief executive(s) of the Company) were recorded in the register kept
by the Company under section 336 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to
the Company, as being directly or indirectly interested or deemed to be
interested in 5% or more of the issued share capital of the Company.

MRE -

1. LTSS ATA - FIRBED L AEBEESNEZTERA
EMBEZNIERNER  WE-T-—=ZF+-A=+—HAD%
TTRMEBBEBAEDLER ©

2. Gorgeous Rich# A E M) - MEAESEE 2 &S Gorgeous
Rich < REE F K AIE GO - #41E 5 £ 18 A7 Gorgeous
RichFT# A BRI R o

3. Golden Century i B Z Efkty - MBEREELZEHES
Golden Century ° RIEEF REIE G - AR EEHR AR
Golden Century i B8R 5 HE B s o

4. Leading Innovationf5 B Z M1 - MIAEARELEREE
Leading Innovation © 1Ri% &% & ARG 6 - $AZER e EWAR
A Leading InnovationPT#A MR DS #Ea ©

5. Fortune View# Bz 5t - MiAfE =%+ 2 &% B Fortune
View © RI5E 5 M BAE G0 - AR Z 2 4R A Fortune
ViewFT B MR MDA S ©

BRIA_EFTRPTRERSN » AR RIBENA R R SRR EE
2Bty - MR RES - RIEGES BRI 352
GREEENARR B

FERRRA AT HEZWER

RIBEZ=F+-A=+—R #EAEFHEFRFELE
TTHRABMRA  THALCFEERARTERITHRAR)
BIRBE H R EGHIE 336G EN AR RIMFEER
A HEEMREAMG AR EERLEEER LR
REERREIDBITRAS% A EHIREE

Number and class of shares
held in the Company

Approximate
shareholding

Name of Shareholder Capacity/ Nature of interest percentage (Note 1) percentage
AL RIROEER IRREBEA
BRREHE B0, REREME A (MEE) AL
Gorgeous Rich (Note 2) Beneficial owner 191,250,000 ordinary shares of 38.25%
HKDO0.10 each
Gorgeous Rich(Fff5£2) EmEA A 191,250,000/ B IR E &
0.108 TR & iAAR
Ms. Li Lifen (Note 2) Interest of spouse 191,250,000 ordinary shares of 38.25%

FEE L+ (ME2) L

HKDO0.10 each
191,250,000/% = I &
0.10/8 TRy A
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Number and class of shares
held in the Company

Approximate
shareholding

Name of Shareholder Capacity/ Nature of interest percentage (Note 1) percentage
A ARRGBE R IRAEREA
REREHE B HmitE I (A=) R
Golden Century (Note 3) Beneficial owner 93,750,000 ordinary shares of 18.75%
HKDO.10 each
Golden Century(Hf7£3) E=mfEAA 93,750,0008% & fX &
01078 TL Y 3B
Ms. Li Siyuan (Note 3) Interest of spouse 93,750,000 ordinary shares of 18.75%
HKDO.10 each
FBRE(MEE3) [ 1 93,750,000 & A E &
0. 10 T A B A%
Leading Innovation (Note 4) Beneficial owner 75,000,000 ordinary shares of 15.00%
HKDO.10 each
Leading Innovation (Ff15F4) [kt TSN 75,000,000/% FAR E{E
0.108 TR & Rk
Ms. He Lijuan (Note 4) Interest of spouse 75,000,000 ordinary shares of 15.00%
HKDO.10 each
A Re#E 2z + (Fft5t4) iRk 75,000,000/% & IR EI{E
0.108 TTHY & iRk
RAYS Capital Partners Limited (Note 5) Investment manager/Beneficial owner/ 47,542,000 ordinary shares of 9.50%
Interest of controlled corporation HKDO.10 each
RAYS Capital Partners Limited (Pf3E5) BEEIE " BREAN ZENEE 47,542,0008 F AR EE
fEm 0.10/8 7T H) & i A
Mr. Ruan David Ching-chi (Note 6) Interest of controlled corporation 47,542,000 ordinary shares of 9.50%
HKDO0.10 each
Ruan David Ching-chi %t 4 (Hi5E6) REGEEE R 47,542,0000% F R E(E
0.10/8 LY & 3B
Asian Equity Special Opportunities Beneficial owner 46,516,000 ordinary shares of 9.30%

Portfolio Master Fund Limited (Note 5)

HKDO0.10 each
46,516,000 &% EE
0.1078 TRy E A

Asian Equity Special Opportunities Ema A

Portfolio Master Fund Limited(Fff5£5)
Notes: Fi5E
1. All the interests stated above represent long positions. The percentage shown was

the number of shares in the Company that the relevant director of chief executive
was interested in expressed as a percentage of the number of issued shares in the
Company as at 31 December 2023.

1. LA SIS RER - FIRE DL ARABCREREZNA
RNERHEE M —E - =F+ - A=+ —BEARREDET
BOBEBDLLERR

Zhengye International Holdings Company Limited
IEREBFIE AR AR
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2. Gorgeous Rich is wholly-owned by Mr. Hu Zheng. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Hu
Zheng was deemed to be interested in the shares held by Gorgeous Rich. Ms. Li
Lifen is the spouse of Mr. Hu Zheng. Under the SFO, Ms. Li Lifen was taken to be

interested in the same number of shares in which Mr. Hu Zheng was interested.

3. Golden Century is wholly-owned by Mr. Hu Hancheng. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Hu
Hancheng was deemed to be interested in the shares held by Golden Century. Ms.
Li Si Yuan is the spouse of Mr. Hu Hancheng. Under the SFO, Ms. Li Si Yuan was
taken to be interested in the same number of shares in which Mr. Hu Hancheng was

interested.

4. Leading Innovation is wholly-owned by Mr. Hu Hanchao. By virtue of the SFO, Mr.
Hu Hanchao was deemed to be interested in the shares held by Leading Innovation.
Ms. He Lijuan is the spouse of Mr. Hu Hanchao. Under the SFO, Ms. He Lijuan was
taken to be interested in the same number of shares in which Mr. Hu Hanchao was

interested.

5. Asian Equity Special Opportunities Portfolio Master Fund Limited ("Asian Equity”)
is wholly-owned by RAYS Capital Partners Limited. Therefore, RAYS Capital Partners
Limited is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by Asian Equity.

6. The shares in RAYS Capital Partners Limited is held by Ruan David Ching-chi.
Therefore, he is deemed interested in all the Shares held by RAYS Capital Partners
Limited.

Save as disclosed above, no other interest or short position in the shares or
underlying shares in the Company were recorded in the Register.

Share Award Scheme

The Company has adopted a share award scheme (the “Share Award
Scheme”) with a primary purpose of motivating our employees and
other eligible persons entitled under the Share Award Scheme to further
contribute to the Group and to reward them for their contribution to the
Group.

On 26 June 2019, the Board of Directors resolved to grant a total of
4,214,000 shares of the Company to 101 Selected Participants, who are
employees and independent of the Company pursuant to the Share Award
Scheme. Details of the grant to Selected Participants are as follows:

Number of Awarded Shares
RHOBE

Name of Participants

SHEEZBER

2. HHIE %o 4 2 B Gorgeous Rich © IRIEEH L EE KD - $1E
S 348 AR Gorgeous RichFT#F MR MG R - ZBH
T R/PELRENRS - RIBEEFFRBAEED - TBF LT
EERIBEEEEARRNERSE RO P EF#ER -

3. EHZFR L2 BB A Golden Century © IRIFES K EAE KA -
EHIZFR S AR AN Golden CenturyFii B MR DB R -
FREZLTR/AEREENRS - BRIBESHRBAEEA - =8
B LR EERNAERE AR RENAREE RN HEER

5o

4. HRZERASE 4 2 B Leading Innovation © 1R 5 ﬁ&ﬁﬁfﬂ*
Bl - B2 FA ST £ AR AR Leading Innovation FTHF A #I AR (0 #
B o ABIRZ T RBERLENRS - *ETF%%&H\HEM
Bl - AIRBIR L T4 B VER IR ERR St A E A R VAR 2B AR 1)
hEE R o

5. Asian Equity Special Opportunities Portfolio Master Fund
Limited ([ Asian Equity ]) FIRAYS Capital Partners Limited %
AHA o EIt - RAYS Capital Partners Limitedt® A% 5 Asian
Equity PRk (D B 2 B0 M AR ©

6. Ruan David Ching-chi5t4#5 G RAYS Capital Partners Limited
ffn o FEIL - %R A% B RAYS Capital Partners LimitedFfT
B ) 2 ED RS

Br iR ERSD - BEEE A R RIS BT AAREEZ B RO AR -
R EREN D SORBFNZELCMA -

B 12 SRt &
ARRIEIRAR A R8I ([RGB E ) - T2EW
EFEBIRGD EEETEABE T REMAERAL - I’ E
UAREENER - RAREFBENERG T B -

R-ZE—NEXNAZ+HRE EEERBIRBERG ZEE
ZIMA101 8538 £ 2 BE IR 1 AR A]4 $£4,214,0000% 3% (5
ZELMERBRERBINAAR - MIRTELEER I
B -

Vesting Date
FEAS

101 Selected Participants
10MBEESEE

4,214,000 Shares
4,214,0008% A% 1%

This Share Award Scheme was adopted on 23 April 2019 (the "Adoption
Date”). Unless otherwise cancelled or amended, the Share Award Scheme
will remain in force for 10 years from the Adoption Date. As at the year
ended 31 December 2023, the remaining life of the Share Award Scheme is
approximately five years.

On 26 June 2019
RZZE—NFARAZ+AH

ZETEN - NAFHAZ+=H(RABH DERD - B
FESTTHURSAER] - & RIRR A0 22BhET 8IS d BR Ak B HAAE —
BEAY Rt F -#HE_T_=—F+_A=1+—HL%F
B ZETEIRIGEROATE -
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The 4,214,000 Awarded Shares to be granted to the Selected Participants
represent (i) approximately 0.84% of the total number of shares of the
Company in issue as at the date of the announcement on 26 June 2019;
and (ii) the value of HKD5,183,220, taking into account of the average
closing price of HKD1.23 per Share as stated in the daily quotation sheets
issued by the Stock Exchange for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant.

The maximum number of shares which may be awarded to an employee
selected under the Scheme is 1 per cent.

Further details of the Scheme are set out in note 42 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Details of the interests of executive Directors, Chief Executive Officer five
top-paid employees (include Chief Executive Officer) (total) in the year 2023
and other grantees (total) in the Awarded Shares are set out below.

ANFHEI[A)E E 2 H2E 1% H 894,214, 00005 SEED AR 19 F0 & 7 ()
RRABRZZE—NEANA =+ NBASEBHZEBTRD
AEI#10.84% ¢ M (i) E{E5,183,220/8 7T (At M B FE
HEAAT RE % 2 B A T8 2 B A MER R FHK
MESREM1.2387T) »

el ER2E AR RS ER1%

BRI BI0E — SR BN R A M RA M iE42 -

BRARPNTES TRERLE T _=—FESSH
Bife B (BIRTTHAEEL) (A 25 REMERA (S ) MR
BinrESFBEINMT -

Number of shares
ot €]
Shares
acquired
during
Number of Asat the year Vested Sold Lapsed Asat
Awarded  Vesting 1January  outof the during during during 31 December
Date of award Shares  period 2023 dividends the year the year the year 2023
EAFA Hoe-zg
RZBZZF  REMBAE t=A
#ERH SERGYE BTN -§-8  HER  EREF  EAME  EAKM Z1-E
Executive Director
#178%
Ms. Chen Wei (appointed as 26 June 2019 152000 26 June 2019 152,000 - - - - 152,000
executive Director on
25 August 2023)
REZt(R=%F== ZENEAAZTAE ZENEAAZTRE
JAZTHRZEANTES)
Five Top-paid Employees 26 June 2019 168,000 26 June 2019 168,000 - - - - 168,000
(exclude Executive Director)
TERNBEERHHES ZT-NERAZTAR “T-NERAZTAR
(TafEnTES)
Other Selected Employees 26 June 2019 3736000 26 June 2019 3,736,000 - - 152,000 - 3,584,000
Hit\RER “T-NERAZTAR “T-NERAZTAR

Zhengye International Holdings Company Limited
EXBIBRERERAF]
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The Board may, from time to time and at its sole discretion, select any
eligible person to participate in the Share Award Scheme and determine
the number of Shares to be awarded and the terms and conditions of
the awards. Awards shall be satisfied by Shares acquired in the market at
the prevailing market price and no new Shares will be allotted and issued
under the Share Award Scheme. The trustee of the Share Award Scheme
(the “Trustee”) shall hold the awarded shares on trust for the award
holders until the awarded Shares are vested in the relevant award holders
according to the Share Award Scheme rules. Upon vesting, the Trustee
shall either transfer the vested awarded Shares at no cost to such award
holders or sell the vested awarded Shares at the then prevailing market
price by way of market order and remit the net proceeds to the award
holders in accordance with the direction given by such award holders.

The Board will constantly review and determine at its absolute discretion
such number of Awarded Shares to be awarded to the selected persons
under the Share Award Plan with such vesting conditions as the Board may
deem appropriate.

Equity-linked Agreements

Other than the Share Award Scheme of the Company as disclosed above,
no equity-linked agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing
shares or that require the Company to enter into any agreements that
will or may result in the Company issuing shares were entered into by the
Company during the year.

Connected Transactions

Certain related party transactions as disclosed in note 41 to the
consolidated financial statements also constituted connected transactions
under the Listing Rules, and are required to be disclosed in accordance
with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Continuing Connected Transactions

Under the de minimis provision set forth in Rule 14A.33 of the Listing Rules
and is therefore exempt from reporting, announcement and independent
shareholders’ approval.

Charitable Donations
During the Reporting Period, the Group made charitable donations of
RMB1,021,000.

Corporate Governance
Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set out in the
Corporate Governance Report of the annual report.

S THZERRRNBEREERTARERALLSHE
e dn B2 AT &) B B TE R T OB BB A R ERBY RO 53
fERiF - EERDI AR B By BN T 5 LB B M (D B i
TERBAD R BIRCHE R BT © D 22
AEMZFEA(ZREADEBUEEDARERFBEARE
BB - EERBRNDRERD EEFIRNEETH
RERRAARL - NEBE - XRARRRZSRET
BAELOETR  HERBZEBRNLEERETREE
BIFAEA  SRmELRERRITZMERNECRE L
BBV AD WK PSR FREN TRBIFAA -

=g/ TERS M2 ERIBEERERD ZREBIRE
FEURERARENARRBIRITHAEEALRENE
REBRNEE -

R R 9 175

B EXFTR BRI A AR EEENAT &) - AR RIRIRE BN
FIM BN E PRFETAREABDGZ - MG SR
BEARAIETRD - REANRBF LMK E LA
BEANRRIEITRMD O o

BREXS
B mE M A TR BN E TREH R B RE EHRA
IMERRIER S - BB ETRBIE AT T UARKE -

HERERS
ETRAE14ABENREBR R BT - AMEHR RS
s BB BT ALAE

ZEBEX

NREHIAR - REBZZHBHRAKRE,021,0007T ©

EARRNFEENAFREEE
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Mode Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix C3 of
the Listing Rules. All the Directors of the Company have confirmed that
they have complied with the required standards set out in the Model Code
during the year ended 31 December 2023.

Major Customers and Suppliers

In the year under review, 21.02% of the Group's revenue was attributable
to the Group's five largest customers and sales to the Group's largest
customer accounted for 8.57% of the Group's revenue for the year. 53.57%
of the Group's total purchases was attributable to the Group's five largest
supplier and purchases from the Group's largest supplier accounted for
22.19% of the Group is total purchases.

None of the Directors, their associates or shareholders, who to the
knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s share
capital, had an interest in these major customers or suppliers.

Directors’ Interests in Competing Business

During the year, no Directors of the Company or their respective associates
(as defined in the Listing Rules) were considered to have an interest in
a business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the business of the Group, other than those businesses
of which the Directors were authorised to represent the interests of the
Company and/or the Group.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a sufficient
public float during the year and up to the date of this report under the
Listing Rules.

Auditor

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu who retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-appointment at the AGM.

By order of the Board

Hu Zheng
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 March 2024

EEETEFRZNEESTA

ARRERM EHRAIM R CIFMM LD BEITAEEE
TRFRSOBETAERESETES R BNORTT
8l - @ARRAMZBES(FLARENE  REHERE
E-F-CF+- A=+ BIFEEETEETRIN
BT LR -

FREEFRHKER

REBEEE AEEIAEPEEAEE RGN
21.02% + RAASEZEATPELMBEEREARER
REFWHB.57% » AEE R AMIE R FE(E AN B AR
FBERM53.57% - ERAAKB&AHEREIELAREBRG
RE B BIRIERRR22.19% ©
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Deloitte

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

ZHENGYE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED
EXBEBRZERER AR

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Zhengye
International Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “the Group”) set out on pages 64
to 173, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in
equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.
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Key audit matter
RRETER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BEEEFNPIIREBREENSE

Impairment assessment of trade receivables not backed by bank bills and contract assets

BROTRBARENEZBRFARESHNEENRETE

We identified the impairment assessment of trade receivables
not backed by bank bills and contract assets as a key audit matter
due to the management’s judgment and estimates involved in
determining the provision for expected credit loss (“ECL").
EERBRTREBA/RENE S RKFIENA N EEMNRERT HE5
RERESEE  DARNEERMCEEFE( BHEEBEDREY
NERE A R AtET o

As disclosed in notes 4 and 39 to the consolidated financial
statements, the ECL on trade receivables not backed by bank
bills and contract assets is assessed individually for debtors and
contract assets with significant balances or credit-impaired and/
or collectively using a provision matrix with appropriate groupings
based primarily on the debtors’ ageing profiles. The provision rates
applied in the provision matrix are estimated using the historical
observed default rates of the debtors and contract assets taking
into consideration forward-looking information that is reasonable,
supportable and available to the directors of the Company without
undue costs or effort, and are updated if considered to be required.
AR A TS IRR M FEARIOMIKE - MERTRIBREENE HE
WHRIER G HEEMS - BRAAREEGSKEREERERNRT R
BREE  HHEEBEGUEBFA R SERFEENEBAR
HREREEE S AN B EREN SR ETHE - BEREMEA
BEE - DAABEEENERNENEEENE  FTRARRES
BATE NV ENKASE NI ERNSEARE(AELEBR
TR RIRITIE I B R 1T (kT ©

As disclosed in notes 21 & 23 to the consolidated financial
statements, the carrying amount of trade receivables not backed
by bank bills and contract assets as at 31 December 2023, are
RMB384,586,000 (net of allowance for credit losses of RMB3,264,000)
and RMB10,824,000 (net of allowance for credit losses of nil),
respectively.

MANAR S TSR M T2 R23FAHE R =F+=-A=+—
B BROTZBEAEENESRINFERSHNEENREED RIAA
R #384,586,0007T (FFR 5 E B 1E 5 AR #3,264,0007T) B A R #&
10,824,000 THBEEBEREERT) -

Zhengye International Holdings Company Limited
IEEBFIEA R AR

Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessment of the
trade receivables not backed by bank bills and contract assets
included:
EERBRITEBREENE S RIFIEANE K EERREE
FrETTIZ P B4

o Obtaining an understanding of the management process
in assessing the estimated provision for ECL for trade
receivables not backed by bank bills and contract assets;

. THREBEHNERTEBREENE ZRUFIERA L
BEMEEREEEENAHEENERF

J Evaluating the reasonableness of the management'’s
determination of the estimated loss rates (with reference
to historical default rates, internal credit rating, and
publicly available forward-looking information);

. MEERELLERAROE ANEENRRARAIE
AT ERARE A EEERR TSR

o Testing the accuracy of the ageing analysis of the trade
receivables not backed by bank bills on a sample basis to
the supporting documents;

s  HMBEREXRXM  REERTREBREENEZEUGK
TRHERER DT HOZERE ML

o Checking the accuracy of the management’s calculation
of ECL for trade receivables not backed by bank bills and
contract assets under provision matrix;

s MEERERERTEBEREENEZRKFIEARGHE
EREEEERE A TR EE R A RN ;

o Evaluating the historical accuracy of estimated provision
for ECL for trade receivables not backed by bank bills and
contract assets.

o  MABEHIUERTEBER/ARENEZRKFIARGLNE
EEP A ET R A ZERE I -
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Other Information
The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and Those Charged with
Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

J Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B8 A% B A

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the

Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Stephen C. L. Yuen.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

27 March 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

Ao 18 g A CHCA 4 T 2 R

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE—_Z_=—F+-_A=+—HILFE

2023 2022
—E-=E —E-F
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
BoaE AR¥T T AREETTT
Revenue I ON 5 2,390,517 3,013,957
Cost of sales SHEKA (2,120,521) (2,672,227)
Gross profit EAH 269,996 341,730
Other income Hablg A 7 83,835 138,337
Impairment losses reversed under expected credit  1RIETEHIE BB IBIERGTHRBE
loss model, net E518 55 8 419 2,146
Other gains and losses HAbYes &5 1E 9 (2,047) (4,343)
Distribution and selling expenses DIENIHEER (86,334) (92,103)
Administrative expenses TR (138,972) (131,637)
Finance costs BbE RS 10 (52,434) (59,600)
Other expenses H R < (1,906) (1.275)
Research and development costs 3R (90,235) (116,388)
(Loss) profit before tax BrEE AT (BB ) im A 11 (17,678) 76,867
Income tax credit (expense) iR e () 12 836 (8,263)
(Loss) profit and total comprehensive (expense) FR(ER) SN2 ) s
income for the year Fkc) (16,842) 68,604
(Loss) profit and total comprehensive (expense) AT ATEIESFEA(EER) & &
income for the year attributable to: ZHE (B ) i ss
Owners of the Company RABEER A (17,553) 47,167
Non-controlling interests FEFEAR 711 21,437
(16,842) 68,604
(Loss) earnings per share FHIR(EE) BT
Basic (RMB) ER(ARETT) 16 (0.04) 0.09

Zhengye International Holdings Company Limited
EXBIBRERERAF]

Annual Report 2023
T ZFFER



> T,
\ ¥

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

SR e R DL R
At 31 December 2023
RZZEZ=F+=-RA=+—H

2023 2022
—E-=F T
NOTES RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5T ARET T ARET T
Non-current Assets EREBEE
Property, plant and equipment L E NN 17 1,387,695 1,370,453
Right-of-use assets ERERE 18 165,758 174,010
Intangible assets EREE 19 13,772 12,616
Deferred tax assets BT IEEE 31 1,046 335
Deposits for acquisition of property, plant and W% - BB MR ERSE
equipment 26,655 31,037
1,594,926 1,588,451
Current Assets REBEE
Inventories =8 20 205,308 228,353
Trade and other receivables B 5 Rk E AW IE 21 833,939 805,278
Contract assets BHEE 23 10,824 9,377
Tax recoverable A [l IE 196 8,348
Pledged bank deposits BERRITIFR 24 93,340 64,016
Bank balances and cash RITHEBRIRS 24 253,915 279,840
1,397,522 1,395,212
Current Liabilities REBAE
Trade and other payables B 5 R H A ERRIE 25 428,982 356,910
Consideration payables FERHR(E 26 - 5,809
Tax liabilities RIEaE 555 2,219
Bank and other borrowings RITREAD I 27 802,506 870,919
Lease liabilities HEAE 28 4,539 5,119
Contract liabilities GHEE 29 10,133 7,158
Amounts due to directors JERNZEERIE 30 94,168 46,746
1,340,883 1,294,880
Net Current Assets REEERE 56,639 100,332
Total Assets Less Current Liabilities BEABRABAS 1,651,565 1,688,783

Annual Report 2023
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

R A IR L SR

At 31 December 2023
RZE_=F+=A=+—H

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
NOTES RMB’000 RMB'000

f AR¥T ARET T

Capital and Reserves EAXR G
Share capital [N 32 41,655 41,655
Share premium and reserves Rt e 18 I (b 4 1,047,381 1,072,034
Equity attributable to owners of the Company ZiN/NEE? ¥ DN (o 2o 1,089,036 1,113,689
Non-controlling interests FEFERR R RS 281,602 288,867
Total Equity TS 1,370,638 1,402,556

Non-current Liabilities FkRBEE
Deferred tax liabilities REFIBEEE 31 4,989 6,087
Amounts due to directors BN EEHIA 30 - 44,640
Bank and other borrowings RIT R EAMETK 27 219,556 183,266
Lease liabilities HEaE 28 23,001 25,915
Deferred income EIEWA 34 33,381 26,319
280,927 286,227
1,651,565 1,688,783

The consolidated financial statements on pages 64 to 173 were approved BEEER - _NFE=F —+-tHIENRRET é
and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 27 March 2024 and ~ F173BHIGAMERE - WHATATRASEE
are signed on its behalf by:

Hu Zheng Hu Hancheng
HIE HHER
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
EF EF
Zhengye International Holdings Company Limited Annual Report 2023
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

S2 g4

G

i 5 B 2

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_Z_=F+-A=T—HItFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

FRAERAES

Non-
Share Share  Statutory Other  Retained controlling
capital  premium reserve reserve profits ~ Sub-total interests Total
BE  RORE AERE HERE @& Nt FERER ot
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARBTT ARETR ARKETT ARETT
(note a) (note b)
(Bwa)  (MiEEb)
At 1 January 2022 RZE-_—F—-f—H 41,655 92,968 142,200 (23,389) 858,088 1,111,522 270,430 1,381,952
Profit and total comprehensive FERNREAKESE
income for the year = = = = 47 167 47 167 21,437 68,604
Dividend paid (note 15) EARRRE (FiFH15) - - - - (45,000) (45,000) = (45,000)
Dividend paid to non-controlling ERFEERRRR S
interests - - - - - - (3,000) (3,000)
Transfer to statutory reserve ERSLTHE = = 3,282 = (3.282) - - -
At 31 December 2022 RZZEZZF+ZA=1—H 41,655 92,968 145,482 (23,389) 856973 1,113,689 288,867 1,402,556
(Loss) profit and total comprehensive 4 [& (&518)&H R 2HE(FZ)
(expense) for the year k) = - = = (17,553) (17,553) 71 (16,842)
Capital contribution from FERBRERLE
non-controlling interests - - - - - - 4,407 4,407
Dividend paid (note 15) ERRE(HFE15) - - = = (7,100) (7,100) = (7,100)
Dividend paid to non-controlling BEIFHERIRRR S
interests - - - - - - (12,383) (12,383)
Transfer to statutory reserve ERRLTERHE - = 2,754 - (2,754) - = =
At 31 December 2023 RZZ==%+-fA=+—H 41,655 92,968 148,236 (23,389) 829,566 1,089,036 281,602 1,370,638
Notes: Bt -

In accordance with the relevant laws and regulations of the Peoples’ Republic of
China (the “PRC"), the subsidiaries established in the PRC are required to provide
for the PRC statutory reserve, by way of appropriations from their respective
statutory net profit (based on the subsidiaries’ PRC statutory financial statements)
but before dividend distributions.

In accordance with the Articles of Association of certain subsidiaries established in
the PRC, those subsidiaries are required to transfer 10% of the profit after taxation

to the statutory reserve.

Certain subsidiaries’ appropriations to the funds are made at the discretion of the
subsidiaries’ board of directors. The board of directors of the subsidiaries shall
decide on the amounts to be appropriated based on the profitability of each

subsidiary each year.

The amount mainly relates to reserve arising from group reorganisation carried out
by the Group in preparation for the public listing of the Company’s shares on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) in 2011.

(a)

Bz E ARLMBE([HEDABERER - R BERIZAH
B A BARIKERSIEBR N RES B REEMAN(ERZ
FYE R~ B BUATE B 75 3R 3R ) B ep BUAE R (RS -

RIBA R BRI A S THE A R ESKEZAEA
FRBERBRRENA10% THEERHE

ETHBRARSESNERAZMBRARNESTSHIBEL -
ERRARBEFRMNBARMNBNENHER TRNNS
e

ZERTBEREER —_T——FEREARBABRMORELHS
RPABRAR([BRA]) EiETTRESEMEE#EHA
@ -
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

EEHESRER

For the year ended 31 December 2023

Fo=Ft+-A=1+—RALFE

2023 2022
—E-=E —E-F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T
OPERATING ACTIVITIES mEER
(Loss) profit before tax BrEE AT (BB )= A (17,678) 76,867
Adjustments for: AT EIEEL A
Finance costs BhE PR A 52,434 59,600
Interest income FBUTA (4,318) (3,731)
Impairment losses reversed on trade and other B 5 N B A IR E R R
receivables, net FRE (419) (2,146)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment M - BB RREBITE 108,243 109,278
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE 10,958 15,370
Amortisation of intangible assets B 3,106 2,313
Loss on disposals of property, plant and HEME - WE KX EEE
equipment, net HEE 1,381 817
Exchange gain on borrowings fﬁt”EEE’JERW - (1,928)
Government grants amortised from AR FE A B B ) IS AT 460 B
deferred income (3,400) (12,110)
Operating cash flows before movements in LEEREPHHLEHEENE
working capital 150,307 244,330
Decrease (increase) in inventories FERA(E) 20,433 (12,441)
Increase in trade and other receivables B 5 & E At FE U SR IR N 310,254 (89,379)
(Increase) decrease in contract assets EBHEEGEM)RL (1,447) 6,173
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 [ EL A RTRIR G AN 77,264 18,808
Increase (decrease) in contract liabilities EHEEEMCHRD) 2,975 (867)
Increase (decrease) in amounts due to directors ERESFIEE INORL) 2,782 (197)
Cash (used in) generated from operations CEER(FTR)BIRE 292,284 166,427
Income tax refunded (paid) RO (B FTERH 5,515 (17,665)
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM REXE(FIA) MBRSFEHE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES 297,798 148,762

Zhengye International Holdings Company Limited
EXBIBRERERAF]
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

mm/\ﬂ%ﬂibm§§%§

For the  year ended 31 December 2023

SER o

BlE_—

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest received
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant
and equipment
Purchases of property, plant and equipment
Purchases of intangible assets
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, plant
and equipment
Net cash outflow on acquisition of a subsidiary
Consideration paid for acquisition of a subsidiary
Placement of pledged bank deposits
Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits
Receipt of government grant relating to
non-current assets

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Interest paid

Dividend paid

Dividend paid to non-controlling interests
Repayment of bank and other borrowings
Repayments of lease liabilities

New bank and other borrowings raised

Capital contribution from non-controlling interests

NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
At 1 January

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
At 31 December
represented by bank balances and cash

Annual Report 2023
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REXK
BEHAE
HEME - BERRIBAEHOR

BEME  BFELRE
BEELEE
BEWE  BFEEREAYZE

Wb —FEIFY B 2 B3R £ R
Wl — R B A BIPAHR(E

F AR HEIFRITIFR

H i B IR IR T IR

WERE BAFER B B B 2 BT FB ARG

REXK AR ESEE

BE R

ERHME

EffRE

B IHERBIR A S
BRIRTT R E AR AR
EEEERE
FriEIRTT R E AR AR TR
IR B RS A

RMEXEBHRERSFE

RERBREEEWORD) 80
T

RORRLEHEY
#—A—H

BERREZEY
B“+=—A=+—H
BURTTHE S RIS

2023
—ZE==

NOTES RMB’000
B aE AR¥TT

4,318

404
(102,073)
(1,241)

(26,655)

35 -
26 (5,930)
(228,913)

199,589

10,462

(150,039)

(52,313)
(7,100)
(12,383)
(708,868)
(5,891)
1,027,035
4,407

244,887

(25,925)

279,840

253,915

2022
—E-F
RMB'000
AREETTT

3,731

18,758
(152,328)
(1,604)

(31,037
(94,448
(5,940
(149,609
177,961

)
)
)
)

794

(233,722)

(59,350)
(45,000)
(3,000)
(813,018)
(10,543)
1,066,130

135,219

50,259

229,581

279,840

Zhengye International Holdings Company Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

»ﬂ‘ Zh’%*&i% Igﬁ nJI_

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_Z_=F+-A=T—HItFE

General Information

The Company is incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company
with limited liability and its shares are listed on the Stock Exchange.
The addresses of the registered office and principal place of business
of the Company are disclosed in the corporate information section to
the annual report.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. Mr. Hu
Zheng, Mr. Hu Hancheng, Mr. Hu Hanchao and Ms. Hu Jianwen,
who collectively own 75% of the Company’s shares in aggregate and
act in concert, are regarded as the controlling shareholders of the
Company.

The principal activities of its subsidiaries are mainly engaged in
manufacture and sale of paper, paperboard and paper-based
packaging products. The Company and its subsidiaries are
hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi
("RMB"), the currency of the primary economic environment in which
the Company and its principal subsidiaries operate.

Application of New and Amendments to Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“"HKFRSs")

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") for the first time, which
are mandatorily effective for the Group's annual period beginning
on 1 January 2023 for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements:

HKFRS 17 (including the October /nsurance Contracts
2020 and February 2022
Amendments to HKFRS 17)

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a

Amendments to HKAS 12

Single Transaction
Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform — Pillar
Two model Rules
Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS Practice

Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

—RRFH
ARRA/RBERETMRILNEREBRAF
BN TABE SR P LT o AR FIEMEEI I R 2
BRI O HEAFRT AR EREOWE

RAFR—FIREBEERADF  tAIESLE - SHERSL
£ ERRAERBRZ/ MR AREEALRA
T5S%IRRL B —HITEAL » WRASERRBHERR
o

ARBNMBRREZRELEERHER  BRE
MHBRER - AARNREKBA TEATX,MW%
[Z&ME] -

REMBRETINARBE(TARE]DIIE - AR%
RARARREEMB LR EEMENTELERE
B o

EREENBHREE(EFBMBERE
R |) 3ET RAERT A&

AEE AEEBEXEANTHESSTMAS
(THKICPA |) 7815 1) & 7 Bf 7% 3 & 22 Al 3 5] R A8
3 R=ZT==F— A — AFRNFE RS 4
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A B R T
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-_Z-_=F+-A=1+—HItFE

Application of New and Amendments to Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“"HKFRSs")
(Continued)

Except as described below, the application of the new and
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material
impact on the Group's financial positions and performance for the
current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax
related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the
current year. The amendments narrow the scope of the recognition
exemption of deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets in
paragraphs 15 and 24 of HKAS 12 Income Taxes so that it no longer
applies to transactions that, on initial recognition, give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences.

In accordance with the transition provision:

(i)  the Group has applied the new accounting policy
retrospectively to leasing transactions and provisions for
decommissioning and restoration that occurred on or after 1
January 2022;

(i)  the Group also, as at 1 January 2022, recognised a deferred tax
asset (to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary difference
can be utilised) and a deferred tax liability for all deductible
and taxable temporary difference associated with right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities.

The application of the amendments has had no material impact on
the Group's financial position and performance.

EREENBHREE(EFBMBRE
R |) 3ET RAERT A (48)

BT PratE SN - RAFEE BRI REETER
B mEERNE A EBRAFEE FBEFENTB
HKARKRK, St ERa B HRRAREEER
WEBEBRTE -

EREREENEI12R (BN HE-RZEE
HNEER S ERBEELERIEN R
AEBENAFEERERZFEA - ZFER]
R E R G TR B 25025 5515 R 24 R AT
BBREMECHBEE HRARRHEWRE - (£
H A BB R R ) 2 FE R A B A2 A8 5 FE SRR S AT 41
WERIEER RS -

RBBR IR :

() AEECEPEAFTESTRREZLER_F
——HF A HIZENHER S RFRR
RIR A -

iy MZE-_—_F—F—B AEEIESHAE
HFAEEERAEAERBRO RN RE
A ET R B — HIRE R I A (AR
BB FEER B FE AT A A0 AT S0 03, B A 2
BEER)R—BEERIEAE -

RNERERZFERT BRSBTS
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Annual Report 2023
—E_=FFR

Zhengye International Holdings Company Limited
EXERFEEARAT



\ v 4

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A B R T
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-_Z-_=F+-A=1+—HItFE

Application of New and Amendments to Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“"HKFRSs")
(Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS
Practice Statement 2 Disclosure of Accounting Policies

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the
current year. HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements is
amended to replace all instances of the term “significant accounting
policies” with “material accounting policy information”. Accounting
policy information is material if, when considered together with
other information included in an entity’s financial statements, it can
reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary users
of general purpose financial statements make on the basis of those
financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy information may
be material because of the nature of the related transactions, other
events or conditions, even if the amounts are immaterial. However,
not all accounting policy information relating to material transactions,
other events or conditions is itself material. If an entity chooses to
disclose immaterial accounting policy information, such information
must not obscure material accounting policy information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements (the
“Practice Statement”) is also amended to illustrate how an entity
applies the “four-step materiality process” to accounting policy
disclosures and to judge whether information about an accounting
policy is material to its financial statements. Guidance and examples
are added to the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments has had no material impact on
the Group's financial positions and performance but has affected the
disclosure of the Group's accounting policies set out in note 3 to the
consolidated financial statements.

EREENBHREE(EFBMBRE
R |) 3ET RAERT A (48)

EREBEERFINREENBREENER
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ZEERATER - @EZTHRALTEAX - B
KRS - EMEEXBERZMEE - SFBERE
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EREEREIFEASHBREN - AIBHEHRT
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A E [ AT EZ M RIR B AR & 5T BUR R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A B R T
For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-_Z_=—F+-_A=+—HILFE

Application of New and Amendments to Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs")
(Continued)

The Group has not early applied the following amendments to
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28
Venture'
Amendments to HKFRS 16
Amendments to HKAS 1

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback?®

Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current and related amendments
to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants?

Amendments to HKAS 7 and Supplier Finance Arrangements?
HKFRS 7
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability®

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2024.
9 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2025.

Except for the amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below, the
directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all
other amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_Z_=F1+-A=T—HItFE

Application of New and Amendments to Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs")

(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as

Current or Non-current and related amendments to Hong

Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (the “2020 Amendments”) and
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
(the “2022 Amendments”)

The 2020 Amendments provide clarification and additional guidance
on the assessment of right to defer settlement for at least twelve
months from reporting date for classification of liabilities as current
or non-current, which:

o clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the option of
the counterparty, result in its settlement by the transfer of
the entity’s own equity instruments, these terms do not affect
its classification as current or non-current only if the entity
recognises the option separately as an equity instrument
applying HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation.

o specify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-
current should be based on rights that are in existence at the
end of the reporting period. Specifically, the amendments
clarify that the classification should not be affected by
management intentions or expectations to settle the liability
within 12 months.

For rights to defer settlement for at least twelve months from
reporting date which are conditional on the compliance with
covenants, the requirements introduced by the 2020 Amendments
have been modified by the 2022 Amendments. The 2022
Amendments specify that only covenants with which an entity is
required to comply with on or before the end of the reporting
period affect the entity’s right to defer settlement of a liability for at
least twelve months after the reporting date. Covenants which are
required to comply with only after the reporting period do not affect
whether that right exists at the end of the reporting period.

In addition, the 2022 Amendments specify the disclosure
requirements about information that enables users of financial
statements to understand the risk that the liabilities could become
repayable within twelve months after the reporting period, if the
entity classify liabilities arising from loan arrangements as non-
current when the entity’s right to defer settlement of those liabilities is
subject to the entity complying with covenants within twelve months
after the reporting period.

EREENBHREEN( FBYHERE
R ) FET RAERT A ()

BRESFERNB1IR(EITR) REEIBARBNR
FRBURBEEBREESR ZAAEE] (ZE=F
F)[=Z=2FETX ) REBEERE1R
(BT MFRENIFRBEE(T =B ZFEF]
1)
ZE_E_TFREIARNESEERERRTE

EHE AR T 8 AN RS KB
15 LB ES BRSNS - 2h e

o XEBENABBEBARETHRN  TTARYEFHESRE
PRERRERAGNRATRETHS £
EERERTEGENERRH LA -
25 REREBERRRATAR » %
FHR N ERGE D RN IERIE] -

o THRAMEENGE BREEORASES
B - ARTE - A BETER
SETREREET _EANEEERNE
B AR -

HRNERZOBEENEREABREDEET=
AR FENER - — T T FETTASIANEKRE
W_TEZZFBFIAER] o ZEZZFBFIAE]H
REERVNAERS ARSI UMERNRZE - 7
ﬁg%f“%%é%ﬁ%@kﬂéﬁiaﬂér“
=B ARRER o RIEIRE H1E T BB L
TEHEBMAEFIERERRREIFE -

o - — B —FEFI AT ARMENNKEE
R B BMARERE IR+ EANERIZATT
EFHEEBEFRENEN YAERSEERLH
EENBERBAIAHNAE  WEFEEREGM
BRREMEFEFEETRERSHE T —EAR
BN

Zhengye International Holdings Company Limited

EXRFERARAT

Annual Report 2023
—ER_=FFR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-_Z_=—F+-_A=+—HILFE

Application of New and Amendments to Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“"HKFRSs")
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as

Current or Non-current and related amendments to Hong

Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (the “2020 Amendments”) and
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
(the “2022 Amendments"”) (Continued)

The 2022 Amendments also defer the effective date of applying
the 2020 Amendments to annual reporting periods beginning on or
after January 1, 2024. The 2022 Amendments, together with the 2020
Amendments, are effective for annual reporting periods beginning
on or after January 1, 2024, with early application permitted. If an
entity applies the 2020 amendments for an earlier period after the
issue of the 2022 Amendments, the entity should also apply the 2022
Amendments for that period.

Based on the Group's outstanding liabilities as at 31 December 2023,
and the related terms and conditions stipulated in the agreements
between the Group and the relevant lenders, the application of the
2020 and 2022 Amendments will not result in reclassification of the
Group's liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A B R T
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-_Z-_=F+-A=1+—HItFE

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Material Accounting Policy
Information

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For the purpose of
preparation of the consolidated financial statements, information
is considered material if such information is reasonably expected
to influence decisions made by primary users. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The directors of the Company have, at the time of approving the
consolidated financial statements, a reasonable expectation that the
Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence
for the foreseeable future. Thus they continue to adopt the going
concern basis of accounting in preparing the consolidated financial
statements.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

o has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of
the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control
over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired
or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the
date the Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases
to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to
the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even
if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A B R T
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-_Z-_=F+-A=1+—HItFE

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Material Accounting Policy
Information (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the Group's
accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately
from the Group's equity therein, which represent present ownership
interests entitling their holders to a proportionate share of net assets
of the relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Information about the Group’s accounting policies relating
to contracts with customers is provided in notes 5, 23 and 29
respectively.

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of initial
application of HKFRS 16 or arising from business combinations, the
Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on
the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or
acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed
unless the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A B R T
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-_Z-_=F+-A=1+—HItFE

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Material Accounting Policy
Information (Continued)

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis
of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components, including
contract for acquisition of ownership interests of a property which
includes both leasehold land and non-lease building components,
unless such allocation cannot be made reliably.

The Group applies practical expedient not to separate non-lease
components from lease component, and instead account for the
lease component and any associated non-lease components as a
single lease component.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases of motor vehicles and properties that have a lease term
of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option. Lease payments on short-term leases are
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic
basis over the lease term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A B R T
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-_Z-_=F+-A=1+—HItFE

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Material Accounting Policy
Information (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use assets includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability; and

° any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities other than adjustments to lease
liabilities resulting from COVID-19-related rent concessions in which
the Group applied the practical expedient.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to
obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the
lease term are depreciated from commencement date to the end of
the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the
lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9
and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at
initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments and
included in the cost of right-of-use assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A B R T
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-_Z-_=F+-A=1+—HItFE

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Material Accounting Policy
Information (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liability at the present value of lease payments
that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is
not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less
any lease incentives receivable; and

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the option.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding
adjustment to the related right-of-use assets) whenever the lease
term has changed or there is a change in the assessment of exercise
of a purchase option, in which case the related lease liability is
remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Sale and leaseback transactions

The Group applies the requirements of HKFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers to assess whether sale and leaseback
transaction constitutes a sale by the Group.

The Group as a seller-lessee

For a transfer that does not satisfy the requirements as a sale, the
Group as a seller-lessee continues to recognise the assets and
accounts for the transfer proceeds as borrowings within the scope of
HKFRS 9.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-_Z_=—F+-_A=+—HILFE

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Material Accounting Policy
Information (Continued)

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to
them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses
the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.
Specifically, government grants whose primary condition is that
the Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-
current assets are recognised as deferred income in the consolidated
statement of financial position and transferred to profit or loss on a
systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants related to income that are receivables as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with
no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they become receivable. Such grants are presented under
“other income”.

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit before tax as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income because of items of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax
rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-_Z_=—F+-_A=+—HILFE

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Material Accounting Policy
Information (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax basis used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets
are generally recognised for all deductible temporary difference to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised.
Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other than
in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit and
at the time of the transaction does not give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences. In addition, deferred tax liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences associated with such investments
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will
be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or
the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-_Z_=—F+-_A=+—HILFE

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Material Accounting Policy
Information (Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions
in which the Group recognises the right-of-use assets and the
related lease liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax
deductions are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease
liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable
to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12 requirements to
the lease liabilities and the related assets separately. The Group
recognises a deferred tax asset related to lease liabilities to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary difference can be utilised and a
deferred tax liability for all taxable temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied the same
taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss. Where
current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a
business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting for
the business combination.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A B R T
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-_Z-_=F+-A=1+—HItFE

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Material Accounting Policy
Information (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment including buildings held for use in
the production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative
purposes (other than construction in progress as described below)
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at
cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Buildings and machinery in the course of construction for production,
supply or administrative purposes are carried at cost, less any
recognised impairment loss. Costs include any costs directly
attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended
by the management, including costs of testing whether the related
assets is functioning properly and, for qualifying assets, borrowing
costs capitalised in accordance with the Group's accounting
policy. Sale proceeds of items that are produced while bringing
an item of property, plant and equipment to the location and
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner
intended by management (such as samples produced when testing
whether the asset is functioning properly), and the related costs of
producing those items are recognised in the profit or loss. The cost
of those items are measured in accordance with the measurement
requirements of HKAS 2. Depreciation of these assets, on the same
basis as other property assets, commences when the assets are ready
for their intended use.

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of
properties which includes both leasehold land and building elements,
the entire consideration is allocated between the leasehold land and
the building elements in proportion to the relative fair values at initial
recognition. To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can
be made reliably, interest in leasehold land is presented as “right-of-
use assets” in the consolidated statement of financial position. When
the consideration cannot be allocated reliably between non-lease
building element and undivided interest in the underlying leasehold
land, the entire properties are classified as property, plant and
equipment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A B R T
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-_Z-_=F+-A=1+—HItFE

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Material Accounting Policy
Information (Continued)

Internally-generated intangible assets — research and
development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the
period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from development
activities (or from the development phase of an internal project)
is recognised if, and only if, all of the following have been
demonstrated:

° the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so
that it will be available for use or sale;

o the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;
o the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;
o how the intangible asset will generate probable future

economic benefits;

o the availability of adequate technical, financial and other
resources to complete the development and to use or sell the
intangible asset; and

° the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to
the intangible asset during its development.

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible
asset is the sum of the expenditure incurred from the date when
the intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria listed above.
Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised,
development expenditure is recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which it is incurred. Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-
generated intangible assets are reported at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses (if any).

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future
economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. Gains and
losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the assets, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A B R T
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-_Z-_=F+-A=1+—HItFE

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Material Accounting Policy
Information (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets with finite useful lives to determine whether there
is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss.
If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment
loss, (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets, and intangible assets are estimated individually. When it
is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate assets are
allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise they
are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which
a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be established. The
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit or
group of cash-generating units to which the corporate asset belongs,
and is compared with the carrying amount of the relevant cash-
generating unit or group of cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset or a cash-generating unit for
which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A B R T
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-_Z-_=F+-A=1+—HItFE

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Material Accounting Policy
Information (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-
generating unit, the Group compares the carrying amount of a
group of cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts of
the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to that
group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable amount of the
group of cash-generating units. In allocating the impairment loss,
the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any gooduwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-
rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or
the group of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is
not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if
measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount
of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated to
the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the
group of cash-generating units. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group of
cash-generating units) is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash-
generating unit or a group of cash-generating units) in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A B R T
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-_Z-_=F+-A=1+—HItFE

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial 3. HMENBBRERNEREEREASHHE
Statements and Material Accounting Policy RKER @)

Information (Continued)

Bank balances and cash presented on the consolidated statement of REFE B R 2FIHRITAERRIRE BE
financial position include:

(@)  cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand deposits; (@) ¥Be BEFHEERESMEHER KR
and

(b)  cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term (generally b) HeZEEY BERHH(—RERIHEA=E
with original maturity of three months or less), highly liquid RsAR) - BRI GE Me IR B(E
investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of BEEPEBRIANSRDIRE - REEED
cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes DREMNEHRE CAEMRFE - MIERER
in value. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting B EARE -

short-term cash commitments rather than for investment or
other purposes.

Bank balances for which use by the Group is subject to third party AEEFEAXE=ZFaNRHNRITERTRRE
contractual restrictions are included as part of cash unless the W—&5  RIEZBRFNEHRITERIBHRETE
restrictions result in a bank balance no longer meeting the definition & o P BB ARITEHBES LR G HOT 245 2
of cash. Contractual restrictions affecting use of bank balances are B o

disclosed in note 24.

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable FE IR AE R FE 2 AREETR - T8
value. Cost of inventories are determined on a weighted average BN A MR AEETE o AITERFEAEF E/E
method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling FHEERAFTA et 5o TR AS R D & BT B0k
price for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and R KMEEMBENRAPEEEFBLE ZESE
costs necessary to make the sale. Costs necessary to make the sale BN DA R 7R S5 B K Th H 68 A R ARHE 2 JEIS B AR o

include incremental costs directly attributable to the sale and non-
incremental costs which the Group must incur to make the sale.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A B R T
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-_Z-_=F+-A=1+—HItFE

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Material Accounting Policy
Information (Continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS
15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities other than financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL") are added to
or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount
on initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised cost as
measured at fair value through profit or loss if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A B R T
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-_Z-_=F+-A=1+—HItFE

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Material Accounting Policy
Information (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for
financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost. Interest
income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next reporting
period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument
improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset from the
beginning of the reporting period following the determination that
the asset is no longer credit-impaired.

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit
loss ("ECL") model on financial assets (including trade and other
receivables, pledged bank deposits and bank balances) and contract
assets which are subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS
9. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment are
done based on the Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current conditions at the
reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-_Z_=—F+-_A=+—HILFE

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Material Accounting Policy
Information (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for contract assets and
trade receivables. Trade receivables are categorised into receivables
fully backed by bank bills and not backed by bank bills. The ECL
on contract assets and trade receivables not backed by bank bills is
assessed individually for debtors and contract assets with significant
balances or credit-impaired and/or collectively using a provision
matrix with appropriate groupings based primarily on the debtors’
ageing profiles. The ECL for debtors with trade receivables backed
by bank bills is assessed individually taking into consideration of
credit rating and reputation of the banks issuing the bills.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in which case the
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime
ECL should be recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making
this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

J an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument'’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market indicators of
credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread,
the credit default swap prices for the debtor;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A B R T
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-_Z-_=F+-A=1+—HItFE

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial

Statements and Material Accounting Policy
Information (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets and contract assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of
the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition when contractual payments are more
than 30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in credit
risk before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an
event of default occurs when information developed internally
or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without
taking into account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has
occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due
unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A B R T
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-_Z-_=F+-A=1+—HItFE

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Material Accounting Policy
Information (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets and contract assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(iii)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events of
default that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future
cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that
a financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

(@)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;
(b)  abreach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c)  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty,
having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example,
when the counterparty has been placed under liquidation or
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of
trade receivables, when the amounts are over two years past
due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written off may
still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group's
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A B R T
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-_Z-_=F+-A=1+—HItFE

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Material Accounting Policy
Information (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets and contract assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if
there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment
of the probability of default and loss given default is based
on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information.
Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-
weighted amount that is determined with the respective risks
of default occurring as the weights. The Group uses a practical
expedient in estimating ECL on trade receivables using a
provision matrix taking into consideration historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit-
impaired, in which case interest income is calculated based on
amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying
amount, with the exception of trade receivables, other
receivables and contract assets where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance account.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-_Z_=—F+-_A=+—HILFE

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Material Accounting Policy
Information (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the
financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and
continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its
retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts
it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost,
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or
loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified
as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest
in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity
instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities
All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method or at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial
liability is contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A B R T
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-_Z-_=F+-A=1+—HItFE

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated Financial
Statements and Material Accounting Policy
Information (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables, consideration
payables, amounts due to directors and bank and other borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised
in profit or loss.

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required to
make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based
on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the
next financial year.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-_Z_=—F+-_A=+—HILFE

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty (Continued)

The ECL on trade receivables not backed by bank bills and contract
assets is assessed individually for debtors and contract assets with
significant balances or credit-impaired and/or collectively using a
provision matrix with appropriate groupings based primarily on the
debtors’ ageing profiles.

The provision rates applied in the provision matrix are estimated
based on the historical observed default rates of the debtors taking
into consideration forward-looking information that is reasonable,
supportable and available without undue costs or effort. At the end
of each reporting period, the historical observed default rates are
reassessed and updated if required after considering the forward-
looking information that is available to the directors of the Company.
The contract assets relate to unbilled work in progress have
substantially the same risk characteristics as the trade receivables not
backed by bank bills for the same types of contracts. The Group has
therefore estimated the expected loss rates for the trade receivables
not backed by bank bills and the contract assets on the same basis.

The allowance for credit losses is sensitive to changes in estimates.
At every reporting date, the historical observed default rates
are reassessed and changes in the forward-looking information
are considered. At 31 December 2023, the carrying amounts of
trade receivables not backed by bank bills and contract assets are
RMB384,586,000 (2022: RMB590,001,000) (net of allowance for credit
losses of RMB3,264,000 (2022: RMB5,476,000) and RMB 10,824,000
(2022: RMB9,377,000) (net of allowance for credit losses of nil (2022:
nil) respectively. The information about the ECL and the Group's
trade receivables not backed by bank bills and contract assets are
disclosed in note 39.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-_Z_=—F+-_A=+—HILFE

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets, intangible assets
and deposits for acquisition of property, plant and equipment are
stated at costs less accumulated depreciation (excluding deposits for
acquisitions of PPE) and impairment, if any. In determining whether
an asset is impaired, the Group has to exercise judgement and
make estimation, particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event has
occurred or any indicators that may affect the asset value; (2) whether
the carrying value of an asset can be supported by the recoverable
amount, in the case of value in use, the net present value of future
cash flows which are estimated based upon the continued use of
the asset; and (3) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in
estimating the recoverable amounts including cash flow projections
and an appropriate discount rate. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual asset (including right-of-
use assets), the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash
generating unit to which the assets belongs, including allocation of
corporate assets when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation
can be established, otherwise recoverable amount is determined at
the smallest group of cash generating units, for which the relevant
corporate assets have been allocated. Changing the assumptions
and estimates, including the discount rates or the growth rate in
the cash flow projections, could materially affect the recoverable
amounts.

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amounts of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, intangible assets and deposits for
acquisition of property, plant and equipment subject to impairment
assessment were RMB%06,789,000, RMB149,246,000, RMB13,772,000
and RMB23,983,000 respectively. Based on the result of the
assessment, the Group determined that the carrying amount of the
respective cash generating unit does not exceed the recoverable
amount and no impairment has been recognised.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-_Z_=—F+-_A=+—HILFE

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, a deferred tax asset of RMB1,046,000
(2022: RMB335,000) in relation to deductible temporary difference
for certain operating subsidiaries has been recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position. No deferred tax
asset has been recognised on the tax losses of RMB624,188,000
(2022: RMB345,715,000) and deductible temporary difference of
RMB64,171,000 (2022: RMB68,522,000) due to the unpredictability of
future profit streams. The realisability of the deferred tax asset mainly
depends on whether sufficient future profits or taxable temporary
differences will be available in the future, which is a key source of
estimation uncertainty especially the uncertainty on how the volatility
or disruptions in energy, financial, foreign currency or commodity
markets may progress and evolve. In cases where the actual future
taxable profits generated are less or more than expected, or change
in facts and circumstances which result in revision of future taxable
profits estimation, a material reversal or further recognition of
deferred tax assets may arise, which would be recognised in profit
or loss for the period in which such a reversal or further recognition
takes place.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A B R T
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-_Z-_=F+-A=1+—HItFE

5. Revenue

For the year ended 31 December 2023

A

BE-_Z_=F+-H=1+—HILFE

Packaging  Paper-based
paper packaging Total
BEE HRBEHE et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBT T AR®TT
Types of goods or service E R RS
Sales of packaging paper products HEBRKAEM
Corrugated medium paper AA grade AARR LS T4 1,383,350 - 1,383,350
Corrugated medium paper C grade CHLTLIB 4 32 - 32
Craft paper R 345,278 - 345,278
1,728,660 - 1,728,660
Sales of paper-based packaging HERHBEERD
products
Craft box HREAE - 461,448 461,448
Honeycomb paper BEARR - 64,419 64,419
Color printing box S ENHE AR - 105,303 105,303
Color box packaging Fapk - 30,687 30,687
- 661,857 661,857
Total mast 1,728,660 661,857 2,390,517
Timing of revenue recognition BERBARRE
A point in time H R 2h 1,728,660 - 1,728,660
Over time BERF TR - 661,857 661,857
1,728,660 661,857 2,390,517

Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue from
contracts with customers with the amounts disclosed in the

segment information.

TRIBAEAES A OHIRAES EE R
T LA -

Segment
revenue Elimination Consolidated
P EBA Eiic wE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T ARET T
Sales of packaging paper products HEBRERER 1,805,389 (76,729) 1,728,660
Sales of paper-based packaging HERHBEEMD
products 661,857 - 661,857
Revenue from contracts with customers 2K 8 & FE & £IE9UA 2,467,246 (76,729) 2,390,517
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A B R T
For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-_Z_=—F+-_A=+—HILFE

5. Revenue (Continued) 5. WA@®)
For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE_Z-—_F+-_A=1T—HIEFE
Packaging Paper-based
paper packaging Total
PR RiE gk #aEt
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETTT ARET T ARETTT

Types of goods or service & meR RSB
Sales of packaging paper products HEBRMAER
Corrugated medium paper AA grade  AAZRELES AR 1,787,161 - 1,787,161
Corrugated medium paper C grade CABRFUIS AR 126 - 126
Craft paper HRA 493,962 - 493,962
2,281,249 - 2,281,249
Sales of paper-based packaging HERBORER
products
Craft box HRAAE - 572,383 572,383
Honeycomb paper AR M - 66,257 66,257
Color printing box R ENAAE - 91,559 91,559
Color box packaging Faek - 2,509 2,509
- 732,708 732,708
Total HeEt 2,281,249 732,708 3,013,957
Timing of revenue recognition R A K R
A point in time H—rrE2h 2,281,249 - 2,281,249
Over time 8 s e R AR - 732,708 732,708
2,281,249 732,708 3,013,957
Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue from TRINEIRE P& KB L5 5 & LA
contracts with customers with the amounts disclosed in the BESENLR -
segment information.
Segment
revenue Elimination ~ Consolidated
DHEBUA A SRy
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000

ARMET T AREET T AREETTT

Sales of packaging paper products HEBRREKER 2,400,368 (119,119) 2,281,249
Sales of paper-based packaging HERHBEEMD
products 732,708 — 732,708
Revenue from contracts with customers KB & A& #IH A 3,133,076 (119,119) 3,013,957
Annual Report 2023 Zhengye International Holdings Company Limited
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5. Revenue (Continued)

(1) Sales of packaging paper products (revenue
recognised at a point in time)
For sales of packaging paper products, revenue is
recognised when control of goods has transferred, being
when the goods have been shipped to the customer’s
specific location. The normal credit term is 30-120 days.

The Group requires certain customers to provide
deposits. When the Group receives a deposit before
delivery of goods, this will give rise to contract liabilities
at the start of a contract, until the revenue recognised on
the specific contract exceeds the amount of the deposit.

(2) Sales of paper-based packaging products (revenue
recognised over time)
The Group's contracts with customers for the
manufacture and sales of paper-based packaging
products are tailor-made based on customers’
specification with no alternative use to the Group. Taking
into account the contract terms, the legal and regulatory
environment in the PRC, the contracts provide the
Group an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date and revenue is recognised over time
based on the stage of completion of the contract using
input method. The normal credit term is 30-120 days.

Please refer to note 23 for details on recognition of
contract assets.

The performance obligation under the contracts for the sales
of packaging paper and paper-based packaging products
has original expected duration of less than one year and as
permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to
these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

5.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-_Z_=—F+-_A=+—HILFE

6. Segment Information 6. DEPER
The Group is principally engaged in manufacture and sales of AEEITENFHERHERRARBRHOEE
packaging paper and paper-based packaging products. o e
The Group is organised into business units based on their products, REBIRAEREI D EBEMN - UHREEFEMLD
based on which information is prepared and reported to the Group's B 2WAEEFELERKE (BIRQFNT
chief operating decision maker (i.e. the executive directors of the £E) UEBERED @E&i’%iﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁk $E.7f§
Company) for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment BEBMBMELENESREESHHAOH
of performance. The Group's reportable segments under HKFRS 8 AMEEH BME
Operating Segments are identified as two main operations:
1. Packaging paper: this segment produces and sells corrugated 1. BEE: hSHEEREERBESHERFR

medium paper and craft paper.

2. Paper-based packaging: this segment produces and sells craft

cartons, color-printed cartons, honeycomb paper products and

color box packaging.

The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and results
by reportable and operating segment.

For the year ended 31 December 2023

Ao

MEBE O HEERBEFREM
N BEAERNTYEBEE

AEBIZTE2RNE
BT -

B HEREID

L ONSE

BE-Z_=F1+-HA=+—HLFE

Packaging  Paper-based
paper packaging Total
BEE wRE%E st
RMB’'000 RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR%TR ARBTFT ARBTT

REVENUE L ON

External sales HNEREH & 1,728,660 661,857 2,390,517
Inter-segment sales SEfEEE 76,729 - 76,729
Segment revenue DEBUA 1,805,389 661,857 2,467,246
Eliminations 8K (76,729)
Group revenue SERA 2,390,517
Segment (loss) profit o EB (&R ) m (19,526) 10,942 (8,584)
Unallocated other income RO BEEM WA 353
Unallocated corporate expenses ROBBERZ (9.447)
Loss before tax PR AT ETE (17,678)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A B R T
For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-_Z_=—F+-_A=+—HILFE

6. Segment Information (Continued) 6. DEER )
Other segment information included in the measurement of FTESPEEMBERMO I ER
segment results:
Packaging  Paper-based
paper packaging Total
BEE ERBEHE et
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥F T AR¥T T AR¥T T
Depreciation on property, plant Y - BE REETE
and equipment 83,440 25,212 108,652
Depreciation on right-of-use assets EREEENE 8,758 2,200 10,958
Amortisation of intangible assets B EEEE 3,106 - 3,106
Total depreciation and amortisation e R HAT 95,304 27,412 122,716
Less: Amount capitalised in inventories & : BEEANMEMTFE S (57,522) - (57,522)
Less: Amount capitalised in intangible & : EEAMMEMEFL EELE
assets (409) - (409)
37,373 27,412 64,785
Impairment losses recognised WE 5 K H M EWFIARER
(reversed) on trade and other (B E) R RE R E
receivables 1,277 (1,696) (419)

Zhengye International Holdings Company Limited
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6. Segment Information (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2022

»‘/T\
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6.

2 EEH (50

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A B R M 5

For the year ended 31 December 2023
Eo=F+A=+—RHIFE

EE - —F+A=t+—HILFE

Packaging Paper-based

paper packaging Total

BEK REBE “eEt

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETFT ARBTFT ARBFIT

REVENUE ON

External sales SNEBIHE 2,281,249 732,708 3,013,957
Inter-segment sales DEEHE 119,119 - 119,119
Segment revenue DELUA 2,400,368 732,708 3,133,076
Eliminations EfE] (119,119
Group revenue SERA 3,013,957
Segment (loss) profit 750 (&518) = A 76,176 10,305 86,481
Unallocated other income ROBEMUA 2,219
Unallocated corporate expenses RO ERE (11,833)
Profit before tax BREE R 3= A 76,867
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

»‘/T\ jﬂ’%i&% Bﬁ nf

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_Z_=F+_A=1t—HLFE

6. Segment Information (Continued) 6. THER
Other segment information included in the measurement of RS NEEMBREMOPER

segment results:

Packaging Paper-based

paper packaging Total
BER REBE #Et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARET T AREET T

Depreciation on property, plant and Y - BE REETE

equipment 88,913 20,903 109,816
Depreciation on right-of-use assets EREEENE 9,571 5,799 15,370
Amortisation of intangible assets mIEERE 2,313 = 2,313
Total depreciation and amortisation e M s A st 100,797 26,702 127,499
Less: Amount capitalised in inventories & : EEAMEMTFE S (57,955) - (57,955)
Less: Amount capitalised in intangible & : EEAMEREFL EELE

assets (538) - (538)
42,304 26,702 69,006
Impairment losses reversed on trade BE 5 I H WK IA RS [ 7

and other receivables BEEE (556) (1,590) (2,146)
The accounting policies of the operating segments are the BB D AR BRI 3T AR E g R
same as the Group's accounting policies described in note 3. E&ﬁ* o DEEEIET D BHIANEF,
Segment results represented the profit earned by/loss from B8 WESEELEWARFESL -
each segment without allocation of corporate income and
expenses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A B R T
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-_Z-_=F+-A=1+—HItFE

6. Segment Information (Continued)

The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue from its
major products:

6.

i)

EBE B (#)

AEBERERHBADHLT

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T T ARETTT

Corrugated medium paper AA grade AAZR LS T 4R 1,383,350 1,787,161
Corrugated medium paper C grade CHBRIUIB A 32 126
Craft paper R 345,278 493,962
Craft box HR4ERE 461,448 572,383
Honeycomb paper AR 64,419 66,257
Color printing box T RN 105,303 91,559
Color box packaging Fapk 30,687 2,509

2,390,517 3,013,957

The Group's operations and customers are all located in the
PRC.

For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, no customer
contributed over 10% of the total revenue of the Group for the
respective year.

Information of the reporting and operating segments of the
Group reported to the chief operating decision maker for the
purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment
does not include any assets and liabilities. Accordingly, no
segment assets and liabilities are presented.

REBNEBRFPHMUNFAE -

HE—_Z-_—FF-_FT-_—"F+-_A=+—
BIESFE  WEIATFPAAREEEHARE
BBUABBR10%A L »

AEELERREZRAEERD B RKR
HERENASEF2HRREEDBENL
TEREAEENREE - Bt XE255
MEENAE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A B R T
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-Z-_=F+-A=1+—HALLFE

7. Other Income 7. HfgA
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBFIT
Interest income from bank deposits HITIFRF B A 4,232 3,616
Imputed interest income from rental deposits HERSHER SWA 86 115
Management fee income ERERA 82 74
Net income from sales of scrap materials HE R A EE 2,439 4,323
Government grants related to income (note) ELU A B 128 0 T e B (PR =) 72,814 113,771
Government grants amortised from deferred FT AR RE A 8 85 ) ST 8 B (P E34)
income (note 34) 3,400 12,110
Sundry income FETAUA 782 4,328
Total #ast 83,835 138,337
Note: Government grants received and receivable by the Group’s PRC subsidiaries BT« ZNER [ A P B PR 1 ) 7 R R B MK Y IS A B A FE TS
as financial incentives for operation. No conditions are attached to these BYIARED « %55 B IR AR N A PR AN AT A o

financial incentives.

8. Impairment Losses Reversed under Expected 8. HHFEFEENENEERBERD
Credit Loss Model, Net RE
2023 2022
—EC=F - —
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T T ARBETIT

Impairment losses reversed on trade and other EEEE 5 & H At e YR IER B R
receivables, net 419 2,146

Zhengye International Holdings Company Limited Annual Report 2023
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

9. Other Gains and Losses

Fia B R 5 E
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_T-_—Ft+-_A=-+—HLEE

9. HttlhmRkEE

2023 2022
—EC-=F T _F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARET T
Exchange loss, net P 5 g8 - JEEE 904 3,526

Loss on disposals of property, plant and HEME - BERZHEEE  F5E
equipment, net 1,381 817
Others HAth (238) =
2,047 4,343

10. Finance Costs 10. EE KA
2023 2022
—EC=H B —F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARET T
Interest on: LATRIEB MF B

Bank and other borrowings HRTT SR ELM fE X 46,034 51,742
Lease liabilities HEARE 1,897 2,138
Amounts due to directors B EEFIE 4,382 5,470
Others =) 121 250
52,434 59,600
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A B R T
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-_Z-_=F+-A=1+—HItFE

11. (Loss) Profit before Tax

(Loss) profit before tax has been arrived at after charging (crediting):

11. BRBiAI(EE)
BB AT (18 FIE B GEA) T3 88

eyl

2023 2022
—E-=8 —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T AREET T
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment M - BB REERTE 108,652 109,816
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE 10,958 15,370
Amortisation of intangible assets | E R 3,106 2,313
Total depreciation and amortisation e NI SH B R 122,716 127,499
Less: Amount capitalised in inventories B BEEMENTFEE SR (57,522) (57,955)
Less: Amount capitalised in intangible assets B BERNMEMBEEEESHE (409) (538)
64,785 69,006
Auditor’s remuneration ZE A& 1,689 1,965
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense ERABFAIHEFEXN N (BEMATE
(including write-down of inventories amounting ARBES12,000( ZZE_—F : ARKE
to RMB612,000 (2022: RMB1,374,000) 1,374,0007z)) 1,963,066 2,555,821
Staff costs BTAA
— directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments —EF RITHRAH S (FI:E13)
(note 13) 5,977 5,744
— salaries and other benefits costs for staff other —EERITBBHAINE THFHE &
than directors and chief executive HiwrEs 256,532 253,524
— retirement benefits schemes contributions for —E B RITEBEAINE TR R KRR
staff other than directors and chief executive sHEME R 24,543 22,229
Total staff costs B TN 287,052 281,497
Less: Amount capitalised in inventories B BENMENEESRE (59,334) (55,633)
Less: Amount capitalised in intangible assets B BENMENBEREESR (643) (1,604)
227,075 224,260
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A B R T
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-_Z-_=F+-A=1+—HItFE

Income Tax (Credit) Expense

12. BB (FTA)BAX

2023 2022

—EBC-=HF S

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T T ARBTFTT

PRC Enterprise Income Tax: FR I ZEPRAS A -

Current tax BIHAR 1A 407 131
Overprovision in prior years BITFERREEE (1,384) (3,156)
(977) (3,025)

Withholding tax TEIRFTIS R 1,950 3,050
Deferred tax (note 31) IRER A (FFE31) (1,809) 8,238
(836) 8,263

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as the Group
has no assessable profits for both years.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law")
and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the
PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years. Certain PRC subsidiaries
approved as advanced-technology enterprises or enterprises
applicable to EIT policies for large-scale development in the Western
Region by the relevant government authorities are subject to a
preferential tax rate of 15%. During the year, certain PRC subsidiaries
approved as “small and low-profit enterprises” by the relevant
government authorities are subject to two-tiered preferential tax
rates. The first RMB3 million of taxable profit of the qualifying group
entities will be taxed at 5% (2022:The first RMB 1 million of taxable
profit of the qualifying group entities will be taxed at 2.5% and
taxable profit above RMB 1 million but less than RMB3 million will be
taxed at 5%).

AEBERMEFEHBETBELERBGN - 8
WERBENSTIEL B o

RIBPEDERSEOE([REREBE]) REE
PRSBUEE M IRD] - HEME AR MR X ESF
B /25% - ETHENBRARNERTERERR
ERBMBMER  AIZEBERKI15% - RAF
B ETHEBRARBNEBERRERNNEMF
X IZEMAGEEREX - AEREEET
BEREEARBIAETTHERTENIR5% R
—E_F BEEARBIABTHERBUENIZ
25%RE - MEBBARKIBETELRIESTH
JEERTL A BIIR5% R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ey

S5 A B R

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-_Z_=—F+-_A=+—HILFE

12. Income Tax (Credit) Expense (Continued)
The tax (credit) expense for the year can be reconciled to the (loss)
profit before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and

other comprehensive income as follows:

12. FrB#H (T B (@)

AERBRRGIA) X BGAEE MEB 2 S
RABRBAT (B8 ) E MR SRR T -

2023 2022
—EBC-=H —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBFTT
(Loss) profit before tax B0 (BT 1R (17,678) 76,867
PRC Enterprise Income Tax at 25% R25% TR B AT (4,420) 19.217
Tax effect of income tax credit granted to B8 A R A B B AN R TS AR S 1Y
subsidiaries for research and development costs Mz (21,923) (23,673)
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose  FLFRIS M 5 BERINA Z Bigs 2
(note a) (PFifEa) (48,961) (78,372)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax ST S SRR A B s E
purpose 5,452 7,095
Effect of tax exemption on concessionary rates H IR N R R BB R TS R
granted to the PRC subsidiaries we 1,020 (10,751)
Tax effect of tax deductible temporary differences TR R F0H: B b5 14 2= KB A9 i 745 7 22
not recognised - 13,060
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised KRR E RO E 70,350 82,843
Over provision in prior years BAFEBEEE (1,384) (3,156)
Utilization of deductible temporary differences B A AR TR AR E R Z5
previously not recognised (1,088) -
Utilization of tax losses previously not recognised BB A R ERNFEEE (732) -
Withholding tax on profits distribution of the PRC ¥/ B ff{ B A &M 5 B F) BT 2 Ta iR
subsidiaries (note b) FrfS i (FdsEb) 850 2,000
Tax (credit) expense for the year AEEHEGIA)EX (836) 8,263
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A B R T
For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-_Z_=—F+-_A=+—HILFE

12. Income Tax (Credit) Expense (Continued) 12. Fr8R(GT AN X (@)
Notes: Bi3E -

In accordance with the Circular of the Ministry of Finance and the State
Administration of Taxation on Issues Concerning Implementing the
Enterprise Income Tax Incentive Catalogue for Comprehensive Utilization
of Resources Cai Shui 2008 No. 47, and the Enterprise Income Tax Incentive
Catalogue for Comprehensive Utilization of Resources (2021) issued by the
Circular of the Ministry of Finance, the State Administration of Taxation,
National Development and Reform Commission and Ministry of Ecology
and Environment on 16 December 2021, an enterprise, which uses the raw
materials under the catalogue to produce recycled resource products under
the catalogue and the products meet the national or industrial standards, is
entitled to incentive tax arrangement such that only 90% of the sales revenue
of the products is subject to the calculation of the taxable income. During
the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, three of the subsidiaries of
the Group's recycled products qualified for the incentive tax arrangement.
Therefore 10% of the revenue from sales of recycled products of these three

subsidiaries was not taxable for income tax calculation purpose.

In accordance with the PRC tax regulations effective from 1 January 2008,
the PRC withholding income tax at the rate of 10% is applicable to dividends
declared to “non-resident” investors who do not have an establishment or
place of business in the PRC. For “non-resident” investors with establishment
or place of business in Hong Kong and fulfilling criteria of “beneficial
owner”, the PRC withholding income tax rate is 5%. The above withholding
income tax represents the withholding income tax provided on the profits
arising from the PRC subsidiaries of the Company during the year ended
31 December 2023 which are available for distribution amounting to
RMB 18,000,000 (2022: RMB40,000,000). During the year ended 31 December
2023 and 2022, the investor of one subsidiary is a Hong Kong resident
and fulfil the criteria of “beneficial owner”, and the withholding tax rate
applicable to dividends declared was 5%.

RBCHEES - BRBBRBENNITERGRAFAE
XFTSTEE B 875 BE R RE A3 A0 ) 81§74 200847 5% K Bt
B BRBBERE BREENREZEGRER
BREPR-Z=_—F+=-A+BEMARKERGETH
AEEFRESHERIR(ZTE-—FR))  C¥UBH
BENRMEEEBSRENBEERERURFTE
BERITESENER  AEEBSESB B &
0% HIE mIHEWMA B AERFBA - BE=ZT ==
FRZZZZFFZA=+—BHIEFE RNEBET
—HNBAR AT EIRERFEESHEZHEN - B
bt REATSEGEmMS - REZ=RHEA R E UK
EREERATEF

BEFEBEERR -TTNF—A—Bi - RFE
KRB SIS IEE R IS ES RS BIZR
0% RBUKTBIRFTSHL  RBEBR MBS AT
RE[BERmHEAANIRENEER ICENTERAEH
BERAIAS% » LXRFIFBIRFASHESEE_S=_=4F
TZA=ET—HIEFE HARAPRMBRAEE
A2 B A AR #18,000,000T(— B = =4 : ARK
40,000,0007C) FrEt R FEIRFIGH - BE—T—_=F R
-+ -A=t+—BLFE  —RHBIFN
BREERBABRIFEIESEGAIEE  MEH
REBHIRR B MTEIRFTS R R R A A5% °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A B R T
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-_Z-_=F+-A=1+—HItFE

13. Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Emoluments
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the 9 (2022: 8) directors

13. EERTHARMNS
DNRENNEEE (==& : \B)RITHE

and the chief executive were as follows: OB T -
Retirement
Performance benefits
related schemes
Fee Salary bonus contributions Total
ERER
e e RARSE HEIHRER #st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARET T ARET T ARETT ARET T
For the year ended BE-—ZE—_=%+=A
31 December 2023 =+—HIEE
Executive directors HITES
- Hu Zheng —HALE - 1,006 - 16 1,022
— Hu Hanchao —BEH - 701 300 - 1,001
— Hu Hancheng —HER - 1,006 - 16 1,022
— Hu Jianpeng —HRGENS - 878 199 21 1,098
— Chen Wei (appointed —BRE(R=ZT==%F
on 25 August 2023) NAZ+HBE
ZE) - 761 196 13 970
Non-executive director HEHITES
— Hu Jianwen — RS 360 - - - 360
Independent BEHITES
non-executive directors
— Chung Kwok Mo John — BRI 180 - - - 180
— Shin Yick Fabian — %S 162 - - - 162
— Liew Fui Kiang —BIER 162 - - - 162
Chief executive T AEEL
— Chen Wei (resigned — R
on 25 August 2023) (R=Z==%N\A
“t+thBEERE) - - - - -
— Hu Zheng (appointed —HE(R=E==%F
on 25 August 2023) NAZ+HBEE
%) - - - - -
864 4,352 695 66 5,977
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A B R T
For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-_Z_=—F+-_A=+—HILFE

13. Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Emoluments 13. EERTHARME &)
(Continued)

Retirement
Performance benefits
related schemes
Fee Salary bonus  contributions Total
RIKAER]
Be e RS FHEIHR #5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARBTT ARKETRT ARBTR
For the year ended HE—ZT-—F+—H
31 December 2022 =+—RIFE
Executive directors BITES
— Hu Zheng —#AIE = 1,004 = 15 1,019
- Hu Hanchao —tHEH - 1,001 - - 1,001
— Hu Hancheng —HHER = 1,004 = 15 1,019
— Hu Jianpeng (appointed  — #A#EHE
on 8 February 2022) (R=ZZ_—F_H
NEEZRE) - 1,084 - 14 1,098
Non-executive director EHITES
— Chen Riyue (resigned —FRBEA
on 22 July 2022) (W—Z——%+H
—+ZHET) 200 - - - 200
— Hu Jianwen (appointed  — &5
on 22 July 2022) (R=Z==FLA
T+ HEEE) 160 - - - 160
Independent BIEITES
non-executive directors
— Chung Kwok Mo John ~ —#&BIK 171 = = = 171
~ Shin Yick Fabian — %5 154 - - - 154
— Liew Fui Kiang —2IEE 154 = = = 154
Chief executive TR AR
— Chen Wei (appointed —PBRE
on 18 January 2022) (R=ZT==%—A8
TNBEZRE) - 753 1 14 768
839 4,846 1 58 5,744
Annual Report 2023 Zhengye International Holdings Company Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A B R T
For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-_Z_=—F+-_A=+—HILFE

13. EERTHARME &)

13. Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Emoluments
(Continued)
Note: During the year, Ms. Chen Wei resigned as chief executive of the Company

MiEE : A REBKIEBERARARTREH  YR=-T==

and was reappointed as executive director on 25 August 2023. Mr. Hu Zheng
was appointed as chief executive of the Company on the same date. The
emoluments disclosed above include those for services rendered by them as

both chief executive and executive director.

Mr. Hu Hancheng and Mr. Hu Zheng are the co-chairmen of the Company
and their emoluments disclosed above include those for services rendered
by them as the co-chairmen. The executive directors’ emoluments and chief
executive's emoluments shown above were for their services in connection
with the management of the affairs of the Company and the Group. The
emoluments of non-executive director and independent non-executive
directors shown above were for their services as the directors of the
Company.

During both years, no emolument was paid by the Group to the directors
or the chief executive as compensation for loss of office or an inducement
to join the Group. None of the directors or the chief executive waived any
emoluments for both years.

FNAZTHRENERERNTES - HERER
F R EZER/ARRRITHRAES - ERRENFIEE
WEEETHRER RN TERMRERE OB -

ERAERAELERRAARABEERER L
KRB RENH S B EREEHFEEEREHRS
M - ERFIRMITESRITRARME NS
EEARARAEEEBHRERBOME - ERAR
FFHOTER MBI ERTEEMNE IR NS RELAR
AESEHRBHMSE -

ARIEFE - 785 B3 8 (7 2 3 37T BARE S R
M ELBBMESRNARNKEFRE - NWIESF
B WESFRITRAHKEEME -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A B R T
For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-_Z_=—F+-_A=+—HILFE

14. Five Highest Paid Employees 14. IEBEHEET
The five highest paid employees of the Group during the year RAEE  AEBREGE=FMEERENEES
included four directors (2022: four directors), details of whose (ZZ=——F : UEESF) - HHSFBFERN LXK
remuneration are set out in note 13 above. Details of the F13 Hp—Z(ZT——F : —R)WIARAE
remunerations for the year of the remaining one (2022: one) highest FHTBATN RS ESNFMFENT
paid employee who is neither a director nor chief executive of the
Company are as follows:
2023 2022
—EC-=HF i 3
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBFTT
Salaries e 846 808
Performance related bonus RIGAERATEAL 250 78
Retirement benefits schemes contributions RNEREHE] 12 13
1,108 899
Their emoluments were within the following band: BEOMES N FATEE :
Number of employees
BT A%
2023 2022
—E-=F i 3
HKD1,000,001 to HKD1,500,000 1,000,001 7T % 1,500,000/ 7T 1 1

During the year, no emoluments of the five highest paid individuals
(including directors and other employees) were incurred as
inducement to join the Group or compensation for loss of office.

RAFREYVEIAILRESFMAL(BRESTR
HipfEB) M THERINARSE B E kBB
EmEL -
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A B R T
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-_Z-_=F+-A=1+—HItFE

15. Dividend 15. BB
Dividend for ordinary shareholders of the Company recognised as NEEHERBDIRT AR EBRIRE RS
distribution during the year:
2023 2022
—EBCZ=HF i 3
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBFTT
2022 Final - RMB1.42 cents T FERY - ERARE1.420
(2022: 2021 Final - RMB9 cents) per share (ZT==F : 2 —FERH —
BRAR®BID) 7,100 45,000
Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a final dividend in RIFEERE  RAAREFRENRBE_ST =
respect of the year ended 31 December 2023 of RMB1 cent (2022: FTZA=T—HIEFESRAAKRSFR LR
final dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2022 ARBIH(ZE_F  BEE-_T__F+=
of RMB1.42 cents) per ordinary share, in an aggregate amount A=T—HIEFESRRAKREEREBRARE
of RMB5,000,000 (2022: RMB7,100,000), has been proposed by 1.429) + #E A ARK5,000,000m (===
the directors of the Company and is subject to approval by the AR®7,100,0007T) © WAFFRRAEERREAS
shareholders in the forthcoming general meeting. FHUETR - HRMEE ©
16. (Loss) Earnings per Share 16. SR (EE)ER
The calculation of the basic (loss) earnings per share attributable to RNA TR AEEIREZR (EB) BARIA T E8U&
owners of the Company is based on the following data: FTHE
2023 2022
—B-=F T F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBT R ARBFIT
(Loss) earnings (E518) & F
(Loss) profit for the year attributable to owners of ~ FIAGTE SFRREAR (EE) BFHIARAF]
the Company for the purpose of basic (loss) A ANEREN(EE) R
earnings per share (17,553) 47167
Number of shares RO EE
Number of ordinary shares for the purpose of PR EGIRER(EE) BF8EmR
basic (loss) earnings per share P& X 500,000,000 500,000,000
No diluted loss/earnings per share for both 2023 and 2022 were HR-ZE_=FR T _FHRBTELELS
presented as there were no potential ordinary shares in issue for both R BUEEN T =F R T - FHERE
2023 and 2022. EEERBF
Zhengye International Holdings Company Limited Annual Report 2023
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A B R T
For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-_Z_=—F+-_A=+—HILFE

17. Property, Plant and Equipment 17. Y% - BERRE

Leasehold Furniture Motor Plantand  Construction
Buildings improvements and fixtures vehicles machinery in progress Total
BFY HENERE BAREERE RE HER#E EEIR - h
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETFTL ARETT NS ARETT AREFT ARETT ARETT
cosT A
At 1 January 2022 W-ZE-_—%-F-H 254,297 10,069 45718 25,842 1,459,293 66,068 1,861,287
Acquisition of asubsidiary  KE—FHBAR
(note 35) (FitzE35) 185,961 - - 14 - - 185,975
Additions AE 356 - 235 2,611 1,765 176,789 181,756
Disposals & (8,474) (32) (1,955) (4,703) (84,738) - (99,902)
Transfer from constructionin ~ FATEE TF288#%
progress 55,522 - 6,620 100 130,823 (193,065) -
At 31 December 2022 i
+=A=1-H 487,662 10,037 50,618 23,864 1,507,143 49,792 2129116
Additions AE - - 459 2,324 1,765 123,370 1271918
Disposals hE - - (1,596) (2.947) (5652) - (10,195)
Transfer from construction in ~ FEE TI2ER
progress 8,796 - 1,025 927 121,767 (132,515) -
At 31 December 2023 g S
+-A=+-H 496,458 10,037 50,506 24,168 1,625,023 40,647 2,246,839
DEPRECIATION AND WERAE
IMPAIRMENT
At 1 January 2022 m-Z-—%—F—H 116,017 9,713 22,904 20,053 560,487 - 729174
Provided for the year FREIR 20,483 307 2,504 2406 84,116 - 109,816
Eliminated on disposals HERYH (6,669) (12) (1,777) (4,099) (67,774) - (80,327)
At 31 December 2022 i S
+=-A=+-H 129,835 10,008 23,631 18,360 576,829 - 758,663
Provided for the year FREE 20,960 29 2,660 2317 82,686 - 108,652
Eliminated on disposals HER S - - (1,367) (2,652) (4152) - (8,171)
At 31 December 2023 RZBZ=F
+=-A=1t-H 150,795 10,037 24,924 18,025 655,363 - 859,144
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 December 2023 N
+-A=+-H 345,663 - 25,582 6,143 969,660 40,647 1,387,695
At 31 December 2022 A
+=-A=+-H 357,827 29 26,987 5,504 930,314 49,792 1,370,453
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-_Z_=—F+-_A=+—HILFE

17. Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued) 17. Y% - BERRE®)
The above items of property, plant and equipment, except for BRIERZTZSN - ERFTFIMZE - BFE REFBEEE
construction in progress, are depreciated on a straight-line basis s RMAETERER - KERER AT AIE A EBNE
over their estimated useful lives and after taking into account of their TEFELLERFHRITE

estimated residual values at the following rates per annum:

Buildings Over the shorter of the term of B¥ THAVAAPR 554.50% £ 18%
the lease, or 4.50%—18% DS E A%

Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the term of HEMEEE T A EARR 5 20% 2 50% -
the lease, or 20%-50% R E B
Furniture and fixtures 11.25%-18% G REERE 11.25%Z%18%
Motor vehicles 18% E 18%
Plant and machinery 4.50%-18% TR 5 Ke B A 4.50%Z%18%

18. Right-of-use Assets 18. ERAEEE
Leasehold Leased Machinery

lands properties and vehicles Total
HETH MHEEE HERER et
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARETT AREBTT ARBTET

At 31 December 2023 R=FE_=F+-H=+—H
Carrying amount BREE 154,973 3,746 7,039 165,758
At 31 December 2022 RZEZ—F+=-A=+—H
Carrying amount BREE 160,770 10,129 3,111 174,010
For the year ended HE_ZT_=F
31 December 2023 TZA=+—HILFE
Depreciation charge TEER 5,798 2,844 2,316 10,958
For the year ended HE—Z-—F
31 December 2022 TZA=+—RBLFE
Depreciation charge WEERH 6,035 5,811 3,524 15,370
2023 2022
—EBC=HF —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBFIT
Expense relating to short-term leases % B SRR RO R 2 2,410 1,292
Total cash outflow for leases HEZ R ML &R 10,198 13,973
Additions to right-of-use assets ANEERAREE 6,408 1,853
Zhengye International Holdings Company Limited Annual Report 2023
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_Z_=F1+-A=T—HItFE

Right-of-use Assets (Continued)

For both years, the Group leases various offices, warehouses,
machinery and vehicles for its operations. Lease contracts are
entered into for fixed term of 12 months to 50 years. Lease terms
are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range
of different terms and conditions. In determining the lease term
and assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group
applies the definition of a contract and determines the period for
which the contract is enforceable.

In addition, the Group owns several industrial buildings where its
manufacturing facilities are primarily located and office buildings.
The Group is the registered owner of these property interests,
including the underlying leasehold lands. Lump sum payments were
made upfront to acquire these property interests. The leasehold land
components of these owned properties are presented separately
only if the payments made can be allocated reliably.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for motor vehicles
and properties. As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the portfolio of
short-term leases is similar to the portfolio of short-term leases to
which the short-term lease expense disclosed above.

Lease liabilities of RMB27,540,000 (2022: RMB31,034,000) are
recognised with related right-of-use assets of RMB23,616,000 as at 31
December 2023 (2022: RMB27,082,000). The lease agreements do not
impose any covenants other than the security interests in the leased
assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as
security for borrowing purposes.

During the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, there was no
rent concession provided by the lessors.

To better manage the Group's capital structure and financing needs,
the Group sometimes enters into sale and leaseback arrangements
in relation to machinery leases. These legal transfers do not satisfy
the requirements of HKFRS 15 to be accounted for as a sale of the
machinery. During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
has not raised new borrowings in respect of such sale and leaseback
arrangements (2022: RMB67,600,000).

Details of the leasehold lands pledged are set out in note 37.

Details of the impairment assessment of right-of-use assets are set
out in note 17.

Details of the lease maturity analysis of lease liabilities are set out in
notes 28 and 39.

EHEEE

RREFE  AREEHLEHRETHAE &
B BRRSE - ENETHEE12(8 A E504 ]
A% - MEGRRIZER LS - YRIET
O AR S e = BT B K a4 7 A 8184 2B
RN AREEASHZERRETTTES
#02 HAR -

AN - AEBEHEABET BAEREMEL TEE
FERAERT - AEEDMEME#ER(BHEE
R E iﬂﬂ)ZZﬁEhﬁ/\ o BALLEMERERR

TR —IRMETARR - %E%EM%ME — b 2%%)

@E%iﬁmﬁm SO BERER N8BT
T o

AEBERRAERYEITVEHEE - R=F

—=ERZF_F+-A=1—H EHHEESR
S FXRANEREHERBMWAEERES
AaEM -

H\—gi_ﬂz+ )E] + H EﬁEuuiﬁE/\
BEAEARB2754000T(ZE=_—_F: AR
#£31,034000) RFEAEREEEASARK
23,616,000 (=& = — 4% : A R # 27,082,000
L) c BEBARTEREERS G ERER - BH
T E R EE TR % - HREENSHER
REER o

BE_ T —FR-_T-__F+_A=+—HILF
B EEAHEAREHESEE

BRI EBRASENEAEBNBRET K - A%
ERESEmA ST T ERADTHE - ZEATE
B TRABBUIEREEDB1SRABEATHE
ZEMWER REE—_E_=F+-_A=+—H
IFFE  AEEEHZEERERTHESHER
(ZZF=—F : AR¥67,600,0007T) °

BRACERES TR IEHNMES7 -

BRAE RS ERE G BN -

RAMAEaENHERIH
FI3E39 ©

AT HO RIS B MY 28 2
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A B R T
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-Z-_=F+-A=1+—HALLFE

19. Intangible Assets 19. BEEE
Development
costs
B B A
RMB’'000
AREETTT
cosT B
At 1 January 2022 MN-—E-_—_F—H—H 14,581
Additions NE 9,513
At 31 December 2022 KRB —_F+=-_A=+—H 24,094
Additions NE 4,262
At 31 December 2023 T =Ft+-H=+—H 28,356
AMORTISATION #is
At 1 January 2022 RZEZ—_F—H—H 9,165
Charge for the year FAEHR 2,313
At 31 December 2022 - _F+=-_HA=+—H 11,478
Charge for the year FRNEH 3,106
At 31 December 2023 —E-_=%+-A=+—H 14,584
CARRYING VALUES BRTE{E
At 31 December 2023 —E-=&#+-AF=+—H 13,772
At 31 December 2022 —EF+=ZA=+—H 12,616
Development costs are internally generated. FEE AR B AED ©
The above intangible asset has finite useful lives. Such intangible asset FtEREENAIERERHER - 2BV EERE
is amortised on a straight-line basis over 5 years. KRR SR o
Zhengye International Holdings Company Limited Annual Report 2023
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A B R T
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-Z-_=F+-A=1+—HALLFE

20. Inventories

20. 7&

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—F
RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR¥T T AREET T

Raw material and consumables R R B 120,953 115,140
Finished goods B 84,355 113,213
205,308 228,353

During the year, the cost of inventories capitalised in intangible assets
amounted to RMB2,612,000 (2022: RMB7,371,000).

Details of inventories pledged are set out in note 37.

RAFE  FERAEFEERLAEREED
SEABARE2612000TT(ZTE-—F : AR
7,371,000) 7T ©

B ERF SR BENMEST -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE—

Trade and Other Receivables

Eo=F+A=+—RHIFE

21. EZREMERFE

2023 2022

—EBC-=HF S

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T T AREETTT

Trade receivables not backed by bills SR RRENE HEWFIE 307,594 428,505
Less: allowance for credit losses /J% EEEERE (3,049) (5,355)
304,545 423,150

Trade receivables backed by other bills NEAMZER R RENE 5 R 80,256 166,972
Less: allowance for credit losses B EEERRE (215) (121)
80,041 166,851

Total trade receivables not backed by bank bills BRITRBEREENE 5 EKEIAERTE 387,850 595,477
Less: allowance for credit losses B S EEERE (3,264) (5,476)
384,586 590,001

Trade receivables backed by bank bills NRITEBRREENE HEIGIE 397,225 157,703
Less: allowance for credit losses B EEERRE (776) (454)
396,449 157,249

Total trade receivables 2 S IEWFIE AR 781,035 747,250
Advances to suppliers BRI RIR 16,025 14,382
Prepayments TEfTFRIE 4,364 4,345
Other receivables H fib fE W FRI8 32,808 39,442
Less: allowance for credit losses B EEERRE (293) (141)
52,904 58,028

Total trade and other receivables B R EMERGIELREE 833,939 805,278
As at 1 January 2022, trade receivables from contracts with customers RZZT__F—F—H BFANELNESEK

amounted to RMB1,050,824,000.

FRIE B AR #1,050,824,0007T °

Zhengye International Holdings Company Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-_Z_=—F+-_A=+—HILFE

. Trade and Other Receivables (Continued)

The Group allows an average credit period of 30 to 120 days from
the invoice date to its trade customers except for the newly accepted
customers for which payment is made when goods are delivered. For
customers with good credit quality, the Group also allows them to
settle with bills before the due date of settlement. Those bank bills
with maturity ranging from 60 to 180 days are guaranteed by banks.

As at 31 December 2023, total gross amounts of bills received
amounting to RMB477,481,000 (2022: RMB324,675,000) before ECL
are held by the Group for future settlement of trade receivables, of
which certain bills were further discounted/endorsed by the Group.
The Group continues to recognise their full carrying amounts at the
end of the reporting period and details are disclosed in note 22. All
bills received by the Group are with a maturity period of less than
one year.

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables not backed by
bills presented based on dates of delivery of goods at the end of the
reporting period:

ESRHMEWRIE®)
AEERBEZHABSRAE  NESEFRET
HI0E120KMIERAE  EFABENEFERER
REFBEAR - HREERONES » AEETAF
HRNGEEZIHARAZEREE - 2SR AIIRTE
R - BIHI BN TF60E 180K °

75’\_7_ F+ZA=1+—8 AEEFENEE

RENEHETEH(EEEER A AR KA477,481,0007T
(:7__¢ AR#324,675,0007T) * R{ER B4
HESRUGIE  ETRETEREEAERE—S
BEIR B E - RBFEHR  AEEEEREAREEE
2H 0 BB E - AEBWEKFTE
ZER—FEAREIE -

AT RRBERHRRERINBHALINERER
RENE S RUFIEREDT -

2023 2022

—EBC-=HF T —F

RMB'000 RMB'000

AR¥T T ARBTFTT

0-60 days 0Z 60K 256,266 331,971
61-90 days 61E90K 17,286 33,527
91-180 days 912180k 28,119 53,378
Over 180 days 180K LA 2,874 4,274
304,545 423,150
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-_Z_=—F+-_A=+—HILFE

21. Trade and Other Receivables (Continued)

The aged analysis of trade receivables backed by bills based on
receipt dates of bills at the end of the reporting period is analysed as

B 5 K EmBWRRE )
MT%Fﬁiﬁiﬁwm m BHIZFIHARER
&ENE 5 RUGRIBIRER DT

follows:

2023 2022

—E-=E —=E_—
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBT T
0-60 days 0Z= 60K 215,557 64,656
61-90 days 610K 105,143 37,074
91-180 days 91E 180K 153,629 166,868
Over 180 days 180K LA £ 2,161 55,502
Total Bt 476,490 324,100

As at 31 December 2023, included in the Group's trade
receivables balance are debtors with aggregate carrying amount
of RMB30,998,000 (2022: RMB57,792,000) which are past due as
at the reporting date. Out of the past due balances, RM2,874,000
(2022: RMB4,274,000) has been past due 90 days or more and is not
considered as in default after taking into account the repayment
histories and financial position of debtors. For trade receivables
in which customers have provided bills for settlement are not
considered as past due nor in default. Other than bills received, the
Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

Details of trade receivables backed or not backed by bills pledged
are set out in note 37.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other receivables for
the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note 39.

During the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group
discounted bills provided by external customers with recourse to
banks or other financial institutions for short-term financing. The
proceeds received from discounting of bills to banks which do not
qualify for derecognition have been included under cash inflows
under financing activities in the consolidated statement of cash flows.
For proceeds received from discounting of bills to other financial
institutions of customers, the relevant cash flows are presented as
operating cash flows in the consolidated statement of cash flows
as the management considers the cash flows are, in substance,
the receipts from trade debtors. For the non-cash settlement of
discounted bills, please refer to note 40.

MNZZE_=F+_A=+—0 AEENBZRE
WHRBEHEERBEBHERHNERER - £
BRAEARK3099800T(ZTE=-_—F: AR
#857,792,0007T) - BRI EHRES - ARK
2,874,000 7c<_?__¢ AR #4,274,0007T) 2
EHAQOR I | HEAEE mEHS AR B SREC iR R B
BkRE » TEEEY - REFCIREEBELED
B S5 RBGRIBR R EB BN RER L - REI
ZIEIN  REBWERZSERT AT AEER -

FRNERRBRARENBERARBRARENES
JE YUK IR O S B B BT RE37 ©

FRBE_ZT_=F+_A=1T—RLFEEIR
Ho At & WK IR RO (B R B0 B B BT RE39 ©

REZE T _=—FR_ZF__F+-_A=+—H
IFFE - AEBBINBEF PRI HERESR
BRALER TRITSHE M RIS - AERERRE -
BEIR IR T IRTT TS RN & MR HER 0 61 -
VEFAGZERSRERANMEXBIA RN
EE - AR F P RE T A BB S FIAEM

- HREEERRERAEREREEE L AE
%E\EW\H&(W\ HHER e RENGARERERNA
2 REERERE - MMARBRZIFHRSEEM
= ' B2BINTEE40 ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-_Z_=—F+-_A=+—HILFE

. Trade and Other Receivables (Continued)

During the year, the Group endorsed bills with recourse amounted
to RMB54,271,000 (2022: RMB37,734,000) to suppliers for settlement.
The relevant transactions are non-cash transactions and the effects
are excluded from the consolidated statement of cash flows.

The Group's trade and other receivables that are denominated in
the following currencies other than the functional currencies of the
relevant group entities are set out below:

B 5 K E Ath FEWRR A (

RAFE - $E@%WWL§F SBEARE

54271 0007T(ZF = —4 : AR#¥37,734,0007T)
BETHEMEEE - BEXZA/IRERS  H

FEIHAGERERER -

AREBATIIEBEEE T ERINGEEE AINE
HEHENE 5 R E M RUGIRES T

2023 2022
—EC-=4F B —F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT AREETTT
Hong Kong Dollars (“HKD") B(l#Ex)) 71 73
. Transfers of Financial Assets . L%@Eﬂﬁ?
The following were the Group's bills as at 31 December 2023 and NTARZE_=FRk-F-__F+-A=+—H

2022 that were transferred to banks, other financial institutions or
suppliers by discounting or endorsing on a full recourse basis. As the
Group has not transferred the significant risks and rewards relating
to the bills, it continues to recognise the full carrying amount of the
related trade receivables and trade payables and has recognised
the cash received from banks and other financial institutions on the
transfer as a secured borrowings (see note 27).

The bills from external customers are carried at amortised cost. Bills
arising from intra-group transactions in which the relevant group
entities discounted or transferred the bills to banks, other financial
institutions or suppliers, such trade receivables and related intra-
group payables have been eliminated in the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position.

$Eth&%EL%%mmﬁﬁﬂ%ﬁi“$§
ETRTT - AL SRBEIHER - ARAREL
EERERBABNTIERRRE R - HERER
HEEZRERALE RN RANREERER
I R R ERTT S HA & B B R B O 3R 2 HER
RBEERER(RME27) -

SNEPE P RIBIAB SHA AR - LEREIE T E S
SENERBCHAXIMELRERRAIERTR
T EMEREERHERMS @ ZFE KK
AEABEEARER L HENRAERAEEES
ISR KRS 8
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A B R T
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-_Z-_=F+-A=1+—HItFE

BELMEE®)

22. Transfers of Financial Assets (Continued) 22.

At 31 December 2023

R-B-Z=5+-A=+—H

Bills
discounted to
banks with full

Bills
endorsed to
suppliers with

recourse  full recourse Total
BENEE2E HFEMFRE
BREERET BRERE
$R1T FHER et
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T ARBTT AR¥TT
Carrying amount of bills RIEREE 233,106 41,308 274,414
— external customers — NP 233,106 40,611 273,717
— intra-group customers —SERNEBRER - 697 697
Carrying amount of trade payables B 5 REMNFIEREE - (41,308) (41,308)
Carrying amount of bank and other HRITREAERREE
borrowings (233,106) - (233,1006)
At 31 December 2022 N-EBE-_—F+-_A=+—H
Bills
discounted
to banks/
other financial Bills
institutions endorsed to
with full  suppliers with
recourse full recourse Total
BEERMI SR E
BEEZET BEWSEZE
|17,/ EHAth BRERE
Bl d T RER #eEt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETFT ARBTFT ARBFIT
Carrying amount of bills FIRREAE 238,196 3,568 241,764
— external customers — SN P 232,643 2,561 235,204
— intra-group customers —SERNEBHEES 5,553 1,007 6,560
Carrying amount of trade payables S EMFIEEEE = (3,568) (3,568)
Carrying amount of bank and other RIT R A EFAREE
borrowings (238,196) - (238,196)
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A B R T
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-_Z-_=F+-A=1+—HItFE

23. Contract Assets

3. BHEE

2023 2022

—EC-=HF —E-—4F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET R ARETTT

Made-to-order paper-based packaging products & B4R EL B E 10,824 9,377
Current BN &R 10,824 9,377

At 1 January 2022, contract assets amounted to RMB15,550,000.

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group's right to
consideration for work completed and not billed because the rights
are conditioned on the Group's future performance. The contract
assets are transferred to trade receivables when the rights become
unconditional.

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of contract assets
recognised are as follows:

The Group typically does not require a deposit on acceptance of
order. The consideration is payable on the earlier of the delivery
and acceptance of the finished goods by customers or notice from
the customer to cancel the order. If the customer cancels the order
then the Group is entitled to receive payment for work done to
date pursuant to legal and regulatory environment in the PRC. The
Group typically issue bills to customers when the finished goods are
delivered to customers and acknowledged by customers. The credit
term is ranging from 30 to 120 days.

Details of the impairment assessment are set out in note 39.

R-ZZFE-_—_F—-—H—H AHEEAARK
15,550,0007T °

BRNEENTRENASEE KA R BUIREK
EHRER - ERZSENBFARERRENT
EMHAFEER - NEERZ SRR SRR
RS EERE B REIRIR -

AR A NEESBBAT 2N — RGN
T

—RME - AEEAZTERTEERBIRETE
REERRKMRN TR MERPENRIEER
FHEUHRTER (AR EEERE)XN « HEFPR
HEIE - AIREEERRETEOAENEETRE
WEGE S BIEPTZER TIERNR - —RME - A&
BN RN T &P RER P 2R % P A%
= ERENF30E120K -

BRI ERH GRS BRI HTESS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-_Z_=—F+-_A=+—HILFE

24. Bank Balances and Cash/Pledged Bank Deposits

Bank balances include demand deposits and short term deposits for
the purpose of meeting the Group's short term cash commitments,
which carry interest at market rates range from 0.01% to 1.85% (2022:
0.01% to 0.35%) per annum.

Pledged bank deposits carry interest rates which range from 0.2%
to 1.95% (2022: 0.3% to 2.25%) per annum, and represent deposits
pledged to banks to secure banking facilities granted to the Group.
Deposits amounting to RMB93,340,000 (2022: RMB64,016,000) have
been pledged to secure the short-term bank borrowings and bills
payables repayable within three to six months and are therefore
classified as current assets. The pledged bank deposits will be
released upon the settlement of relevant bank borrowings and bills
payables.

Detail of impairment assessment of pledged bank deposits and bank
balances are set out in note 39.

The Group's bank balances that are denominated in the following
currencies other than the functional currencies of the relevant group
entities are set out below:

24. EERRITEREBITEHGRRE

RITHERBREAFEAER SR SARERERAE
BERREEER - BN TFEFE00IEE1.85E
(ZZE=Z%F : 001EZ0.35F ) NTIH TR & o

ERFEFERZENT02EE195E(ZF=_F : 0.3
[EZE2. 25 )MFEFIEFE « IEEMTFIRITOTR
EARTAEEMRITHENER - 55 /\EM
93,340,000t (=T == : AR¥64,016,0007T)
DEEE - (EABR=2/NME A REENEHIERTT
BREENEENER  WOoEARDEE - B
HIRITF R PNMEE AR SRT TE SRR RS -

BRAC KR TER LIETELNRETGOFERE
BAHIEESD ©

AREBATIIEBEEE T ERINGEEE AIINE
HEHERRTTAASREZIAT

2023 2022

—E-=8 —E-—F

RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARETT AREET T

HKD BT 3,821 8,507
United States Dollars (“USD”) En(xErx]) 447 438
Great Britain Pound ("GBP") wgE([5Ees ) 9 6
Euro (“EUR") BT ([&iTl) 311 286
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25. Trade and Other Payables 25. EZRHEMENRIEA
2023 2022
—EC-=HF i 3
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T AREETTT
Trade payables E ZENFRIE 234,277 173,872
Bills payables — secured e S=E— B EA 92,086 68,013
Other tax payables (note) H A 18 (BT ) 35,479 51,964
Payroll and welfare payables FEAT S B K2 48 A1 B 33,790 24,639
Construction payables FEfT T2 FIE - 5,192
Others HAth 33,350 33,230
428,982 356,910

Note: Included in other tax payables is provision for value-added tax amounting to

RMB32,732,000 (2022: RMB48,469,000).

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables presented based

fieE - EtbENHIEEEARRK32732,000T(=ZF= =4 :

AR #548,469,0007T ) KL E R B o

LA B & BRI WS m B B2 5180 B Z e

on the dates of receipt of goods at the end of the reporting period. FOERRE DT
2023 2022
—E-=fF —ECCF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®BT T ARETTT
0-60 days 0&60K 131,245 87,452
61-90 days 61E90K 19,663 24,816
91-180 days 91£2180K 19,578 32,445
Over 180 days 180K LA = 63,791 29,159
234,277 173,872
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-Z-_=F+-A=1+—HALLFE

25. Trade and Other Payables (Continued) 25. EFRHEMENRIE®)
The aged analysis of bills payables based on issuance dates of bills at NTARHREHRERIREE A BNE0EMNRIR
the end of the reporting period are analysed as follows: BREC AT
2023 2022
—EC-=F T F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBTT AREETTT
0-60 days 0Z 60K 31,429 23,256
61-90 days 61290K 23,267 7,215
91-180 days 912180k 37,390 23,303
Over 180 days 180K LA - 14,239
92,086 68,013
The credit period on purchase of materials is 30 to 120 days. The BEMENERANTI0E120K - AEEFZREH
Group has financial risk management policies in place to monitor the BREREIRBR A ERER -
settlement.
At 31 December 2023 and 2022, no trade and other payables of RZBZ=FR-F-__F+-A=+—H K&
the Group denominated in the currency other than the functional B AR S EE T BB BB MBSt
currencies of the relevant group entities. ENE S KEMRENFRIE
26. Consideration Payables 26. BENRERE
2023 2022
—E-=HF 3
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBT T AREETTT
Current ik - 5,809
Fixed consideration payables at amortised cost REREB NG 2 B E SR B RIE - 1,656
Contingent consideration payables at FVTPL RATEFT ABRHSANENRERIE - 4,153
- 5,809
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-_Z_=—F+-_A=+—HILFE

26. Consideration Payables (Continued)

On 1 March 2020, the Group completed the acquisition of 80% equity
interest in Yudu County Zhengyi Paper Products and Paper Industry
Company Limited (“Zhengyi”) for an aggregate consideration
of RMB47,200,000 plus contingent consideration. The aggregate
amount of cash consideration of RMB29,800,000 was paid upon
completion of the acquisition. For the remaining cash consideration,
RMB6,200,000, RMB7,860,000, RMB1,670,000 and RMB1,670,000
should be paid in September 2020, March 2021, March 2022 and
March 2023 respectively. Regarding the contingent consideration
arrangement, the Group is required to pay additional amounts
of RMB4,270,000, RMB4,270,000 and RMB4,260,000 as at 30 June
2021, 2022 and 2023 respectively if Zhengyi's profit after tax in each
of the calendar years 2020, 2021 and 2022 exceeds RMB3,000,000,
RMB4,000,000 and RMB5,000,000 respectively. The present value of
the consideration amounted to RMB27,829,000 was accounted for
by the Group with discount rate of 5.23% applied on consideration
payables at initial recognition. The fixed and contingent
considerations are subsequently measured at amortised cost and
FVTPL respectively.

During the year, the consideration amounted to RMB5,930,000 (2022:
RMB5,940,000) has been paid.

. EARERE®)
R_E_TF=A—H AEBUEAREBARE
47,200,0007T 55 hn sk S8 (B WS T B 5% (E 184K o &
HEBER AT ([EMR])B0%BHIAIE - REREER
TR A HRE A RB29,800,0007 © 4 FERESNRE
AR #6,200,0007C © AR%7,860,0007T @ AR
1,670, ooo;E&AEﬂ%ﬂ 670,000TTEED IR =ZE =
TFENR  ZTFZ—F=R 2T ZF=AK=
TZ=F= ﬂszﬁ ﬁy“ﬁﬁadz%;ﬂ?‘;zﬂ# fiw % IE
BRZZ-_ZF T FN_ZT-_—_FZEF
B i 12 A 5 /E':Jii@/\ﬁ?ﬁ%,OOO,OOOTE AR
400000073%[1)\@#%%500000073 REEBFRZ
—FXNA=+H ' T —_FA=F+HM=
__E/\H_JrEl o RIS AR #4,270,0007T
AR #4,270,00070 F1 A R % 4,260,000 7T K BN &
BE o NEE RN MRS A FE A5 SRIE R F R IR =&
5.23% 8 A R#27,829,0007 KB IRECER © E5E
MR EBIIBEEE D BB EX AN 2 IR
NA(ERT AR °

RAFEE » BREBARKS593000T( ===
& ARKES5,940,0007T) B XA ©

Bank and Other Borrowings H At B
2023 2022
—EC-=4F —Eo—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T AREET T
Bank and other borrowings IRIT R EAMEK 1,022,062 1,054,185

Less: Amount due within one year shown under B R—F AT IIERE B EN 5

current liabilities (802,506) (870,919)
Amount shown under non-current liabilities TWEIERE BB 219,556 183,266
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27. Bank and Other Borrowings (Continued)

27. RITREMER @

2023 2022
—EC-=F i 3
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREETTT
Bank borrowings FITRERK 738,840 687,949
Bank borrowings (discounted bills with IRITER (I H 2 EE R ERR)
full recourse) 233,106 129,880
971,946 817,829
Secured B 964,696 791,031
Unsecured AR 7,250 26,798
971,946 817,829
Carrying amount repayable:* AR T BAREEMEREE : *
Within one year —FR 762,428 684,680
Within a period of more than one year —F LA ERAF AT IR
but not more than two years 58,057 55,753
Within a period of more than two years M LA £ R A LA T #IHAR
but not more than five years 143,121 66,496
Within a period of more than five years FFA EHYEARE 8,340 10,900
971,946 817,829
Less: Amount due within one year shown under B R—FARRIEREHIERE B EN 5
current liabilities (762,428) (684,680)
Amount shown under non-current liabilities TWEIERE B EN ST 209,518 133,149
& The amounts are based on scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan & ZESBENIRBRER BHEENT EERBRZS -
agreement&
The Group's bank borrowings that are denominated in the following REEATHRESEE T EBIEEENINE
currency other than the functional currencies of the relevant group BETERIRITIEREH AT
entities are set out below:
2023 2022
—E=F T CF
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®BTT ARETTT
HKD HBIT 7,250 26,798
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
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27. Bank and Other Borrowings (Continued) 27. SRITREMER @)
Detail of assets pledged for secured bank borrowings are set out in EAREREEEABERRITERERNFTFER
note 37. FABEE37 ©
The ranges of effective interest rates (which are also equal to REBEBFNERNR(BERALME)HEE LN
contracted interest rates) on the Group's borrowings are as follows: L
2023 2022
—E-=F e 3

Effective interest rate:
EIFIE

Fixed-rate borrowings
B M EFHEER
Variable-rate borrowings

0.80% to 5.98% per annum
FRIE0.80EE5.98E
3.21% to 7.90% per annum

1.05% to 5.70% per annum
FH%1.05E £5.70E
5.44% to 6.48% per annum

BN R B SR EFEI.21EE7.90E EFR5 44B F6.48E
At 31 December 2023, variable-rate bank borrowings amounted RZZZ=F+ZA=+—8 ' EZBAXFEME

HKEBARBE111,55900T(ZFE==F : AR¥
36,798,0007T) ° ZEBHIZBBRITRZERE([FE
BIRTRAZEFRE D INE(ZZ==F : HHRTT
FEFESMIE) R ([EREERZE])RM15EZ M

to RMB111,559,000 (2022: RMB36,798,000). The borrowings are
charged at the interest rate based on Hong Kong Interbank Offered
Rate (“"HIBOR") plus 3% (2022: HIBOR plus 3%) and loan prime rate
("LPR") minus 1.5 % to plus 2.7% (2022: LPR plus 2.8%), and expose
the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. At 31 December 2023, 27EMFEHB(ZT_2F : BEREEFXM2.8
fixed-rate bank borrowings amounted to RMB860,387,000 (2022: B E R - EAREEERIRSRAEER -
RMB781,031,000). R-B_=F+"A=+—8  BEMNXFEE
HAANRBEB60,387,000L(ZF=—F : ARK
781,031,0007T) °

As at 31 December 2023, secured bank borrowings include the
proceeds received from the discounting of (i) bills from external
customers amounting to RMB233,106,000 (2022: RMB124,327,000),
and (i) bills issued by group entities of nil (2022: RMB5,553,000), to
banks with recourse.

RZF_=F+=-A=+—0 FERRTER
BREURHGEEERENINBEFRBARE
233,10600075(_f——¢ A R # 124,327,000
) RMEEETEBLARTBRARBZ(ZF
=45 : AR¥5,553,0007T) TERITZ FTSH0R ©
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27. Bank and Other Borrowings (Continued)

A B R T
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-_Z-_=F+-A=1+—HItFE

27. 8R17T

K B AtbfE (@)

piil

2023 2022
—E-=F i 3
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT AREETTT
Other borrowings HER 50,116 128,040
Other borrowings (discounted bills HER (M2 EERENERER)
with full recourse) - 108,316
50,116 236,356
Secured (note 1) BHEAR(HEE) 50,116 236,356
Carrying amount repayable: AP AT B EE M BRI (E ¢
Within one year —&FR 40,078 186,239
Within a period of more than one year —F LA F R T H HAE
but not more than two years 10,038 40,078
Within a period of more than two years MG LA £ & S LA B 2R
but not more than five years - 10,039
50,116 236,356
Less: Amount due within one year shown under B R—F AR HIERE B EN S
current liabilities (40,078) (186,239)
Amount shown under non-current liabilities FIEIERB B BN 2R 10,038 50,117

Note: In 2020, the Group entered into agreements (the “Agreements A") with BeE -

PRC financial institutions (“Financial Institutions A”) whereby the Group
drew down RMB137,757,000 from the Financial Institutions A (included in
other borrowings) which are to be repayable within 3 years from the date
of draw down at variable-rates based on LPR plus a premium. The effective
interest rates of the borrowings as at 31 December 2022: 9.60% to 10.24%
per annum. During the year ended 31 December 2023, the loans have been

fully repaid.

In 2021, the Group entered into agreements (the “Agreements B") with PRC
financial institutions (“Financial Institutions B”) whereby the Group drew
down RMB91,792,000 from the Financial Institutions B (included in other
borrowings) which are to be repayable within 3 years from the date of draw
down at variable-rates based on LPR plus a premium. The effective interest
rates of the borrowings as at 31 December 2023 ranged from 9.60% to
10.24% (2022: 9.60% to 10.24%) per annum.

REZTZZTF  AEEE-HPEREE ([ Sm%
BRI ([BRER]) - Bt - AEE RS HE
BEFRELA R#137,757,0007C (G AEMERK) - AR
REUE R = FAREE  REREREEFERN
FERERAE  BN—FHE - RZT-_—F+=A
=+—RB  ZEERZEBBEFENTEFNRIOER
104EEE_T_=F+-A=+—HILFE  EX
EEEHE -

REZZTZ—F  AEEEZEPESHEE([Sm
BZ DI umA((HBEZ]) Bt - AEE RS R
BZAREBA R #91,792,0007T (sF A E A £ 3%) - AR
REE R = FAREE  REREREEA XL
ZEFERNE  BN—FEHE R-_T=_=F+_A
=+—B  ZEERZEBRFRNTEFRIOES
1024B(ZF==F : NT9.60EZE 10.24/F) °

Zhengye International Holdings Company Limited
EXBIBRERERAF]

Annual Report 2023
T ZFFER



> T,
\ ¥

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A B R T
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-_Z-_=F+-A=1+—HItFE

27. Bank and Other Borrowings (Continued) 27. RITREMERE)
Note: (Continued) BiRE : (48)
In 2022, the Group entered into agreements (the “Agreements C") with PRC RZTZZF AEEEZMRESHEE (S8
financial institutions (“Financial Institutions C”) whereby the Group drew BRI IHE(BRER]) - Bt - AEBE RS AHE
down RMB67,600,000 from the Financial Institutions D (included in other EAIREA R 67,600,0007T (s AEAMLER) - AR
borrowings) which are to be repayable within 3 years from the date of draw REEHRRFT=FUAEE - RENEREBFEH
down at variable-rates based on LPR plus a premium. The effective interest FBFEGE  BN—E%E - R_T_=F+=A
rates of the borrowings as at 31 December 2023 ranged from 7.80% to 9.90% =+—B  ZEBRZEBRFENFEREIOEE
(2022: 7.80% to 9.90%) per annum. 9NVE(ZTE-_—F : NF780EEI.E) -
As collaterals for the above financing, the Group transferred the ownership ERFE R - NEE S SRR < PrA R
title of the related machinery to the Financial Institutions A, Financial ERTZoRBER  SRRELRSRIEER -
Institutions B and Financial Institutions C.
Upon discharging all the Group's obligations under the Agreements A, RERASEERET BRI RBERN THAEEE
Agreements B and Agreements C, the Financial Institutions A, Financial % SREETR  SREEBEZREREBERE®EE
Institutions B and Financial Institutions C will return the ownership title HBEEERBEARK100THB@EER IEERET
of the machinery to the Group for nominal amount of RMB100 for each REE - BEZSHE P LOEEEE - AEERER
agreement. Despite these agreements involve a legal form of a lease, the PR BBLRBEANEEAND - §iHET - B3
Group accounted for the Agreements A, Agreements B and Agreements C as LR ER R A A BRI A R K AR A 1R
collateralised borrowings at amortised cost using effective interest method fEK e
in accordance with the actual substance of the Agreements A, Agreements B
and Agreements C.
As at 31 December 2023, other secured borrowings also included the —E-=Ft-A=1+—H HEtAEANERTE
proceeds received from the discounting of bills provided by external FERRIN S 2 EERENINS R IR T At & Rk
customers amounting to RMB108,316,000 to other financial institutions with ERTSFRIE AR #108,316,0007T °
recourse.
28. Lease Liabilities 28. HEAE
2023 2022
—E-=E —E-F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBFT
Lease liabilities payable: AR AT HEERNEEAE
Within one year —FR 4,539 5119
Within a period of more than one year —F LA ERMF AT &I AR
but not more than two years 8,324 3,877
Within a period of more than two years M LA E R AT H HAE
but not more than five years 5,225 12,155
Within a period of more than five years FF LA ERIERR 9,452 9,883
27,540 31,034
Less: Amount due within one year shown under B N F AL IIERE B EN SR
current liabilities (4,539) (5,119)
Amount shown under non-current liabilities FIVEIERBN B B SR 23,001 25,915
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE—

Lease Liabilities (Continued)
The incremental borrowing rates applied to lease liabilities range
from 4.75% to 6.12% (2022: from 4.9% to 6.12%).

Lease obligations that are denominated in currencies other than the
functional currencies of the relevant group entities are set out below:

28.

Eo=F+A=+—RHIFE

HESE®

HEEaERANRELEREN T475EBE6.12E
(ZBE=—F : NTLIEZ612E) -
RSB N EENEEE N EEHENHE
EAEHTIT

2023 2022

—E-=F —E-F

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETT ARET T

HKD BT 242 485
Contract Liabilities 29. B 8B

2023 2022

B8 —E-—F

RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARET T

Packaging paper products BEREEDR 10,133 7,158

As at 1 January 2022, contract liabilities amounted to RMB8,025,000.

The amount of contract liabilities includes the revenue to be
recognised. The contract liabilities balance varies in accordance with
the number of contracts outstanding at the end of reporting period.
The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised in
the current year relates to carried-forward contract liabilities.

RZZ-__F—A—H GHEBEARARE
8,025,0007T °

BRNAESHEBEBTERLA - ANABESRE
EEHRERRERTTRNEHEE ﬁ'ﬁﬁ TRIIR
AEEMRERBRAETRRSEANAENED

Packaging
paper
products
BEREER
RMB'000
ARETTT
For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE-Z-=F+-A=+—HLEFE
Revenue recognised that was included in FTRERNFEAEI A G R B BEARN W
the contract liability balance at the beginning
of the year 6,335
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE-_Z-_—_H+_A=+—HLEE
Revenue recognised that was included in FIRERNE T AR R B BEARN R
the contract liability balance at the beginning
of the year 7,102
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_Z_=F+_A=1t—HLFE

29. Contract Liabilities (Continued) =) ,.'J'%TE‘ &)
No revenue relates to performance obligations that were satisfied in @Zi_ TR T HE+_A=1T—HIM
prior periods for both years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022. &l 2 30 S W 2 BB 1 BRI B BT B AV = 154
A e
Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of contract HEERE N A ESHERKTEN — RN TR
liabilities recognised are set out in note 5. RS o
30. Amounts Due to Directors 30. BEEERIE
2023 2022
—EC-=HF —E-4F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMTFR  ARETR
Consideration payables (note a) EARE () 91,140 91,140
Other amounts due to directors (note b) FEREEEMFE (M ED) 3,028 246
94,168 91,386
Less: Amount due within one year shown under B R —F AR HIERE A G
current liabilities Eojcatt (94,168) (46,746)

Amount shown under non-current liabilities FIEIERBI B BN R - 44,640

Notes: B -

a. As at 31 December 2023, the consideration payables to four directors of the a. RZF_=F+=-A=+—H8 " pWEFRLTEEXHA
Company for the acquisition of Zhongshan City Zheng Ye Leasing Company ERRAR([EXBE ) ENAAANBESFTNHNR
Limited (“Zheng Ye Leasing"”), are secured by the Group’s 51% equity B+ UAREERIEXTBE NS BRIEIERER - 1REF=E
interest in Zheng Ye Leasing, bearing interest of 4.2% (2022: 4.65%) per 42%(ZF=—F : 4.65%)ft BT H-TE-_—FF %
annum and repayable from 2022 to 2024. Details of the acquisition are set Z U HARIER o BB EA M EESS o

out in note 35.

b. Other amounts due to directors are unsecured, interest free and repayable b. RN EREMRIEREER  RERIREREER -
on demand.
31. Deferred Taxation 31. EEMIE
For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of REEMBRAKX2IIME - EfE TRERIEE
financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been EHBELE - LT AMBRE M RERIEER
offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for DT

financial reporting purposes:

2023 2022
—E-=E —E-F
RMB'000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARBETTT

Deferred tax assets ‘LLT)EEIEEF (1,046) (335)
Deferred tax liabilities BT & E 4,989 6,087
3,943 5,752
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31. Deferred Taxation (Continued) 31.

The following are the major deferred tax (assets) liabilities recognised
and movements thereon during the current and prior years:

Provision
Right-of- Lease Contract for
use assets liabilities assets  inventories

fERERE HERR  AKEE FERRE
RMBI000 RMBIO00 RMBI000 RMB000
ARETR  ARETE  ARETT  ARETR

IEFERIE ()
AT ARAEERBEFEERRNEBRTHE
(EE)AEREEE

Impairment
on
Impairment Undistributed property,
Deferred on  Depreciation profit of plant and
income receivables  differences  subsidiaries  equipment Total
Fel WRAE 9% HER
BERA HEHE EEE  RAEA RfEHE st

RMBO00 RMB000 RMBO00 RMB000 RMBI000 RMB000
ARMTR  ARETE  ARETR  ARMTR  ARETR  ARETR

At 1 January 2022 “T-2F-f-H 5832 (5927) 49 (2,058) (5,658) (1,207) 359 6,005 (3518 (2.480)
(Credt) charge for the year im (AR (3697) 3744 (59) 2058 5497 99 183 (,005) 3518 8238
At 1 January 2023 R=Z-=%-H-A 213 (2,183 390 - (161) (208) 3719 2,000 - 5752
(Credt) charge for the year ERGIA)MR (381) 320 82 - (892) 132 194 (1,100) - (1,809
At 31 December 2023 . S

+-A=1+-A 1,75 (1.863) 308 - (1,053 76) 39713 900 - 3983

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses
of RMB624,188,000 (2022: RMB345,715,000) available for offset
against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of the unused tax losses of RMB624,188,000 (2022:
RMB345,715,000) due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.
The unrecognised tax losses at the end of reporting period will be
expired in the following years:

RMEBR  AEEEARDATEEEARE
624,188,000 (=T = =4 : AR % 345,715,000
TC) ] AR S AR SR 1) o E R AR R A1) 2R JR 8 LA
TER - P& RE R B) A B IE B 18 A R #5624,188,0007T
(== —4F : AR%345,715,0007) iER IR
MIBEE - RIESHRNRBAFIBEBEER AT
FERIE

2023 2022
—EC-=4F T &
RMB'000 RMB’000

ARBT T AREET T

2024 —TEPE 2,570 2,570
2025 :g_ﬁi 1,986 1,986
2026 TERE 6,935 9,786
2027 :g_ti 331,298 331,373
2028 ZE)N\FE 281,399 =

624,188 345,715

Zhengye International Holdings Company Limited
EXBIBRERERAF]

Annual Report 2023
T ZFFER



\ ¥

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

»ﬂ‘ jﬁ%i&% Kﬁ‘ nJI_

For the year ended 31 December 2023
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Deferred Taxation (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has deductible
temporary differences of RMB64,171,000 (2022: RMB68,522,000). No
deferred tax asset has been recognised in relation to such deductible
temporary differences as it is not probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary differences can be
utilised.

The aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with
undistributed earnings of the PRC subsidiaries for which deferred
tax liabilities have not been recognised was RMB786,078,000 (2022:
RMB813,131,000). No deferred tax liabilities have been recognised
in respect of these differences because the Group is in a position to

. IEZEBIE(®)

RBEMR  AEEFUTHREREZEARE

64,171,000C ( Z T Z ZF : A R 68,522,000
TC) ° IR R BE S B R B A (E 20 A A F00R

ﬁﬁﬁ%%—%%ﬁi‘fﬁfﬁﬁﬁﬁ I 5 % 5 A HURES g = RE A
RIEEEHRIREE

RIERIEIET A B E R BT E A Bl AR 2K s A A8
RE R =R EE A AR H6786,078,000C( =T ==
F : ARM813,131,0007T) ° FRHA 2N 5 B gt 2 ) 8
CZEEREZANERE BZSE=8RARER
ATRENE AR - M ERZEEERRELERIES

control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and f&
it is probable that such difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.
32. Share Capital 32. g&
Number of Nominal
shares value
R B E FHE
HKD
BT
Ordinary shares of HKD0.10 each SREE0.10B THEBR
Authorised: AR
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022, and N-E-_—_F—A—H —FB-—4F
31 December 2023 TZA=+—RAR-ZT_=%F
+ZHA=+—H 1,000,000,000 100,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITREE
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022, and R oF—-A-R -ZE-—F
31 December 2023 TZA=ET—BARZZE=F
+=A=+—H” 500,000,000 50,000,000
RMB’000
ARETTT
Presented as at 31 December 2022 and 2023 KRB —FR-_ZT_=F+—_A=+—HZ% 41,655

E"ﬁflﬁf RRREVETE - BETRBRRALR
paid share capital during both years. ESp

There were no changes in the Company'’s authorised, issued and fully
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_Z_=F1+-A=T—HItFE

Retirement Benefits Schemes

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme for all
qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the scheme are
held separately from those of the Group, in funds under the control
of a trustee. The Group contributes 5% of relevant payroll costs to
the scheme, which contribution is matched by employees but subject
to a maximum amount of HKD1,500 per month (2022: HKD1,500 per
month) for each employee.

The employees of the Company’s subsidiaries established in the
PRC are members of state-managed retirement benefit schemes
operated by the PRC government. The subsidiaries are required
to contribute certain percentage of payroll costs to the retirement
benefits schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the
Group with respect to the retirement benefit schemes is to make the
specific contributions.

The total expense recognised in profit or loss of RMB24,609,000 (2022:
RMB22,287,000) represents contributions payable to these schemes
by the Group in respect of the current accounting period.

During the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group had
no forfeited contributions under the retirement benefits schemes
utilised to reduce future contributions.

Deferred Income

In 2023, the Group received government subsidies of RMB10,462,000
(2022: RMB794,000) for the cost of constructions of its paper-
based packaging and packaging paper plant and the replacement
of machinery. The amount was treated as deferred income at 31
December 2023 and 2022. The amount is transferred to income
over the useful lives of the relevant assets and the amount
transferred to income during the current year is RMB3,400,000
(2022: RMB12,110,000). As at 31 December 2023, an amount of
RMB33,381,000 (2022: RMB26,319,000) remains to be amortised.

Acquisition of a Subsidiary

On 22 October 2021, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement (as supplemented by a supplemental agreement dated
13 December 2021) (the “Sale and Purchase Agreement”) with the
equity owners of Zheng Ye Leasing, who are also then four directors
of the Company, pursuant to which the Group has conditionally
agreed them to acquire the entire equity interest in Zheng Ye
Leasing at an aggregate cash consideration of RMB186,000,000,
payable by four instalments from 2022 to 2024. The unpaid amount
of the consideration will bear interest at the medium and long-term
loan prime rate of the PRC.

33.

34.

35.

EARBEFREE
AEEEMEEAAEREERAARFMEATESST
gl - ZETEIMEERAEBMEESH - AETA
*%Ilzgﬁﬁﬁ A& E KR B R AR A B 5%
MZaT SRR - B ERASREES A1,5008 T
(_%E::E : 8 B1,500/87T) °

ARABHENBARZEESRTEBFREREL
BZRAENBIZKE - B AR RKRERFH S
T B AR KRB FIET B KA ETTHRIER)
AREBERARENFE 2 T 2 E— B ERRIFZT
BIfERIEEHRK o

PIEmRR R ARE24,609,000T(—F = —
F : AR#22,287,00070) iR EER A G 5T IR R
AT B EARTROHEER o

REBEZE_T-_=FR-_FT-__F+-_A=+—Hit
FE - AREEWEERERKEN G EE T 2R Y
/TA—_”EH b_/\\?l] /)EY.;K ;K{/ <A °

EIEW A

RZEZ=F  ASBEGEAEBERBEAR
5 A9 32 SR A 7N DA B 4 28 B SR B BT 7 B A R S
10,462,000c(ZE = =4 : ARM794,0007T) -
REBEZ=FRZZF-_FF+_A=+—HNUEL
WA WIREEEEM A EAFHRERZEIR
A o RAFEEBEIA NS EE A AR3,400,000
T(ZE2EZ—F : AR®12,110,0007T) e R=F
—=F+ZA=ZTH HABENSEAARKE
33,381,0007C( =T == : ARK%26,319,0007T) °

W iE— R B AR
R_E-_—F+A-_+_—A AEFHHRTFEAE
MRERBALEE R ((BEEHBR]) EAB
AT -_—F+-_A+=RAfExHENHE®)
Bt AEBBEEHREKREEEREN 2R
1 BIESNREBARK186,000000T H=F
——E:Et_ ZHFES BTN o RARESTES
B REERESRFRAES -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-_Z_=—F+-_A=+—HILFE

. Acquisition of a Subsidiary (Continued)

On 10 February 2022, all conditions precedent to the Sale and
Purchase Agreement were fulfilled and the Group had completed
the acquisition of Zheng Ye Leasing. Zheng Ye Leasing became an
indirect owned subsidiary of the Company. The Group determined
that substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets (excluding cash
and cash equivalents) acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable
asset and concluded that the acquired set of assets and liabilities do
not constitute a business and the transaction is accounted for as an
asset acquisition.

Zheng Ye Leasing is engaged in real estate leasing and property
management in the PRC. The acquisition can enhance the Group's
asset base, help improve business financing and reduce the Group's
reliance on the assets of the controlling shareholders.

e PN

R-T=——fF= H+EI Ei%?-i%Tﬁ%%%Zﬁfrﬁf‘&?&
R EREK - ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁla%}ﬁmlﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ&
FHERRARAREEFHBA ZISE@FZE
Ffrl%lﬁ%ﬁ@é‘?(?@%ﬁ%&fﬁﬁ—r{ﬁ%)E’M@K*B
DANEEAKTRE-ABHEE - YR BT
BRABERBBAYMER —BER  BMZZX 5N
WHEE AR

EEMRERTENEFHEREIYMEEE - %W
BRLRAASENEEER - ﬁﬂﬂﬂ&*%%wﬂﬁ&
DR BT R B E A IKRE

RMB’000

ARBFIT

Consideration paid in cash B &ZIRIE 94,860
Less: bank balances and cash acquired B BEEEBIRITASR KRS 412
94,448
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-_Z_=—F+-_A=+—HILFE

36. Capital Commitments 36. BERERE

2023 2022
—EBC-=H —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R ARBFIT

Capital expenditure in respect of acquisition of BEEIRWEEYIZ « B E REEERR

property, plant and equipment contracted for R MR R BEENE AR

but not provided in the consolidated financial

statements 12,611 36,367

37. Pledge of Assets 37. EEKH

The following assets were pledged to secure certain banking and NTARBREHRRAEEREREE  (EAR TR

other facilities granted to the Group at the end of the reporting SEE TR REMBEVE AR

period:

2023 2022
—E-=F —ECCF
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBT R ARBFIT
Buildings and construction in progress BFERERTRE 252,843 267,888
Plant and machinery B 55 R M A 107,376 268,299
Leasehold lands HE LM 61,281 101,820
Trade receivables not backed by bills BERREBENESHEKGIE 80,000 80,000
Trade receivables backed by bills NERAEENE S EWFIE 233,106 232,643
Pledged bank deposits BERRITIFRK 93,340 64,016
Inventories & 67,483 140,482
895,429 1,155,148

In addition to the pledge of assets above, no bank borrowings (2022:
RMBS5,553,000) are secured by the bills issued by group entities as
at 31 December 2023. Amounts due to directors of RMB91,140,000
(2022: RMB91,140,000) are secured by the Group's 51% equity

interest in a subsidiary.

Zhengye International Holdings Company Limited
EXBIBRERERAF]

BREXRZEBEBEEN R=ZZT=_=F+=A4
=+—H UERTER(ZZEZZF : AR
5,553,0007C) ARNEEETER L AN ZRIEIERE
R o BNEBHRIEARYI,140,000L(=ZE ==
F : AR®91,140,0007T ) LAAN S B A — T B A B

51 %BAE (EHELR
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-_Z-_=F+-A=1+—HItFE

Capital Risk Management

The Group manages its capital to ensure the entities in the Group will
be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return
to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity
balance. The Group's overall strategy remains unchanged from prior
year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts, which
includes bank borrowings and other borrowings as disclosed in
note 27, net of cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to
owners of the Company, comprising share capital and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
periodically. As part of the review, the directors consider the
cost of capital and the risks associated with the capital. Based on
recommendations of the directors, the Group will balance its overall
capital structure through payment of dividends, new share issues as
well as the issue of the new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

Financial Instruments

38. EXEREE

A BB (S SR 2 PO B T B IR
HES  BRASENTEBLWHELE - A5
PEEFTEARR - AEEHBEFRRL g
R -

AEENERNBRBEER(RIEME27 riREN
RITERREMER) - MERERASFEMN
RARBER NELES (BRERARHRE) -

ARRIEZGE R EARRE o AR —8
o EEEREARAREARHARR - ~EEE
RIEBESHBES  BERMNRE - BT A
RBETHEGUEEREABERFAREEAR
1

9. EMTH

2023 2022
—E-=8 —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T AREET T
Financial assets TREE
Amortised cost RN 1,160,804 1,130,407
Financial liabilities THEE
Amortised cost BEIHR AN 1,475,943 1,416,335
FVTPL RANAERT ABE - 4,153

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade and
other receivables, pledged bank deposits, bank balances, trade
and other payables, amounts due to directors, bank and other
borrowings, lease liabilities and consideration payables. Details
of these financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes.
The risks associated with these financial instruments include
market risk (currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are
set out below. The management manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented in
a timely and effective manner.

AEENTIESRTABREE S MEMEW
FIH - BEMRITER  RITEK BEHR
HAb AR - BN EEHR « RITREM
fak - HERENRENRE FHEZES
BMTANFBDNERMNERE - 2252
BTEESENEReEMERAR(EERRK
MEER) ERRRNREBESER - TX
IR EZERBROEE - ERESE
B REEZERE - ARRRE - BROER
BUEE1EHE °
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-_Z-_=F+-A=1+—HItFE

39. Financial Instruments (Continued)

Market risk
The Group's activities expose primarily to the market risks of

changes in interest rates and currency rates.

There has been no significant change to the Group's exposure

to market risks or the manner in which it manages and

measures the risk.

(i)

Currency risk
The Group collects most of its revenue and incurs most
of the expenditures in RMB.

The Group undertakes certain transactions denominated
in foreign currencies, hence exposure to exchange
rate fluctuations arises. The Group currently does not
have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the
management monitors foreign exchange exposures
and will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

The carrying amounts of the Group's foreign currency
denominated monetary assets (mainly including bank
balances and cash, and trade and other receivables) and
monetary liabilities (mainly including trade and other

39. 2T A

ArB AR
AEE LY EBATHERIBERS
BOTTSER -

AEEAZNTSRARIEEERAEZS
REBREIEREEAZE -

(i)

EXmE
SEMAFD ARSI AR
13 o

AEBAETE T UINEFHERNR 5 -
bk RS2 B RO B o 7S S [ 3 PR O A
SMESHRIERER o AT - BEESE BN
R YEEERUEREEHEAIN
FEE el 2

o

AEERRE B HAINETHENEE S
E(XZZERRTERLASUARES
R EAC YR R ERaE (2R
B REAMENTIR  BEAEARR

payables, lease liabilities and bank borrowings) at the TTEFREENT
reporting date are as follows:
2023 2022
—EBC-=HF = S
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBFT
Assets BE
HKD BT 3,892 8,580
usD =TT 447 438
GBP HREE 9 6
EUR BT 311 286
Liability aE
HKD BT 7,492 27,283
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-_Z_=—F+-_A=+—HILFE

39. Financial Instruments (Continued) 39. €@ T A
Market risk (Continued) miEEE(E)
(i) Currency risk (Continued) () EEEE(E)
Sensitivity analysis BRREDHT

The Group mainly exposes to the currency of HKD
relative to RMB.

The following table details the Group's sensitivity to a
10% (2022: 10%) increase and decrease in RMB against
the relevant foreign currencies. 10% represents the
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis
includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated
monetary items and adjusts their translation at the end
of the reporting period for a 10% (2022: 10%) change
in foreign currency rates. A positive number below
indicates a decrease in post-tax loss (2022:an increase in
post-tax profit) where the RMB strengthens 10% (2022:
10%) against the relevant currency. For a 10% weakening

AREBET2ASETLARENEL

TRFMAE@EE AR X REINEE
REARTEION(ZZE==F : 10%)
MBREE - 10 KREEEHERNA
BB BMHE - JRESTESRE
REEHINEHERBIBE - WRHRE
B;ﬁfﬂm,\mmx&ﬂ%E?E’m%(

T F 10%)EH) - TXHEHK
B AR EE S AEREINETE R EF10% (=
T F 10%) WIE R NEREI & BB

(= 2__¢ B FIBAN) © fi
AR S ABINEHIE E R 5510% - Bl
HTIXHBREEN R AT RAZHE

of RMB against the relevant currency, they would be an ERZ o
equal and opposite impact on the profit after tax below
would be negative.

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T T ARETTT

HKD BT

Profit or loss Ak E 1R 360 1,836

usD =S

Profit or loss i A k&R (45) (44)

GBP HeE

Profit or loss St A k&R (1) (1

EUR BT

Profit or loss i Ak e 1R (31) (29)
Annual Report 2023 Zhengye International Holdings Company Limited

—E_=FFH EXERFEEARAT



\ v 4

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

»‘/T\

A B R M 5

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-_Z_=—F+-_A=+—HILFE

39. Financial Instruments (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(i)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to variable-rate bank balances, variable-rate bank
and other borrowings and amounts due to directors.

The Group's fair value interest rate risk relates primarily
to its fixed rate pledged bank deposits, bank and other
borrowings and lease liabilities. The Group currently does
not have any interest rate hedging policy to hedge its
exposure to interest rate risk. However, the management
will consider hedging significant interest rate exposure
should the need arise.

The Group's exposures to interest rates on financial
liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk management
section of this note.

As listed in note 27, several of the Group’s HIBOR
bank borrowings have been subject to the interest rate
benchmark reform. The Group is closely monitoring the
market and managing the transition to new benchmark
interest rates, including announcements made by the
relevant IBOR regulators.

While the Hong Kong Dollar Overnight Index Average
("HONIA") has been identified as an alternative to
HIBOR, there is no plan to discontinue HIBOR. The multi-
rate approach has been adopted in Hong Kong, whereby
HIBOR and HONIA will co-exist. The Group's bank
borrowings linked to HIBOR will continue till maturity and
hence, not subject to transition.

39. 2T A

miBmER (&)

(i)

Fizms
REEHERB BF BN RRITAEER - F
EFIRIRIT R EA B FA R BN EE K
I8 2B mEFRRRE

ZIK‘EIE’J”A/‘?AE%'JTHE T2RWEE
SEBEMBITHER - RITREMETA
MHERE - ZISE@L%H#IE%'JFHEH
7F'JZ‘“-iTFPiEk“‘LT/#EiKTJ*E’ﬁUTJ—L 2

BIEEHE BN L EREIHNE R
*'J%ELK@ g

REBRAZ RS E BA BN EE
% FHIEHNANERSE S RREE
— 8 o

HAAMEE27 Fs - ANEE S AR EE
RITEZEFBAENRITERS RN X
EENEMTE AEELETYESR

MG REREEEMELENENIER
BERRRTREREEERBEMDN

R

wmEATRR RSB TRE RS
B8 EERRN AT ERTREFEN
BARME - X EABIREREBR
TRFENE - EARAZBAMERLFT
= BARTREFEMETRETY
BRI T - NREEFBRITRESR
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_Z_=F1+-A=T—HItFE

39. Financial Instruments (Continued) 39. €@ T A
Market risk (Continued) miEEE(E)
(i) Interest rate risk (i) FIEERE
Sensitivity analysis BRE DT

Sensitivity analysis on bank balances is not presented as
the management considers that the Group's exposure to
interest rate fluctuation is insignificant.

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for the variable-
rate bank and other borrowings at the end of the
reporting period and the stipulated change taking place
at the beginning of the financial year and held constant
throughout the year. A 100 basis points (2022: 100 basis
points) increase or decrease for variable-rate bank and
other borrowings are used when reporting interest
rate risk internally to key management personnel and
represent management'’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in interest rates in respect of bank and
other borrowings.

If interest rates had been 100 basis points (2022: 100 basis
points) higher/lower and all other variables were held
constant, the Group's post-tax loss (2022: profit) for the
year ended 31 December 2023 would have increased/
decreased (2022: decreased/increased) by RMB2,259,000
(2022: RMB1,620,000).

Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's maximum exposure to
credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due
to failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties is
arising from the carrying amounts of the respective recognised
financial assets as stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements to cover its credit risks associated with its
financial assets except that the credit risks associated with
trade receivables is partially mitigated because settlement
of certain trade receivables are backed by bills issued by
reputable banks.

HRNEEERRAEEAZ N KEE,
BIK - RITEROEREDOMAES
5] o

OSSR A TYIR I HR S IR A% 8
ST IR e R A A B B
PR AR TR BTN EE R
SMEE - AANPATBERABE
5705 IR B & VAT B 100 [ 85 (=
P =~ : 100{ERY) (HEBRITR
HAERTE) ALE - MEEARSD
RISPIHIRT R AL AV R A TR
28 -

A= EF TREI0EEL(=F
Z T4 1001EEE) ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ@”
BHRBIE - AAEEHE-_T-_=F
T A=t BULEEENBRFHREEES
B R (ZEZZF R )
ARBE2259000C(ZT=-—4F : AR
#1,620,0007T ) °

FERB K RERE
EAfY:—EWL:HEWL*E CRAHFIIR

TEEMBE RSB EKPBIERHRA
Fﬁ%ﬂ 2 RV BARRAMSSIED i
REREEMRHEE -

ZRER B AT A R S L A (E E g 0
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_Z_=F1+-A=T—HItFE

39. Financial Instruments (Continued) 39. &I A

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets arising from contracts
with customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management has
delegated a team responsible for determination of credit limits
and credit approvals. Before accepting any new customer, the
Group uses an internal credit assessment system to assess the
potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by
customer. Limits attributed to customers are reviewed regularly.
The Group may require a deposit to be received from certain
customers of packaging paper products before acceptance of
orders. Other monitoring procedures are in place to ensure
that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In
addition, the Group performs impairment assessment under
ECL model on trade balances individually or based on provision
matrix. Trade receivables are assessed for ECL by categorising
into receivables fully backed by bank bills and not backed by
bank bills. Debtors with trade receivables backed by bank bills
are assessed individually taking into consideration of the credit
rating and reputation of the banks issuing the bills. The Group
assessed the ECL on trade receivables not backed by bank bills
and contract assets individually for debtors and contract assets
with significant balance or credit-impaired and/or collectively
based on provision matrix with appropriate groupings based
primarily on the debtors’ ageing profiles.

Pledged bank deposits/bank balances

The credit risks on bank balances are limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned by
international credit-rating agencies.

Other receivables

Other receivables are assessed individually and not included
in provision matrix. The credit quality of other receivables have
been assessed with reference to the historical information
about the past due information, default rate, the financial
position of counterparties and also supportive forward-looking
information. The directors of the Company consider that
the credit risk of other receivables is low in view of the good
collection history.

FERBRRRERE(E)
BEFEIVAENELNE S EWAERER
BE

BEREEERR  AEEEEEERIK
BFAERECEERBEREERL - R
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REANBRTREBEREENERTER/E
BEETRBEEEENE - RRANURITE
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BEOIRITHERTRIMEEE AT E
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-_Z_=—F+-_A=+—HILFE

39. Financial Instruments (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Other receivables (Continued)

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 39% (2022: 37%)
of total trade receivables represented amounts due from
the Group's largest three (2022: three) trade debtors as at 31
December 2023. The management is of the view that these

trade debtors of the Group have good trade record without

default history and consider that the trade receivable from

these customers is recoverable.

Other than those described above, the Group has no

significant concentration of credit risk.

The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment comprises

the following categories:

39. 2T A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FEERBRKEEE(E)

H i fEK B (HE)
R-_ZE_=F+_A=+—H8B A"EE=K
BEOBBA(ZEZ—F : =ZZ)LHAEEE
SIEWGRIBRTEIIN(Z T ZZ4F : 37%) -
AEREFTEEFREERR - BEEERA
AEENESEBARE RN F L8
WEENES  AURBERZETEFNE
S EWGRIAR T4 -

B bES  AEEWEEANETEERR

ZRE B B A

ol

A:—'Pc
l:l/\

Internal Trade receivables/ Other financial assets/
credit rating Description contract assets other items
REEETR #ut ESRUWHIE ARNEE HbemEE HiER
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default or Lifetime ECL — not 12m ECL
does not have any past-due amounts credit-impaired
iVEE S R FERRENORRSOLE EIEH =R EEEE - 12{E A FE B E B E1E
FIE BEERE
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates Lifetime ECL — not 12m ECL
but usually settle in full credit-impaired
BRAE BEREARTEHEIHE 2RER - BRFEHEE R EEEE - 12{E ARG E R
SR EFERIE EEERE
Doubtful There have been significant increases in L|fet|me ECL - not Lifetime ECL — not
credit risk since initial recognition through credit-impaired credit-impaired
information developed internally or
external resources
RER BBA B AR SIMNEE R B V)5 R EEEE - 2R EREE -
RUARIEE R BRAEZEEZN BEERE BEERE
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL —
credit-impaired credit-impaired credit-impaired
B8 FRERTNEECHBEEERE R EEEE - RS EEEE -
EERE EERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor ~ Amount is written off Amount is written off
is in severe financial difficulty and the Group
has no realistic prospect of recovery
i ss FREBETEBACMAREV NS - B WitH o8 MiHE R

AEEY BEEFWEFRNE S
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

HEZZ =

39. Financial Instruments (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group's
financial assets and contract assets, which are subject to ECL

=F+-A=f—HIEE

39. ERMT A

FERBRRRERE(E)
TRAAERRETEMEREEBRF G
ERMEERSNEENEERR :

assessment:
Internal
2023 Notes credit rating 12m or lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount
128 B2
—EC=F Mzt AEBEETR EREERMR HEEREE
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT AR¥TR
Pledged bank deposits 24 Low risk (note i) 12m ECL 93,340 93,340
BERRITIFRX VEEAGEIO) 1218 A e EAE B &1E
Bank balances 24 Low risk (note i) 12m ECL 253,895 253,895
RITAEER VERAGEIO) 1218 AR EA R B &1E
Other receivables 21 Low risk (note ii) 12m ECL 32,808 32,808
H A fEUGRIE VERAGIE DY) 1218 A e EAE B &8
Trade receivables — contracts 21 Low risk (note iii) Lifetime ECL 176,487
with customers (collective assessment)
B ORWRIE-&EPEH EVER AT EN)) > HFE BB SR (R ETE)
Low risk Lifetime ECL 606,905
(individual assessment)
{livE 2 HTE = B 18 (A BIEHE)
Doubtful Lifetime ECL 1,683 785,075
(individual assessment)
KR 2 HTE A= B 18 (A BIEHE)
Contract assets 23 Low risk (note iii) Lifetime ECL 10,824 10,824
(individual assessment)
EHEE Ve AT EN)) 2 HTE = B &8 (A BIEHE)

Zhengye International Holdings Company Limited
EXBIBRERERAF]
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-_Z_=—F+-_A=+—HILFE

39. Financial Instruments (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

9. EMI A

FERBRRRERE(E)

Internal
2022 Notes credit rating 12m or lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount
1218 A ﬁi\%ﬁ
B Mz  REEEFR TREME B HARHE(E
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTIT ARETT
Pledged bank deposits 24 Low risk (note i) 12m ECL 64,016 64,016
BERRITIFRX VEEAGEIO) 1218 A B HAE B &1E
Bank balances 24 Low risk (note i) 12m ECL 279,825 279,825
RITAEER KRR (BRE()) 12 A EREEERE
Other receivables 21 Low risk (note ii) 12m ECL 39,442 39,442
H A FEUGRIE VERAGI DY) 1218 A e EAE B &8
Trade receivables — contracts 21 Low risk (note iii) Lifetime ECL 252,216
with customers (collective assessment)
B O RBRIE-EPEH EVER AT EN)) 2 HRTE R E B SR (R BRTh)
Low risk Lifetime ECL 499,645
(individual assessment)
{liwE 2 HTE = B8 (A BIEHE)
Loss Credit-impaired 1,319 753,180
E1a BEERIE
Contract assets 23 Low risk (note iii) Lifetime ECL 9,377 9,377
(individual assessment)
EHEE Ve AT E ) 2 HTE = B &8 (A BIEHE)
Notes: Bff5E
(i) For the purpose of internal credit risk management, the Group (i) RAREERRERMS AREE2ZEHE

(i)

(iii)

has made reference to the external credit rating for its major bank

balances.

For the purposes of internal credit risk management, the Group uses
past due information to assess whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition. As at 31 December 2023 and

2022, the Group has no past due other receivables.

For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group has applied
the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance
at lifetime ECL. Except for debtors with significant outstanding
balances, credit-impaired or trade receivables backed by bank bills,
the Group determines the ECL on these items by using a provision

matrix as mentioned above.

Annual Report 2023
= P

=

EIRTTRA AR MNP S ERTAR

(ii) RABEERREEMNS @ AEBFERAHE
EfMh BV S HREEERRETREEZELM -
R-TE-—=FR-_ZF-——F+=-A=+—8
7N [ I A 6 HA L fth JE GRRIE ©

(i)  HEZEIRARAHEEMS - FEEBR
REBIBREERESRNE T A EEH
BHEEERNERER BRAAEAKEE
Eh - HBREERESINRBITRERERENE
5 REUGFORR BRRIN - AR ERA ke
EHEE % SR A MTRBERERE o
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A B R T
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-_Z-_=F+-A=1+—HItFE

39. Financial Instruments (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The following table provides information about the exposure
to credit risk for trade receivables not backed by bank bills
which are assessed on a collective basis by using provision
matrix within lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired).

39. 2T A

SRR RRETS(E)

TRIBEA W R IR AR B L (G
SRR (T2 S EAE R B
B R BTN E S RE SRR E
%o

Gross carrying amount FRIETAE(E
2023 2022
—EBo=fF —EF
Average Trade Average Trade
loss rate  receivables loss rate receivables
THEEE BEZERFEE  THEEX S5EWEE
RMB'000 RMB’'000
AR¥T T ARETTT
0-60 days 0260H 0.45% 166,598 0.66% 244,709
61-90 days 61290H 0.04% 4,731 0.82% 3,544
91-180 days 912180H 0.07% 4,897 1.04% 3,549
Over 180 days #3E180H 100.00% 261 100.00% 414
176,487 252,216

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors
and are adjusted for forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort. The grouping is regularly
reviewed by the management to ensure relevant information
about specific debtors is updated.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, a write-off of
allowance for credit losses of RMB1,319,000 (2022: nil) was
made on credit-impaired debtors and an allowance for
credit losses of RMB3,049,000 (2022: RMB4,036,000) and a
reversal of allowance for credit losses of RMB4,036,000 (2022:
RMB5,824,000) were made on the not credit-impaired debtors.

BEHBEREDRBEBARBFHOBET
BERENEMGG  RRBETCEBTLERA
HENMARBHREEERMELAE - &
BETHEENE  URREFFHESEE
BARERBER -

REBE_TE_=Ft+-A=1+—HIFE -
AN 55 B 3k (= B S 18 BR SO EE AR #51,319,000
TT(ZEZZF - B)NEEEBBEE UK
LA B R E R BR FRET IR A R #53,049,000
T(ZE=—F : AR4,036,0007T)EE
B R - W E ARYA4,0360007T (=
T4 : 5,824,00070 ) W= E BB R -

Zhengye International Holdings Company Limited
EXBIBRERERAF]
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39. Financial Instruments (Continued)

A B R T
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-_Z-_=F+-A=1+—HItFE

39. ERMT A

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL that

has been recognised for trade receivables not backed by bills

FERBRRRERE(E)
TRETREBEBCEHERITRERRE
E SREIRERNEHRBEEER 2

under the simplified approach. EE o
Lifetime Lifetime
ECL ECL
(not credit- (credit- Total
impaired) impaired) amount
2 HATEHE ZHAFRH
FEER EEEE
(BIEERE) (EERE) Bmem
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETTT AREETTT ARETTT
At 1 January 2022 R-ZTE-_—F—HF—H 5,824 1,319 7,143
Changes due to financial instruments E=ZT==F—F—HE#R
recognised as at 1 January 2022: TRITAMmEENEE) :
— Impairment losses reversed — R (AR S (5,824) = (5,824)
New financial assets originated TSR ESRmEE 4,036 = 4,036
At 31 December 2022 RZEZ=F+-_A=+—H 4,036 1,319 5,355
Changes due to financial instruments ~EHZ-ZZT-=F—H—HE®&ER
recognised as at 1 January 2023: SR T AmEERE
— Impairment losses reversed — B EIREEE (4,036) = (4,036)
~ Write-offs s - (1,319) (1,319
New financial assets originated G RESRMEE 3,049 - 3,049
At 31 December 2023 R-F-_=F+=-A=1+—H 3,049 - 3,049
The Group writes off a trade receivable when there is EHANBERERSARARELY KK &I

information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g.
when the debtor has been placed under liquidation or has
entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or when the trade
receivables are over two years past due, whichever occurs
earlier. The Group has taken legal action against the debtors
to recover the amount due.

EERICERERIE - gl SEHEACE
TERIDEARERF - KEHEEFR
BHEBME (RFRFELE)  AAEKE
% 8 2 EUWGREME - AREEHEBA
FREUARITE) - DAY B FRIE o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A B R T
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-_Z-_=F+-A=1+—HItFE

39. Financial Instruments (Continued) 39. &I A

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL that
has been recognised for trade receivables backed by bank bills
under the simplified approach.

ERRBRAET (H)
TRETRE SR AR TR AR E
BB 5 MBS ST S AR
£ -

Lifetime

ECL

(not credit-

impaired)

2HIFEH

FEBR

(BEERE)

RMB’'000

ARBFTT

At 1 January 2022 RZZE—=—F—H—H 762
Changes due to financial instruments recognised A ZZE - — A —HE®BREBLTAMEERNE

as at 1 January 2022:

— Impairment losses reversed — B ERERE (762)

New financial assets originated S RESREE 454

At 31 December 2022 RZZE-—_F+=A=+—H 454
Changes due to financial instruments recognised HAZZT==F— A —HEBEReBHITAMELENE

as at 1 January 2023:

— Impairment losses reversed — R EIREESE (454)

New financial assets originated ERESRIEE 776

At 31 December 2023 MRIE_=F+"A=+—H 776

For trade receivables backed by bank bills, an impairment
allowance of RMB776,000 (2022: RMB454,000) has been
made by the directors of the Company after considering the
probability of default and taking into consideration of the
credit rating and reputation of the banks issuing the bills.

FURITRIBEARENE ZRBFIENS
RABEENE RELINAT RN KT KRBT
ZEMNBTHEESHREEEZ  EHTA
R#776,00070 (Z = =4 : AR¥454,000
T0) MY BB 2 -

Zhengye International Holdings Company Limited
EXBIBRERERAF]
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

39. Financial Instruments (Continued)

A B R T
For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-_Z_=—F+-_A=+—HILFE

39. €@ T A

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) EE R KRB ()

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL that
has been recognised for trade receivables backed by other bills

TRETREBBCIEHARITRIERRE
E SREIRERNEHRBEEER 2

under the simplified approach. EE o
Lifetime
ECL
(not credit-
impaired)
2HIFEH
FEBR
(BEERE)
RMB’000
ARBFTT
At 1 January 2022 RZZE—=—F—H—H 169
Changes due to financial instruments recognised A ZZE - — A —HE®BREBLTAMEERNE
as at 1 January 2022:
— Impairment losses reversed — B ERERE (169)
New financial assets originated S RESREE 121
At 31 December 2022 RZZE-—_F+=A=+—H 121
Changes due to financial instruments recognised HAZZT==F— A —HEBEReBHITAMELENE
as at 1 January 2023:
— Impairment losses reversed — B EIREEE (121)
New financial assets originated ERESRIEE 215
At 31 December 2023 MRIE_=F+"A=+—H 215
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A B R M 5

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-_Z_=—F+-_A=+—HILFE

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The following table shows the movement in 12m ECL that has
been recognised for other receivables.

9. TR T A

FERBRRRERE(E)
MR BURMR RS b R YRR RE R 19 1218 H
BEHEEEEZEE -

12m ECL
(not credit-
impaired)
1218 A8
FEER
(BEERE)
RMB’000
ARBTFTT
As at 1 January 2022 R-ZZE-—_F—H—H 143
Changes due to financial instruments recognised BAZZE-—F—A—HER T @@ LTAMEERNE
as at 1 January 2022:
— Impairment losses reversed — B ERERE (143)
New financial assets originated S RESREE 141
At 31 December 2022 RZZE-—_F+=A=+—H 141
Changes due to financial instruments recognised HAZZT==F— A —HER T M TAMELENE
as at 1 January 2023:
— Impairment losses reversed — B EIREEE (147)
New financial assets originated ERESRIEE 293
At 31 December 2023 MRIE_=F+"A=+—H 293

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group's
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows.
The management monitors the utilisation of bank borrowings.

The following table details the Group’s contractual maturity for
its financial liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on
the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the
earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay.

The table includes both interest and principal cash flows.
To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the
undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate at the year
of the reporting period, taking into consideration interest rate
curve, if available.

REBES R

EEERDECRRE - NREBEEERER
ERERARTENAERASEEY UG
AEEMEERTES  WAERSRER
PHNTE - EREEBRTERNERBER

TRAVNAEBSRABENSOZIMA - Z
RIOBBEAEBEENFTNREHHRRRBREH
g%ﬁ"]*ﬁﬁﬁﬁ@mz? % °

ZREFENERAERERE o MAHRRF
BFIE - QIR SBIRMEMFEON X
AEGHRAEHZR(E))

Zhengye International Holdings Company Limited
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A B R T
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-_Z-_=F+-A=1+—HItFE

39. Financial Instruments (Continued) 39. @I AM#m)
Liquidity risk (Continued) REBESER(E)
Liquidity table B E B
Weighted On demand or Total
average less than 6 months Over undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 6 months to 1 year 1-5 years Syears  cash flows amounts
RERE ~EA RERRE

WEFIRE  DRAER E-F ik BEML HEEE A
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR  ARMTR  ARRTR  ARETT  ARBTT  ARETR

2023 —BocE
Trade and other payables B 5 REMEMNTIE N/ARER 359,713 - - - 359,713 359,713
Amounts due to directors e 4.20 49,528 44,640 - - 94,168 94,168
Bank borrowings RITER
- fixed-rate —E& 4.43 659,381 71,118 150,507 - 881,006 860,387
- variable interest rate —38 3.46 26,051 9,480 78,861 8,533 122,925 111,559
Lease liabilities HEaR 5.77 3,044 2,994 16,572 14,462 37,072 27,540
Other borrowings H bR
- variable interest rate 38 8.98 27,186 15,212 10,263 - 52,661 50,116
1,124,903 143,444 256,203 22,995 1,547,545 1,503,483
2022 2%
Trade and other payables ELYEY N N/ARGER 269,108 - - - 269,108 269,108
Amounts due to directors ENESE 4.65 46,746 - 44,640 = 91,386 91,386
Bank borrowings RITIRH
~fixed-rate —E& 389 539,540 122,561 132,109 11,353 805,563 781,031
—variable interest rate —%8 572 10,947 26,798 - - 37,745 36,798
Lease liabilities HEaR 583 3,629 3,09 19,735 15,462 41,922 31,034
Other borrowings A bt
~fixed-rate —E8 400 108,512 - - - 108,512 108,316
—variable interest rate -%8 9.40 46,930 39,055 52,661 = 138,646 128,040
Consideration payables FERRERE 523 1,670 - - - 1,670 1,65
1,027,082 191,510 249,145 26,815 1,494 552 1,447,369
The amounts included above for variable interest rate fin)F SR B B) B Bl & BAR AT 8 FE AV (A 5T
instruments are subject to change if changes in variable interest M= BIFAERZEETIANSHETES
rates differ to those estimates of interest rates determined at o
the end of the reporting period.
Annual Report 2023 Zhengye International Holdings Company Limited
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A B R T
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-_Z-_=F+-A=1+—HItFE

39. Financial Instruments (Continued) 39. @M I AW
Fair value of the Group's financial liabilities that are REEEENUAAEFEZARBESREAE
measured at fair value on a recurring basis ZARE
Some of the Group's financial liabilities are measured at fair AEENETEREENEREHARANAR
value at the end of each reporting period. The following Bif 8 - TREHEMNEEZS /A
table gives information about how the fair values of these BENAABENER(LEREANMERT ER
financial liabilities are determined (in particular, the valuation BABUE) - UERBEBEAAERN A EREE S
technique(s) and inputs used), as well as the level of the fair AREFEETHIB(E—REE=F)NA
value hierarchy into which the fair value measurements are DERBROER

categorised (levels 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the
fair value is observable.

Valuation Significant
Fair value as at Fair value technique(s) unobservable
31 December 2023 hierarchy & key inputs input(s) Sensitivity
REBZZF+=A fRER MK ERRTUEHRE
=t-HHARE AREEBR EXBARE BARE HRE
Contingent Nil Level 3 (i) Discounted cash  2022: Probability of The higher the probability of
consideration (2022: RMB4,153,000) flow model: payment 100%; payment, the higher the
payables The key input and discount rate  fair value of the derivative
are probability of 5.23% financial instrument; the
of payment for higher the discount rate,
the contingent the lower the fair value
consideration and of the derivative financial
discount rate instrument
HAENHE i F=H (HFERERER —T-_F XN INHEES TESRT
(ZT==F : AR% A ERBABE HER100%% BRRARERS  BHRE
4,153,0007T) RXNIAREE B ER5.23% HE STESBIANR
R RERHR = AEBIE
Zhengye International Holdings Company Limited Annual Report 2023
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_Z_=F+_A=1t—HLFE

39. Financial Instruments (Continued) 39. €@ T A
Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements E=RORETFTEZHE
Financial
liability at
FVTPL
BRARE
FFABREN
SRasE
RMB’000
ARET T
At 1 January 2022 RZZEZ—_F—H—H 8,217
Fair value loss in profit or loss SFABRZN A ERRE 206
Settlement e (4,270)
At 31 December 2022 = __¢+ A=+—H 4,153
Fair value loss in profit or loss SFABRN AR ERE 107
Settlement e (4,260)
At 31 December 2023 RZZE=_=F+=-RA=+—H =
Except for the contingent consideration payables, the fair value RENSAREZI  eREERSHAR
of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined in MAREHRBERRESREDTLIZEA
accordance with generally accepted pricing models based on REBENETE -
discounted cash flow analysis.
The directors of the Company consider that the carrying RRABEEFRRITEVBRRPIREHK AR
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded AENeREER B ENRAERLAR
at amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements RERE
approximate their fair values.
Annual Report 2023 Zhengye International Holdings Company Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-_Z_=—F+-_A=+—HILFE

40. Reconciliation of Liabilities Arising from Financing

Activities

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities arising

from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.

Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash

flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group's

consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing

40. BMEEBFELEEEHK

TRANFAEENRELDFELREES) - 84
RekFRe#d BmETHRMELRERERER
EBFRKASRENAEEGSHSRERAD A
RBERHIHERE °

activities.
Amount
due to
anon-
Bank Other Lease Interest Dividend  controlling
borrowings  borrowings liabilities payables payable interest Total
EftFER
RITHER it g HEAR EfHE EfRE ERFE fst
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBTT ARETRE ARETT AR%Tr ARETT ARETR
At 1 January 2022 W-Z-—%-f-H 891,077 300,377 45,315 - - - 1,236,769
Financing cash flows mﬂéiﬁﬁl,@ 283,526 (30.414) (12,681) (57212) (45,000 (3,000) 135,219
Foreign exchange translation HNE SR (1928) - - - - - (1928)
Interest expense MlEX - - 2,138 57,212 - - 59,350
Dividend RE - - - - 45,000 3,000 48,000
Gross amount of bills from extemal E8638 RMiFEREZ
customers discounted with IBEFEKEEEE
recourse - 286,858 - - - - 286,858
Non-cash settlement of BRRRYEE
discounted bills FRERE (354,84¢) (320,465) - - - - (675,311)
New lease MERE - - 1,829 - - = 1829
Derecognition on acquisition of B TERIEENB AT
a subsidiary - - (5,567) - - - (5,567)
At 31 December 2022 R=Z-—#+-f=1+-H 817,829 236,356 31,034 - - - 1,085,219
Financing cash flows BERSNE 396,090 (77,923) (7,788) (50,416) (7,100) (12,383) 240,480
Interest expense FIEXH = = 1,897 50,416 = = 52313
Dividend RS = = - - 7,100 12,383 19,483
Gross amount of bills from external E 8538 RMIA B RIEZ
customers discounted with IEEPRNERER
recourse = 44,354 = = = = 44,354
Non-cash settlement of BERENZEE L
discounted bills HRLHE (241,973) (152671) - - - - (394,644)
New lease GEIL - - 6,408 - - - 6,408
Termination of lease Stk - - (4.011) - - - @,011)
At 31 December 2023 WZE==F+=-F=1+—H 971,946 50,116 27,540 - - - 1,049,602

Zhengye International Holdings Company Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A B R T
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-Z-_=F+-A=1+—HALLFE

41. Related Parties Transactions 41. AR
Name Relationship
=L e
Zheng Ye Leasing (note) Controlled by the controlling shareholders of the Company
EXHE (=) 7R A AR AR A ER 42 il
Note: Zheng Ye Leasing has been acquired by the Group on 10 February Miz: REE-—F-A+A EXHEEERAEH
2022 and was no longer a related party of the Group. Yk B N ERAKBARR T -
During the year, the Group entered into the following RAFE  AEESEFBF U TRS

transactions with related parties:

2023 2022
—E-=E —E-—F
RMB'000 RMB’000

AR¥TT ARETTT

Zheng Ye Leasing EXME
— Interest on lease liabilities —HEBENES - 3B
Directors of the Company RARES
— Interest on amounts due to directors —ENEERIERNE 4,382 5,470
— Consideration paid —BfRRE - 94,860
Amounts due to directors are disclosed on note 30. FENESRENH FEI0HE -
Annual Report 2023 Zhengye International Holdings Company Limited
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A B R T
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-_Z-_=F+-A=1+—HItFE

41. Related Parties Transactions (Continued) 41. BEARS &)
The remuneration of directors and other members of key BEERAMEEEERERKERNFEREFHM
management during the year was as follows: T
2023 2022
—E-=F 3
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BTT ARETTT
Salaries and other benefits e MEAMAMEF 24,744 20,745
Retirement benefits schemes contributions REFRIFT B 432 447
25,176 21,192

EERIBZTBRABNFMETFHZE L
ZREARBRRTGBLRETE -

The remuneration of directors and key executives is
determined by the remuneration committee having regard to
the performance of individuals and market trends.

42. RIBEBRNRRS

42. Share-based Payment Transactions

On 23 April 2019, an employees’ share award scheme (“the
Scheme”) was adopted by the Company which will remain in force
for 10 years. Pursuant to the Scheme, the Company would subsidise
some employees of the Group (the “Selected Participants”) a
portion of funds to purchase issued shares of the Company by a
trustee through market transactions. Up to 26 June 2019, a total of
4,214,000 shares of the Company had been purchased and vested to
the Selected Participants. The Group recognised the total expense
of RMB1,467,000 for the year ended 31 December 2019 in relation
to its contribution in the Scheme. For the year ended 31 December
2023 and 2022, no employee was awarded under the Scheme and no
expense was recognised.

RAFTR-BE—NEMA-+=BHFEH—BEER
DB 8 ([Zat8l)) - BIFZT 8 AAFHIR
HHBOES  BXTABATERZEEDHTR
7 BEAHMETASERS([(RESHEE]) - #
ET—AFSA=F75 B - EEEART4,214,000
BARRRNI BB TEELEE - HE_ZT— 1
F+ZA=1+—HIFE  NEEREEZTEN
HPFER AT HARE1,467,0007C - BE-_ZT—=
ER_TE-—F+_A=+—HIFE  WELE
ZETEMAEfE SR LR - IMEREREMER -

Zhengye International Holdings Company Limited
EXBIBRERERAF]
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A B R T
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-_Z-_=F+-A=1+—HItFE

43. Particulars of Subsidiaries of the Company 43. AR TME A BNFE
Place of Proportion ownership Proportion of
incorporation/ Paid up issued/ Class of interest held by voting power held
Name of subsidiary registration/operations  registered capital shares hold the Company by the Company Principal activities
iR/ Bgf/ NG ALREAN
i) PR it/ g EHE A SERHER el i FERRRLE IERE
At 31 December At 31 December

Rt=B=t-H Rt=A=1-A
2023 2022 2023 2022
“B--E -E-CfF CBCZE O ZE-C

TYAZ International Limited British Virgin Islands Authorised USD50,000 Ordinary 100% 100% 100% 100%  Investment holding
("Zheng Ye (BVI)') ("the BVI") Paid USD20,000*
KRRIES ATE0000XT 2ER REER
([RERZES)) B420000% 7"
Zheng Ye International Company ~ Hong Kong HKD10,000 Ordinary 100% 100% 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited
EXERARAR B 10000% 7 LRk REER
Shing Yip (Hong Kong) Hong Kong HKD322,384,575 Ordinary 100% 100% 100% 100%  Investment holding
Investment Enterprises Limited
R (ER RERRERAR Bk 3BSISET il BEfR
Zheng Ye Packaging (Zhongshan) ~ The PRC HKD156,211,400 Ordinary 100% 100% 100% 100%  Manufacturing and
Company Limited operating of paper-
based packaging
products, packaging
related business and
printing of decorative
packaging products
EEBR(FIL)ARAR hE 196,211,400 7 2ER TERARGRARER
BREBRERARER
el
Zhongshan Yong Fa Paper Industry  The PRC HKD106,500,000 Ordinary 100% 100% 100% 100%  Manufacturing and sale of
Company Limited paper and paperboard
PAEAFARAT hE 106,500, 00077 2ER EENHERTNAR
Zhuhai Zheng Ye Packing Company  The PRC RMBS52,164,718.50 Ordinary 100% 100% 100% 100%  Manufacturing and sale of
Limited paper-based packaging
products and related
packaging service
HBLEBRARAA hE ABRH52,164718507C ERk TENHESRBRERR
RERERE
Annual Report 2023 Zhengye International Holdings Company Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A B R T
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-_Z-_=F+-A=1+—HItFE

43. Particulars of Subsidiaries of the Company (Continued)

43. XA TMBARNFEE &

Place of Proportion ownership Proportion of
incorporation/ Paid up issued/ Class of interest held by voting power held
Name of subsidiary registration/operations  registered capital shares hold the Company by the Company Principal activities
iR/ Bligf/ AAREN AAEREN
). PR it/ & B kA SERGER et E FERRRLE IERE
At 31 December At 31 December
Rt=A=t-A RT=A=t-H
2023 02 2023 22
TBCZE CETCCF CECEZE CERCIC
Wuhan Zheng Ye Alliance Packaging  The PRC RMB35,000,000 Ordinary 100% 100% 100% 100%  Manufacturing and sale of
Company Limited paper-based packaging
products and printing
of decorative packaging
products
RELEBABEARAR il ABRH35,0000007C LRk EEMHESRBRERR
PplpssEm
Zhongshan Rengo Hung Hing Paper ~ The PRC USD53,660,000 Ordinary 58.7% 58.7% 58.7% 58.7%  Manufacturing and sale of
Manufacturing Company Limited paper and paperboard
("Hung Hing")
hilBARRESERAR(RE]) P 53,660,000 7 EEk EENHELNSR
Zhengyi The PRC RMB89,000,000 Ordinary 80% 80% 80% 80%  Manufacturing and sale of
paper and paperboard
THELRERERARAR hE ARHE69,000,0007 ERk EENFEEENR
Zhongshan Lianfa Logjstics Company  The PRC RVBS,000,000 Ordinary 100% 100% 100% 100%  Transportation
Limited
hIlmEERARAR hE ABRH5,0000007T LAk e
Zhongshan Zhengye Transportation ~ The PRC RMB3,000,000 Ordinary 100% 100% 100% 100%  Transportation
Company Limited
P ERERARAT hE ABRH3,000,0007 Lak L]
(Gaoan Guangyong Logistics Company The PRC RMB3,000,000 Ordinary 100% 100% 100% 100%  Transportation
Limited
BREAMTERAR hE ARRE3,000,0007T LRk Eh
Gaoan Guangzheng Transportation  The PRC RMBB50,000 Ordinary 100% 100% 100% 100%  Transportation
Company Limited
RRELERERAA hE 8500007 AR e
Zhongshan Yongfa Zhizao The PRC Registered capital: Ordinary 100% 100% 100% 100%  Dormant
Company Limited RMB45,000,000,
Paid up capital: RMB nil
PILAERERRAT i AR : LRk EEex

ARH45,0000007
BHER: \R%ZT

Zhengye International Holdings Company Limited
EXBIBRERERAF]
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A B R T
For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-_Z_=—F+-_A=+—HILFE

43. Particulars of Subsidiaries of the Company (Continued)

43. XA TMBABNFER @)

Place of Proportion ownership Proportion of
incorporation/ Paid up issued/ Class of interest held by voting power held
Name of subsidiary registration/operations  registered capital shares hold the Company by the Company Principal activities
L/ B#EfT/ ARAREN ARIREN
WEARAR it/ EEHE A SERMER et E FERRRLE IERE
At 31 December At 31 December
WT=A=t-B RT=A=t-H
2023 02 2023 22
Z§CZF “ETC-fF ZBIZE ZEC
Zheng Ye Leasing The PRC RMB1,000,000 Ordinary 100% 100% 76% 51%  Properties leasing and
management
hmEREEARAR hE ARH1,0000007T LRk NERERER
Zhongshan Lianhe Hongxing Zhizao ~ The PRC Registered capital: Ordinary 100% N/A 100% N/A Dormant
Company Limited RMB166,710,000
Paid up capital: RMB nil.
lllby e hE e : 5513 o TER  EEEx
ARH166,710,0007
BEA: \REET
Zhongshan Yongfa Hongxing Project  The PRC RMB30,000,000 Ordinary 85.31% N/A 85.31% N/A" Project management
Management Company Limited
hIlKERRE R ERERAT i AR30,000,0007 TR NER TER  BRER

*

Company.

Except for Zheng Ye (BVI), all other companies are indirectly held by the

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at the

end of the year or at any time during the year.

Annual Report 2023
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

44. Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have
material non-controlling interests

A B R T

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE_Z-_=F+-A=1+—HIFE

44.

Proportion of ownership

?ﬁ;ﬁik#%ﬁﬁ%éi#%ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬂ )
R

Place of registration and interests held by Profit allocated to Accumulated
Name of subsidiaries principal place of business non-controlling interests non-controlling interests non-controlling interests
WEARER AR EEEEGY FERER TR REARELD DEFERER 2 RF it REER
At 31 December At 31 December At 31 December
RM+=A=t-8 W+=A=t-R i o
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
- St S-S ZEC-CF e a3 -t i S
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR AREFT ARBTR AREFT
Hung Hing Zhongshan, the PRC 41.3% 4.3% 958 19,668 253,732 265,157
i PERILT
Zhengyi Yudu, the PRC 20.0% 20.0% (217) 1,769 23,493 23710
EfE el TH%
Other Zhongshan, the PRC 14.69% N/A (30) = 4,377 =
Eft LT Rl
m 21437 281,602 288,867
2023 2022
—EC-=F —F-—
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTT
Current assets MENEE 279,137 327,726
Non-current assets FEMBEE 426,626 399,613
Current liabilities mENRIE (70,699) (68,045)
Non-current liabilities FRBAE (20,711) (17,269)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company RNATER AR 360,621 376,868
Non-controlling interests of Hung Hing WL SEPE R 253,732 265,157

Zhengye International Holdings Company Limited
EXBIBRERERAF]
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ey

S B R M R

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_Z_=F+-A=+—HIFE

44. Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have 44. BEEEXRFIERESZHF T EHNB AT

material non-controlling interests (Continued)

EA16-)

2023 2022

—EC-=HF T F

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTT AREETTT

Revenue A 695,883 1,105,835

Expenses A (693,562) (1,058,215)

Profit and total comprehensive income for the year 4 i | 2 2 HE Uk a5 2,321 47,620

Profit and total comprehensive income attributable 782 B#EA A &L @ ) &

to owners of the Company 2 HEW LR 1,363 27,952
Profit and total comprehensive income attributable 58 7 FE15 I 2 FE A5 4 ) &2

to the non-controlling interests of Hung Hing ZHE AT 958 19,668

Net cash inflows from operating activities REEBRAR S FHE 61,765 16,635

Net cash inflows from (outflows) investing activities & ZE#RACRL )RS F58 12,623 (11,421)

Net cash inflows (outflows) financing activities AEEBRACRL)RE/FE - (35,687)

Net cash inflows (outflows) MACRE)IREF58 74,388 (30,473)

Annual Report 2023
—E_=FFR

Zhengye International Holdings Company Limited
IEXERIERB R AR



\ v 4

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Fia B R 5 E
For the year ended 31 December 2023
=Ff-A=—AILFE

=1

44. Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have

22T

material non-controlling interests (Continued)

44.

BEEAFERERZHFZENBRT

2023 2022

—EC-=4F T _F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T T ARET T

Current assets MENEE 103,876 91,170
Non-current assets JEmENEE 151,274 148,413
Current liabilities mEBE (128,475) (85,688)
Non-current liabilities ETEI=N (9,210) (35,343)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company RANTEG AFEGRERS 93,972 94,842
Non-controlling interests of Zhengyi TR FEiEiR s 23,493 23,710

Zhengye International Holdings Company Limited
IEXBFERER AR

Annual Report 2023
T ZFFER



\V 5

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

i B iR MR
For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE—Z-_=—&+_F=+—HILFE

44. Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have 44. BEEEXRFIERESZHF T EHNB AT

material non-controlling interests (Continued) =€)
2023 2022
—EC-=4F T _F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARET T
Revenue A 316,147 394,473
Expenses A (317,234) (385,626)
(Loss) profit and total comprehensive (expense) FAEER) &M RE2E(FX) K=
income for the year (1,087) 8,847
(Loss) profit and total comprehensive (expense) RN RHEE AL (E1E )& F &
income attributable to owners of the Company 2m|(FxR) sz (870) 7,078
(Loss) profit and total comprehensive (expense) YRR 7 JEIT RS RE RS FE (L (B538) % FI
income attributable to the non-controlling 2E(AX) =g
interests of Zhengyi (217) 1,769
Net cash (outflows) inflows from operating activities &8 %75 (R ) RAR & FHE (36,076) 22,268
Net cash inflows (outflows) from investing activities %&£ RA )R & FHE 5,375 (18,157)
Net cash inflows (outflows) from financing activities FE A RA Citih )R & FE 34,705 (2,959)
Net cash inflows MAIR & HEE 4,004 1,152
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

45. Statement of Financial Position of the Company

A B R T
For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-_Z_=—F+-_A=+—HILFE

45. AR BMBARRR

2023 2022
—EC-=4F B —F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARET T

Non-current Assets FRBEE
Unlisted investment in a subsidiary R—RKIELTHE R RAIIRE 230,979 230,979
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEURHT B A RIF A 18,404 18,141
249,383 249,120

Current Assets REBEE
Other receivables HAtb EUGRIE 405 339
Bank balances and cash RITHEBRIES 960 1,474
1,365 1,813
Current Liabilities i =R i

Other payables H A fERTRUE 208 295
Amounts due to directors B EEHRIE 61 =
269 295
Net Current Assets REBEERE 1,096 1,518
Total Assets less Current Liabilities EEABRRBERE 250,479 250,638

Capital and Reserves BERE #EE
Share capital &N 41,655 41,655
Share premium and reserves B AP 5 (8 K s 200,430 195,534
Total Equity R 242,085 237,189

Non-current Liabilities FRBEME
Amounts due to subsidiaries AR LNEINGIE e 8,394 13,449
250,479 250,638

Zhengye International Holdings Company Limited
EXBIBRERERAF]
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

»vTx jﬂ’%i&%‘% Bﬁ nf

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-Z-_=F+-A=1+—HALLFE

45. Statement of Financial Position of the Company 45. KRR T HBMRR K (@)
(Continued)

Share Merger Retained
premium reserves profits Total
RAD I E AR RE & F #at
RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB’'000

ARETT ARBTT ARBTT ARETE

At 1 January 2022 R-_E-_—_F—H—H 92,968 97,559 139 190,666
Profit and total comprehensive FE R R EE KA

income for the year - - 49,868 49,868
Dividend paid ERRE = = (45,000) (45,000)
At 31 December 2022 WZB-—F+-H=+—H 92,968 97,559 5,007 195,534
Profit and total comprehensive FERmA R EE R BT

income for the year - - 11,996 11,996
Dividend paid BEARE = = (7,100) (7,100)
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F+=ZA=+—H 92,968 97,559 9,903 200,430
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Financial Summary

S5 47k

mERE

For the year ended 31 December
BE+t-A=1+—HLEE

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
—E-NF ZEZTF  ZE—F ZEZZF B-=F
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AREFTT AREFT ARETT ARETT AR%®Tx
Revenue A 2,367,151 2,493,041 3,558,009 3,013,957 2,390,517
Profit (loss) before tax BrAR AR A (B18) 119,180 64,931 237,316 76,867 (17,678)
Income tax (expense) credit FRiSHL () ETA (18,152) (2,371) (29,038) (8,263) 836
Profit (loss) for the year FRm ) (&) 101,028 62,560 208,278 68,604 (16,842)
Attributable to: AT AL FEL -

the owners of the Company RARER A 82,184 54,772 160,841 47,167 (17,553)
non-controlling interests JEFE A 2 18,844 7,788 47,437 21,437 711
101,028 62,560 208,278 68,604 (16,842)

Consolidated Assets and Liabilities REBEERAE

At 31 December
R+=—A=+—8

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
—E-hF ZETFE T T F ZBIZ=HF
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFT AREBTT ARETT AR%®Tx
Total assets BEMAE 2,424,551 2,682,775 3,033,928 2,983,663 2,992,448
Total liabilities BEERE (1,300,144) (1,493,201) (1,651,976) (1,581,107)  (1,621,810)
Net assets BEZE 1,124,407 1,189,574 1,381,952 1,402,556 1,370,638

Zhengye International Holdings Company Limited
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